Contents

VOLUME 135 (1)

3	Fuminori ITO
· ·	Mechanisms regulating functional monogyny in a Japanese population of Leptothorax acervorum (Hymenoptera, Formicidae): dominance hierarchy and preferential egg cannibalism
9	Lorenzo ALIBARDI
,	Keratinization in crocodilian scales and avian epidermis: evolutionary implications for the origin of avian apteric epidermis
21	Emilie LECOMPTE, Violaine NICOLAS, Marc COLYN, Christiane DENYS and Vitaly VOLOBOUEV
	Description of the karyotype of Heimyscus fumosus and of several other murids from the Mount Doudou area (Gabon)
27	Marc CALLEBAUT, Emmy VAN NUETEN, Fernand HARRISSON and Hilde BORTIER
	Early interaction between deep and superficial layers in avian blastodiscs: uptake of ooplasmic determinants
33	Paweł SZYMKOWIAK, Piotr TRYJANOWSKI, Aleksander WINIECKI, Seweryn GRO- BELNY and Szymon KONWERSKI
	Habitat differences in the food composition of the wasp-like spider Argiope bruennichi (Scop.) (Aranei: Araneidae) in Poland
39	Sara ROCHA, Miguel A. CARRETERO and D. James HARRIS
	Mitochondrial DNA sequence data suggests two independent colonizations of the Comoros archi- pelago by Chameleons of the genus Furcifer
43	Javier SAWCHIK, Marc DUFRÊNE and Philippe LEBRUN
	Distribution patterns and indicator species of butterfly assemblages of wet meadows in southern Belgium
53	Masaharu KAWAKATSU, Ronald SLUYS and Robert E. OGREN
	Seven new species of land planarian from Japan and China (Platyhelminthes, Tricladida, Bipali- idae), with a morphological review of all Japanese bipaliids and a biogeographic overview of Far Eastern species
	SHORT NOTES
70	Jelena BLAGOJEVIĆ, Olivera VUKIĆEVIĆ-RADIĆ and Mladen VUJOŠEVIĆ
79	B chromosomes and asymmetry of eye lenses in the yellow-necked mouse, Apodemus flavicollis (Rodentia, Mammalia)
83	Claude MASSIN, Ward APPELTANS, Gert VAN HOEY, Magda VINCX and Steven DEGRAER
5	Leptosynapta minuta (Becher, 1906) (Echinodermata, Holothuroidea), a new record for Belgian marine waters
87	Dieter ANSEEUW, Thierry GAETHOFS and Gerald LOUETTE
	First record and morphometry of the non-indigenous fathead minnow Pimephales promelas (Rafinesque, 1820) (Teleostei, Cyprinidae) in Flanders (Belgium)
91	Annick VERWEEN, Magda VINCX, Jan MEES and Steven DEGRAER
	Seasonal variability of Mytilopsis leucophaeata larvae in the harbour of Antwerp: implications for ecologically and economically sound biofouling control
95	Konjev DESENDER
	A wingless intertidal ground beetle, new to the Belgian fauna, in the river IJzer estuary nature restoration site: Bembidion nigropiceum Marsham, 1802
97	Christophe DAUGERON and Patrick GROOTAERT
D	<i>Atypical mating behaviour in the empidine dance fly</i> Rhamphomyia (Lundstroemiella) magellensis (Diptera: Empididae: Empidinae)
101	Sofie VANDENDRIESSCHE, Marlies MESSIAEN, Magda VINCX and Steven DEGRAER
101	Juvenile Hippocampus guttulatus from a neuston tow at the French-Belgian border

Belgian Journal of Zoology



THE BELGIAN JOURNAL OF ZOOLOGY IS COVERED IN CURRENT CONTENTS, SCIENCE CITATION INDEX AND IN OTHER LEADING REFERENCE PUBLICATIONS

ZOOLOG

10

0

BELG

135 (1)

AN INTERNATIONAL JOURNAL PUBLISHED BY THE ROYAL BELGIAN SOCIETY FOR ZOOLOGY

Volume 135 (1) – January 2005

Belgian Journal of Zoology

The Royal Zoological Society of Belgium and its Belgian Journal of Zoology continue in a long scientific tradition devoted to the promotion of zoology and to the publication of research in zoology. This tradition goes back to 1863, when the "Société malacologique de Belgique" was founded in Brussels and began to publish the "Annales de la Société malacologique de Belgique". Name changes took place in 1903 ("Annales de la Société royale malacologique et zoologique de Belgique"), and 1923 ("Annales de la Société Royale Zoologique de Belgique"). With the internationalisation of the editorial board in 1989, the journal was opened to the international scientific community, and the name "Belgian Journal of Zoology" was chosen. The Belgian Journal of Zoology is now distributed to about 400 Belgian and international members of the Society, to bookshops, and is accessible, through an active exchange policy, in 230 libraries of various institutions in more than 50 countries. The Belgian Journal of Zoology appears in two regular issues per volume (January and July) and occasional special issues.

Editor (to whom manuscripts should be sent)

Ronny Blust University of Antwerp Department of Biology/EBT **B-2020 ANTWERPEN** Belgium e-mail: BJZ@ua.ac.be

Assistant to the editor

Andrea Vlaeminck

Associate Editors

Ernest Schockaert (Belgium), Nikki Watson (Australia)

Editorial Board

P. Aerts (Belgium), T. Backeljau (Belgium), J. Balthazart (Belgium), R. Barbault (France), G. Boxshall (Belgium), A. De Ricqles (France), D. Dindall (U.S.A.), A. Dixon (Great Britain), M. Jangoux (Belgium) M. Kirsch-Volders (Belgium), K. Klemmer (Germany), P. Lebrun (Belgium), P. Legendre (Canada), J H. Schminke (Germany), A. Van Bruggen (The Netherlands), M. Vincx (Belgium)

Subscription Information

Membership of the Royal Belgian Society of Zoology is open to all professional biologists. Annual dues for \in 25 for PhD students (up to four years after graduation) and \in 10 for undergraduate students. Membership tion to the Belgian Journal of Zoology. Subscription for non-members is $\in 65$.

Payment should be on account 000-0049113-31 of the "Royal Belgian Society of Zoology, B-1000 Brussels" after the card holder's name, card number and expiry date have been communicated to the treasurer. Internation national money order or by transfer to the Society's account via a Belgian Bank or with creditcard. Only paym

Intermediary bookshops receive a significant reduction on the net price. Issues are sent directly to clients, and charged.

Back issues/volumes and a price list are available on request to the treasurer (address below). For large or can be offered.

Membership and subscription:	Exchange and library matter:	Public relations:
Dr. Frank Fiers	Prof. Jean Deligne	Prof. Pierre Vandewalle
Royal Belgian Institute of	Université Libre de Bruxelles	Université de Liège
Natural Sciences	CP 160/11	Institut de Zoologie
Vautierstraat, 29	50, Avenue Roosevelt,	22, Quai Van Beneden
B-1000 BRUSSEL	B-1050 BRUXELLES	B-4020 LIEGE
Belgium	Belgium	Belgium
e-mail: frank.fiers@naturalsciences.be	e-mail: jdeligne@ulb.ac.be	e-mail: p.vandewalle@ulg.ac.be



The Belgian Journal of Zoology is published with the financial support of the "Direction générale de l'Enseignement supérieur et de la Recherche scientifique" and of the "Universitaire Stichting van België/Fondation Universitaire de Belgique".

General information on the Society and on the Journal and detailed instructions for authors can be found on http://kbvd-www.uia.ac.be/kbvd.

The Belgian Journal of Zoology publishes, in English or French, original papers, reviews and notes in all fields of zoology. Papers in French must include English translations of the title and of the abstract.

Manuscripts must contain significant new findings and must not have been published elsewhere nor be simultaneously under consideration for any other publication outlet. Single-species descriptions will not be accepted unless they have broader relevance such as implications for phylogeny or biogeography.

Authors benefit from a waiver of page charges for up to eight printed pages for members and six pages for non-members. Additional pages are charged to authors. Authors will receive 25 reprints free of charge and a PDF file of the published version. Additional reprints can be ordered when sending the corrected galley proofs.

PREPARATION OF YOUR MANUSCRIPT

The page size of the Belgian Journal of Zoology is 17 x 24,6 cm, in two columns of 8,15 cm. Please keep this in mind, particularly with regard to the size of figures and tables.

Manuscripts must be submitted in electronic version only (double spaced, with numbered pages and margins of at least 2.5 cm), as well as the original figures and tables. Figures and tables should be kept separate from the text; the legends should be at the end of the manuscript. Manuscripts have to be submitted to the editorial office at BJZ@ua.ac.be.

	Text	tion, material and meth mat to give structure to (separated by commas) the first or the correspo	en in clear, concise language and consist ods, results and discussion. Sections and the article. The title must be sufficient . The full first name (first name first) an onding author. Keep following matter in not use a space before interpunction, bu	
	Figures	reduction to page width the same in all illustrati are not acceptable. Indi	in the texts by "Fig. n" (capital F and fu , column width or in between. Photogra ions after reduction. Magnification or re cate the preferred location of each figur of colour prints is at additional charge.	
	Tables		uld take account of page width and leng	
		ital T). The legend to a table is given on top of the table. Indic		
ll (Great Britain), V. Darras n), P. Kestemont (Belgium), J. Osse (The Netherlands),	Electronic version	and tables should rema dpi for color or graysca in a Word document be	f the text should be provided, exclusive in separated from the text file. Figure fi le images and 1200 dpi for bitmap imag cause this may result in loss of quality. n allocated after submission (see below	
	Species names	*	names of genera should be in italics. Nat	
or regular members are $\in 40$,			e of the author who described the specie	
p includes the free subscrip-		11 2 1	tts. If a table of all the species names use cate a species or individuals of a species	
" or via Master Card or Visa nal payments can be by inter- nents in Euro are accepted.	References	authors or WILSON et a in the text should be fo	itations should be in small capitals and l. (1987) for more than two authors. Co und in the reference list.	
and postage and handling are		Examples of literature		
rders a substantial reduction		* Paper in a journal:	NAVAS, C.A. (1996). Implications o elevation neotropical anurans. <i>Oeco</i> of Scientific Periodicals".)	
		* Paper in a book:	Mallefet, J., P. Vanhoutte & F. B & Canicatti TI (eds), <i>Echinoderm</i> A	
		* Book:	BELLAIRS, R., (1991). <i>Egg incubatio</i> University Press, Cambridge.	
awelle				

Tavt

Unpublished reports, master theses, etc... are not considered publications and should be referred to as "unpublished data" or "personal communication" in the text. A report can be given in a footnote. Ph.D. theses are accepted in the reference list. Author names that only appear in the text after a taxon, do not appear in the reference list

Short notes

Short notes do not exceed two printed pages (incl. figures and tables -approx. 10 000 characters minus the figures and references). They are the appropriate form for new findings of temporary importance, comments on papers published in the journal, important new records of fauna, curiosa, etc. They should be written as a continuous text without the various divisions of regular papers (and without an abstract). References for notes must be indicated in the text by numbers. Short notes will be reviewed as normal papers.

PROCESSING

Manuscripts should be sent to the editor. On receipt of the manuscript, the corresponding author is notified by e-mail, and will receive the number under which the manuscript has been registered. Please mention this MS# first in the subject of e-mails and in the names of all files subsequently sent to the editor. The MS is then sent to at least two referees, and a reply may be expected six to eight weeks after receipt. If the MS is accepted, the author is requested to prepare the final version, taking into account the remarks of the referees. Only one galley proof is sent as a PDF file, to the corresponding author. The proof must be carefully corrected and sent back without delay.

Publication delay is between three and nine months, but is highly dependent of the willingness of the referees and the collaboration of the authors.

INSTRUCTIONS TO AUTHORS

Papers should be written in clear, concise language and consist of an abstract (summarizing the essential results and conclusions), introducnd sub-sections should not be numbered, but authors may suggest a printing forntly informative. Please provide a short running title and (additional) key words and the address of each author should be given, as well as the e-mail address of in mind: units should have the international format, and no space separates the but do use a space after it.

> full stop) or "Figs n-m" (no full stop). Drawings should be clearly readable after raphs should be sharp and with good contrast. Label size should be adequate and reduction should be given by a scale bar. Photocopies of photographs or figures ure in the manuscript. An electronic version of all illustrations must be provided . Legends to the figures come on a separate page.

> ngth, or column width. Tables are referred to in the text by «Table n» (with capicate the preferred location of each table in the manuscript.

> vely by e-mail as an attached file, preferably in MSWord or RTF. Files of figures files should have the JPG, PICT or TIFF format and a resolution of at least 300 ages. Tables and graphs may be sent as an Excel file. Do not incorporate figures All files should have the name of the first author and should begin with the MS w).

> lames of species (and names of higher taxa) should be followed, on the first occaeies or introduced the taxon name (in lower case) and the year. This rule does not used in the text is provided, the author names can be mentioned there. Do not use ies.

> nd in the following format: NAVAS (1996), LAUDER & LIEM (1980) for two Consecutive references must be separated by a semicolon (;). All authors quoted

> of microhabitat selection and pattern of activity on the thermal ecology of high cologia, 108: 617-626. (Abbreviation of the journal according to the "World list

> BAGUET (1992). Study of Amphipholis squamata luminescence. In: ALERA-LIACI n Research, L. Balkema, Rotterdam: 125-130.

> tion: its effects on an embryonic development in birds and reptiles. Cambridge

Belgian Journal of Zoology

Published by the "KONINKLIJKE BELGISCHE VERENIGING VOOR DIERKUNDE — SOCIÉTÉ ROYALE ZOOLOGIQUE DE BELGIQUE"

> Volume 135 (1) (January, 2005)

Managing Editor of the Journal:

Ronny Blust Department of Biology/EBT University of Antwerp, Campus Groenenborger B-2020 Antwerp (Belgium)

Printed in Belgium (October 2005) by Drukkerij George Michiels, N.V., Tongeren



Mechanisms regulating functional monogyny in a Japanese population of *Leptothorax acervorum* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae): dominance hierarchy and preferential egg cannibalism

Fuminori Ito

Laboratory of Entomology, Faculty of Agriculture, Kagawa University, Ikenobe, Miki 761-0795, Japan Corresponding author : Dr. Ito Fuminori, e-mail : ito@ag.kagawa-u.ac.jp

ABSTRACT. Queen behaviour of *Leptothorax acervorum* collected in northern Japan was observed in four functionally monogynous colonies (one functional mated egg-laying queen with some supernumerary mated but sterile queens) and two monogynous colonies with some virgin queens. In three functionally monogynous colonies, dominance behaviour including antennation, biting, pulling, and remarkable avoidance where queens fled approaching the functional queens, were frequently observed among queens. In two of the three colonies, an almost linear dominance hierarchy was established among queens and only the top ranked queen laid eggs. However, the hierarchy was not stable : in one colony the queens in second and third ranks and the second ranked queen in the other colony were expelled from colonies. Such queen antagonism was very rare in the other functionally monogynous colonies with virgin queens, virgin queens showed worker-like behaviour, and dominance interactions completely lacked among queens. Oophagy was often observed among nestmates : this always occurred just after oviposition. Eggs of functional queens were not eaten while most eggs laid by supernumerary queens were eaten by functional queens and workers. Supernumerary queens never showed oophagy. Workers laid trophic eggs and reproductive eggs : the former ones were always eaten while one third of the latter survived.

KEY WORDS : dominance hierarchy, ants, functional monogyny, oophagy.

INTRODUCTION

In ants, many species show polygyny in which there are several functional queens per colony (Hölldobler & WILSON, 1990). Polygyny in mature colonies is usually a secondary polygyny where new queens are added by adoption into an already existing monogynous colony (HÖLLDOBLER & WILSON, 1990). In general, secondary polygyny maintains the reproductive function of most queens without aggressive display among them (BOURKE & FRANKS, 1995). However, some ant species show a remarkable reproductive skew among coexisting queens. The most remarkable case is "functional monogyny", in which only one mated individual lays eggs while the other inseminated individuals are sterile (e.g. BUSCHINGER, 1968). This social structure is known from seven Formicoxenini, and the queenless ponerine Pachycondyla sp. (BUSCHINGER, 1968, 1990; ITO, 1990, 1993). Functional monogyny is proximately regulated by antagonistic behaviour leading to dominance hierarchy among nestmates in Leptothorax sp. A., L. gredleri Mayr, 1855 and Pachycondyla sp. (HEINZE & SMITH, 1990; HEINZE et al., 1992; Ito, 1993).

To know how and why such high reproductive skew exists is very important for understanding the evolution of social life in animals (reviewed in REEVE & KELLER, 2001). *Leptothorax acervorum* Fabricius, 1793 is an interesting subject for understanding this problem, since its social structure varies geographically : in central, western and northern Europe, many colonies show functional polygyny, i.e. several egg-laying queens occur per colony (BUSCHINGER, 1968; BOURKE, 1991; STILLE et al., 1991; HEINZE et al., 1995) while in northern Japan and central Spain, colonies having multiple mated queens always show functional monogyny (ITO, 1990; FELKE & BUSCHINGER, 1999). In Alaska, both functional monogyny and functional polygyny were found in the same population (HEINZE & ORTIUS, 1991). In this paper, I demonstrate the mechanisms regulating functional monogyny in a Japanese population of *Leptothorax acervorum*, and compare the results with studies in other populations (BOURKE, 1991; HEINZE & ORTIUS, 1991).

METHODS

The ants

Leptothorax acervorum is a common holarctic ant, distributed through Europe, Asia and northernmost North America. In Japan, the ants are found in Hokkaido and mountain areas of Honshu and Shikoku (TERAYAMA et al., 1992). In Furano, northern Hokkaido, 50% of the colonies have multiple dealate queens per colony, however, there is only one principal egg layer having well developed ovaries even if there are multiple mated queens (ITO, 1990). A few colonies have additional egg-laying queens; however, the ovaries of these queens are distinctively less-developed than those of the principal egg layer. In this paper, I use the term "functional queens" for principal egg layers and "supernumerary queens" for the non-reproductive mated queens and mated queens who lay eggs at a very low rate, and "virgin queens" for unmated queens.

The colonies for the present paper were collected from dead twigs fallen on sunny rocky outcrops in Shikaoi, eastern Hokkaido, northern Japan, in mid May (colony code A, B, C, D) of 1992 and early July (E, F) of 1990. This collection site is located ca. 50 km east of Furano. In the colonies collected in early July (colonies E and F), one queen per colony already had a swollen abdomen and there were several eggs in the nests. The colonies collected in mid May had neither such queens nor eggs. The numbers of dealate queens and workers in these colonies are shown in Table 1. Colonies C and D had only one functional queen and some virgin queens. The remaining four colonies had one functional queen with a few virgin queens and/or multiple supernumerary queens (functional monogyny).

TABLE 1

Composition of *Leptothorax acervorum* colonies observed in laboratory. Numbers in parentheses show duration of observation only for egg laying activity. All colonies had only one principal egg layer each.

	Ν	No. individua	ls			
Colony code	Colony code Queens		Worker	Dates observed	Hours observed	
	Total	Mated	Virgin	-		
Α	6	5	1	48	June 15 – July 15	44 + (24)
В	5	5	0	23	May 28 – July 12	72 + (24)
С	10	1	9	45	June 10 – 29	20 + (24)
D	5	1	4	30	June 17 – July 12	13 + (24)
Е	7	6	1	36	July $2-10$	18
F	7	7	0	29	July 8 – 22	16

Laboratory observation

The colonies were kept in an artificial nest measuring 14.5 x 8.0 x 3.0 cm at room temperature condition (ca. 20 \sim 25 °C). The bottom of each nest box was covered with plaster and brood chambers (2 x 6.5 x 0.5 cm) were excavated in the plaster floor. The chambers were covered with glass plates. Small mealworms and diluted honey were given as prey every day. All dealate queens were individually marked by enamel paint. In four colonies (A-D), observation started from just after the winter season (late May to mid June). These colonies were kept for one to two months and observation ended in the egg-laying season. For the other two colonies (E and F), behavioural observation started during the egg-laying season in early July.

Behaviour of queens and workers was observed by scan sampling using a binocular dissecting microscope. The interval of scans was one to three minutes. Scan sampling was repeated for 30 to 60 minutes. Such observation session was replicated 20 to 60 times. The total observation time was 13 to 48 hours per colony. During the observation, I recorded all behaviours shown by queens, and oviposition and oophagy by workers. Furthermore, to detect egg-laying activity of individual queens and workers, only oviposition and subsequent behaviour was recorded from the observation under a binocular dissecting microscope for 24 hours per colony in colonies A-D. Survival of eggs was estimated from observations of oviposition and the subsequent behaviour of nestmates. After the observation, all queens were dissected under a binocular microscope to check insemination, ovarian development, and yellow bodies as in ITO (1990).

RESULTS

Aggressive interactions and dominance hierarchy among queens, and queen expulsion

Aggressive antennation, biting, and pulling between queens were frequently observed in three functionally monogynous colonies (colonies A, E and F), but it was rare in one functionally monogynous (colony B) and the two monogynous colonies with virgin queens (C and D). These behavioural interactions were similar to those described for workers or intercastes of other species of formicoxenine ants, *Harpagoxenus sublaevis* Nylander, 1849, *Leptothorax allardycei* Mann, 1920, and *Leptothorax* sp. A (FRANKS & SCOVELL, 1983; COLE, 1981; HEINZE & SMITH, 1990).

In colony A, observed just after hibernation, aggressive interactions among queens were frequent, but a clear dominance hierarchy was not found because aggressive interactions were observed only three dyads (Fig. 1). However, one queen started to lay eggs. In colony B, which comprised five mated queens, queen-queen aggressive interactions were quite rare. In this colony, the expulsion of a queen by workers was observed (Fig. 1). On day 3 after the start of observation, the abdomen of one queen (Q3) in colony B became swollen but she did not lay eggs yet. From day 5 to day 6, Q3 was frequently attacked by Q2 and workers in the nest chamber. On day 7, she was always in the foraging arena and received aggressive attacks from workers and Q2 who often engaged in foraging. Q3 did not enter the nest chamber after this day. Two days later, the other queen (Q1) became fertile, having a swollen abdomen, and subsequently started oviposition. After the expulsion of Q3, Q1 laid six eggs, all of which survived. In colonies C and D where there was only one mated queen with some virgin queens, no aggressive

5

behaviour was observed among queens. In these two colonies, virgin queens frequently showed foraging just like workers.



Fig. 1. – Dominance structure in colony A (Q3 was virgin and other queens mated) and successive change of dominance structure in colony B (all queens mated). A numeral on each arrow means the number of observation episodes.

In two colonies (E and F) observed in July, antennation and biting were frequently observed among the supernumerary queens. Top-ranking functional queens never showed such antagonistic behaviour. The supernumerary queens showed remarkable avoidance behaviour against these functional queens : they fled approaching the functional queens. Such avoidance behaviour, only shown against functional queens, was not observed in other colonies. Aggressive interactions including remarkable avoidance behaviour occurred in the same direction in most of a given pair of queens in colony E (Table 2). Therefore, an almost linear dominance hierarchy among dealate queens was established until day 4 (index of linearity, K' = 0.82, P = 0.057; DE VRIES, 1995). However, this relationship was not stable : on day 4, Q7 who ranked third, was frequently attacked by workers and Q2. The second ranked queen (Q6) was also attacked by workers. On day 6 after the start of observation, Q6 and Q7 always spent their time in the foraging arena. They often tried to enter the nest chamber; however, they were always attacked by workers. I removed them from the nest and dissected them on day 7: they had mated but were sterile without yellow bodies. After removal of the two queens, the dominance order was not changed : the fourth ranked queen (Q2) became the second rank, however, she immediately became the target of attacks by workers and Q4. Finally, she was also expelled from the nest chamber on day 9. A similar dominance hierarchy was observed in colony F (K' = 0.82, P = 0.057). In this colony, the second ranked queen (Q3) was expelled from the nest chamber by intensive attacks from the fifth ranked queen (Q4). After the expelling, the third-ranked queen (Q5) moved to 2nd place.

TABLE 2

Dominance hierarchy and reproductive condition of queens in colonies E and F. Frequencies of aggressive antennation, biting, and pulling were summed. Frequency of remarkable avoidance behaviour was shown in parenthesis.

Colony E	Subordinate							
	Q1	Q6	Q7	Q2	Q4	Q5	Q3	Total
Dominant								
Q1		(3)	(1)	(8)	(4)	(4)	0	(20)
Q6	0		15	14	8	5	5	47
Q7	0	0		8	4	1	2	15
Q2	0	0	5		29	13	5	52
Q4	0	0	0	8		4	2	14
Q5	0	0	0	0	0		1	1
Q3	0	0	0	0	0	0		0
Total	0	(3)	20(1)	30 (8)	41 (4)	23 (4)	15	129 (20)
Insemination ¹	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	
Ovarian development ²	+++	-	-	-	-	-	-	

Colony F	Subordinate							
	Q6	Q3	Q5	Q2	Q4	Q1	Q7	Total
Dominant								
Q6		(4)	(3)	(1)	(3)	0	(3)	(14)
Q3	0		34	6	28	6	1	75
Q5	0	0		21	80	50	1	152
Q2	0	0	0		5	2	1	8
Q4	0	10	0	0		4	0	14
Q1	0	0	1	1	2		4	8
Q7	0	0	0	0	0	0		0
Total	0	10(4)	35 (3)	28(1)	115 (3)	62	7 (3)	257 (14)
Insemination ¹	+	+	+	+	+	-	+	~ /
Ovarian development ²	+++	-	-	-	-	-	-	

1.+ mated, - virgin

2.+++ well developed ovaries having many mature oocytes, - undeveloped ovaries

	Egg laying a	nd oopnagy m	SIX L. acervorum Co	biomes.			
Egg layers		No. eggs eaten by					
(No. individuals)	No. eggs laid	Functional queens	Supernumerary queens	Virgin queens	Workers	No. eggs survived (%)	
Functional queens (6)	31	0	0	0	0	31 (100)	
Supernumerary queens (19)	9	7	0	0	1	1 (10)	
Virgin queens (15)	1	0	0	0	1	0 (0)	
Workers (211)							
reproductive eggs	17	5	0	0	6	6 (35)	
trophic eggs	9	4	0	0	5	0(0)	
Total	67	15	0	0	14	38	

 TABLE 3

 Egg laying and oophagy in six L. acervorum colonies

Egg cannibalism

Egg cannibalism among nestmates was observed in all six colonies. Since egg-laying activity was low in all colonies, the data were summed (Table 3). During 234 hours of observation for six colonies, oviposition was observed 67 times : 31 by functional queens, 9 by supernumerary queens, one by a virgin queen and 26 by workers. Of 26 eggs laid by workers, 17 were evidently reproductive eggs which were observably indistinguishable from queen eggs in shape, size, and colour, and the remaining nine eggs were trophic eggs which were round because of an undeveloped chorion. All trophic eggs were eaten by functional queens (four eggs) or workers (five eggs). Oophagy of reproductive eggs was observed on 20 occasions, all of which occurred directly after oviposition. In an extreme case, an egg just appeared at the tip of the abdomen of a supernumerary queen was immediately picked up by the consumer. Eggs piled on the nest floor were never destroyed during the observation time. Once an egg was put on the egg-pile, it most likely escaped cannibalism and survived. The survival of reproductive eggs was significantly different among functional queens, supernumerary queens, and workers (Monte Carlo contingency table test (ENGELS, 1988), $P = 0.000 \pm 0.000$ SE). The eggs of functional queens were never eaten by nestmates while all but one egg laid by supernumerary queens was immediately eaten by functional queens or workers. Supernumerary queens and virgin queens never showed oophagy. Only one egg laid by a supernumerary queen was intact during three hours after oviposition. In this case, the functional queen licked the egg just after egg laying by the supernumerary queen, but did not attack the egg. Worker-laid eggs also suffered heavy cannibalism by functional queens and workers : only six of 17 reproductive eggs survived.

DISCUSSION

To date, functional monogyny in *L. acervorum* has been reported from Alaska, Spain, and northern Japan (HEINZE & SMITH, 1990; ITO, 1990; FELKE & BUSCHINGER, 1999), while facultative polygyny is known from populations of central, western and northern Europe (BUSCHINGER, 1968; STILLE et al., 1991; BOURKE, 1991; HEINZE et al., 1995). In a Japanese population of *L. acervorum*, aggressive interactions among mated queens were observed as in an Alaskan colony of *L. acervorum* (HEINZE & ORTIUS, 1991) and other functionally monogynous formicoxenine species, *Leptothorax* sp. A and *L*. gredleri (HEINZE & SMITH, 1990; HEINZE et al., 1992). Such queen antagonism is rarely found in European populations of *L. acervorum*. The present study indicates that the geographic difference of behavioural characteristics is an important proximate factor affecting the differences in social structures. Queen antagonism was not found in monogynous colonies with virgin queens. Virgin queens were excluded from reproductive competition among queens in *L. acervorum*, because they functioned just like workers as shown in this paper and in European populations (BUSCHINGER, 1983; BOURKE, 1991).

Even though sample size (number of colonies observed) was small, the frequency of aggressive behaviour among queens was different between two seasons. In spring, the frequency was low but functional queens showed aggressions to others while functional queens never showed actual physical aggression to other queens in summer, even aggression among subordinate queens was frequent. Previous reports on dominance hierarchy in Leptothorax ants showed that the aggressive interactions are more frequent after hibernation than in the reproductive season (HEINZE et al., 1992; ORTIUS & HEINZE, 1999), because during the reproductive season queens recognize ovarian development of each other and they rarely attack fertile queens (ORTIUS & HEINZE, 1999). Less aggression against functional queens during the reproductive season is also observed in Japanese L. acervorum. As in other species of Leptothorax and some other ponerine ants (ORTIUS & HEINZE, 1999; PEETERS et al., 1999; CUVIL-LIER-HOT et al., 2002), the fertile signal of the alpha individual may be more important than physical direct aggression after establishment of dominance. The reasons of the high frequency of aggressions among supernumerary queens during summer in the Japanese population of L. acervorum are unknown in this time.

Among four functionally monogynous colonies, queen expelling was observed in three colonies. In two colonies with a clear dominance hierarchy, second ranked and third ranked supernumerary queens (in total four supernumerary queens) were the target of attacks by lower ranked supernumerary queens and workers. However, it is not sure whether functionally monogynous colonies of *L. acervorum* in northern Japan become truly monogynous via such queen expelling. Queen expelling is also observed in functionally monogynous colonies of *Leptothorax* sp. A, where higher ranked individuals tend to disperse or to be attacked and expelled from colonies (ORTIUS & HEINZE, 1995). In the queenless ponerine ant *Pachycondyla sublaevis* (EMERY, 1877) which shows a linear dominance hierarchy among workers, and where the top-ranked one is a gamergate (mated and egg-laying worker), HIGASHI et al. (1994) have reported in a colony after artificial removal of the gamergate that the second to fourth ranked workers were aggressively attacked by lower ranked workers, and were expelled from the colony. MONNIN and PEETERS (1999) also reported immobilization and expelling of high ranked workers in the queenless ponerine ant Dinoponera quadriceps KEMPF, 1971. Thus, in ant colonies with a linear dominance hierarchy established by aggressive behaviour, expelling higher ranked individuals from colonies may be a common phenomenon. In ant societies where reproduction is regulated by such a dominance hierarchy, low ranked individuals seem to have a lower probability to be a reproductive individual than higher ranked individuals. These observations on ponerine and formicoxenine ants, however, indicate that the higher ranked ones risk to be attacked and expelled from colonies while lower ranked queens can safely stay in the colony and lower ranked queens still may have a probability to become future reproductives. This may be one of the reasons for lower-ranked queens to stay in functionally monogynous colonies.

Queen behaviour in the population of northern Japan is remarkably different from that in the population of central Europe studied by BOURKE (1991). The most striking difference is the occurrence of queen antagonism as mentioned above. In both populations, oophagy was frequently observed; however, behavioural characteristics of oophagy are very different between the European and the Japanese populations. In the European population, the queens ate mostly old eggs piled on the nest floor (BOURKE, 1991) and freshly-laid eggs were rarely eaten by queens who showed random egg eating without discrimination between nest mate eggs and their own eggs (BOURKE, 1994). In the case of the Japanese population, oophagy always occurred directly after oviposition and eggs piled on the nest floor were never eaten. Queens and workers ate eggs preferentially. The frequency of oophagy was also greatly different : in the European population, the number of eggs eaten / number of eggs laid during observation was 0.75 (calculated from BOURKE (1991)) while in the Japanese population it was just 0.22. Furthermore, workers also showed oophagy of reproductive eggs laid by supernumerary queens in the Japanese population while this was rare in the European population. The remarkable behavioural differences in oophagy seem to be a consequence of the difference in reproductive structure : strong selection for functional monogyny may lead to preferential oophagy by functional queens and workers in Japanese colonies. As shown by BOURKE (1994), queens of L. acervorum could not discriminate own eggs from the other's eggs. Thus, selection would favor oophagy directly after oviposition when the egglayer could be identified. Such oophagy directly after oviposition is also shown in the ponerine ants Diacamma sp., Pachycondyla villosa Fabricius, 1804, and Dinoponera quadriceps, and the myrmicine ant Acanthomyrmex ferox Emery, 1893 (PEETERS & TSUJI, 1993; HEINZE, et al., 1996, MONNIN & PEETERS, 1997; GOBIN & ITO, 2000).

Dissection of *L. acervorum* queens collected in the field (ITO, 1990) and behavioural observations shown in

this paper indicated that some supernumerary queens laid eggs at a low rate under the presence of a functional queen. The results shown here suggest that these eggs could not survive under the occurrence of preferential egg cannibalism by functional queens and workers. Therefore, functional monogyny in Japanese *L. acervorum* is completed by preferential egg cannibalism in addition to queen antagonism.

7

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

I thank A. Buschinger and B. Gobin for comments and improving the English text, J. Heinze and L. Keller for comments on earlier drafts of the manuscript, two reviewers for their useful comments, S. Higashi and H. Fukuda for their encouragement. This work was supported in part by a Grant-in-Aid for Encouragement of Young Scientists (No. 07740600) from the Ministry of Education, Science, Sports, and Culture, Japan.

REFERENCES

- BOURKE, A.F.G. (1991). Queen behaviour, reproduction and egg cannibalism in multiple-queen colonies of the ant *Leptothorax acervorum. Anim. Behav.*, 42 : 295-310.
- BOURKE, A.F.G. (1994). Indiscriminate egg cannibalism and reproductive skew in a multiple-queen ant. *Proc. R. Soc. London B*, 255 : 55-59.
- BOURKE, A.F.G. & N.R. FRANKS (1995). Social evolution in ants. Princeton, New Jersey, Princeton University Press.
- BUSCHINGER, A. (1968). Mono- und Polygynie bei Arten der Gattung Leptothorax Mayr (Hymenoptera, Formicidae). Insectes soc., 15: 217-226.
- BUSCHINGER, A. (1983). Sexual behaviour and slave raiding of the dulotic ant, *Harpagoxenus sublaevis* (Nyl.) under field conditions (Hym., Formicidae). *Insectes soc.*, 30 : 235-240.
- BUSCHINGER, A. (1990). Regulation of worker and queen formation in ants with special reference to reproduction and colony development. In: ENGELS, W. (ed), *Social insects*, Springer Verlag, Berlin: 37-57.
- COLE, B.J. (1981). Dominance hierarchies in *Leptothorax* ants. *Science*, 212 : 83-84.
- CUVILLIER-HOT, V., R. GADAGKAR, C. PEETERS & M. COBB (2002). Regulation of reproduction in a queenless ant : aggression, pheromones and reduction in conflict. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B*, 269 : 1295-1300.
- DE VRIES, H. (1995). An improved test of linearity in dominance hierarchies containing unknown or tied relationships. *Anim. Behav.*, 50 : 1375-1389.
- ENGELS, B. (1988). Computer program : Monte Carlo 2 X N contingency table test, V2.0b for Macintosh. University of Wisconsin, Madison, Wisconsin, USA.
- FELKE, M. & A. BUSCHINGER (1999). Social organization, reproductive behaviour and ecology of *Leptothorax acervorum* (Hymenoptera, Formicidae) from the Sierra de Albarracin in central Spain. *Insectes soc.*, 46: 84-91.
- FRANKS, N.R. & E. SCOVELL (1983). Dominance and reproductive success among slave making worker ants. *Nature*, 304 : 724-725.
- GOBIN, B. & F. ITO (2000). Queens and major workers of *Acanthomyrmex ferox* redistribute nutrients with trophic eggs. *Naturwissenschaften*, 87 : 323-326.
- HEINZE, J. & T.A. SMITH (1990). Dominance and fertility in a functionally monogamous ant. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.*, 27 : 1-10.
- HEINZE, J. & D. ORTIUS (1991). Social organization of *Leptotho*rax acervorum from Alaska (Hymenoptera : Formicidae). *Psyche*, 98 : 227-240.

- HEINZE, J., N. LIPSKI & B. HÖLLDOBLER (1992). Reproductive competition in colonies of the Ant *Leptothorax gredleri*. *Ethology*, 90 : 265-278.
- HEINZE, J., N. LIPSKI, B. HÖLLDOBLER & A.F.G. BOURKE (1995). Geographic variation in the social and genetic structure of the ant, *Leptothorax acervorum*. Zoology, 98 : 127-135.
- HEINZE, J., B. TRUNZER, S.P. OLIVEIRA & B. HÖLLDOBLER (1996). Regulation of reproduction in the Neotropical ponerine ant, *Pachycondyla villosa*. J. Insect Behav., 9: 441-450.
- HIGASHI, S., F. ITO, N. SUGIURA & K. OHKAWARA (1994). Worker's age regulating the linear dominance hierarchy in the queenless ponerine ant *Pachycondyla sublaevis* (Hymenoptera : Formicidae). *Anim. Behav.*, 47 : 179-184.
- HÖLLDOBLER, B. & E.O. WILSON (1990). *The Ants*. Harvard University Press, Cambridge, MA.
- ITO, F. (1990). Functional monogyny of *Leptothorax acervorum* in northern Japan. *Psyche*, 97 : 203-211.
- ITO, F. (1993). Functional monogyny and dominance hierarchy in the queenless ponerine ant *Pachycondyla* sp. in West Java, Indonesia (Hymenoptera, Formicidae, Ponerinae). *Ethology*, 95 : 126-140.
- MONNIN, T. & C. PEETERS (1997). Oophagy of subordinates' eggs in the monogamous queenless ant *Dinoponera quadri*ceps. Naturwissenschaften, 84 : 499-502.

- MONNIN, T. & C. PEETERS (1999). Dominance hierarchy and reproductive conflicts among subordinates in a monogamous queenless ant. *Behav. Ecol.*, 10 : 323-332.
- ORTIUS, D. & J. HEINZE (1995). Dynamics and consequences of hierarchy formation in the ant *Leptothorax* sp. A. *Ethology*, 99 : 223-233.
- ORTIUS, D. & J. HEINZE (1999). Fertility signalling in queens of a North American ant. *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.*, 45 : 151-159.
- PEETERS, C. & K. TSUJI (1993). Reproductive conflict among ant workers in *Diacamma* sp. from Japan : dominance and oviposition in the absence of the gamergate. *Insectes soc.*, 40 : 119-136.
- PEETERS, C., T. MONNIN & C. MALOSSE (1999). Cuticular hydrocarbons correlated with reproductive status in a queenless ant. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B*, 1426 : 1323-1327.
- REEVE, H. K. & L. KELLER (1995). Tests of reproductive-skew models in social insects. Annu. Rev. Entomol., 46 : 347-385.
- STILLE, M., B. STILLE & P. DOUWES (1991). Polygamy, relatedness and nest founding in the polygynous myrmicine ant *Leptothorax acervorum* (Hymenoptera; Formicidae). *Behav. Ecol. Sociobiol.*, 28 : 91-96.
- TERAYAMA, M., K. ONOYAMA & M. MORISHITA (1992). The genus *Leptothorax*. In : A guide for the identification of Japanese ants (III) (The Myrmecological Society of Japan, eds). 26-30.

Received: July 22, 2004 Accepted: January 20, 2005

Keratinization in crocodilian scales and avian epidermis : evolutionary implications for the origin of avian apteric epidermis

Lorenzo Alibardi

Dipartimento di Biologia evoluzionistica sperimentale, University of Bologna, via Selmi 3, 40126, Bologna, Italy Corresponding author : Lorenzo Alibardi, e-mail: Alibardi@biblio.cib.unibo.it

ABSTRACT. Terminal differentiation of keratinocytes of avian apteric epidermis occurs with the accumulation of little keratin and much lipids so that a soft and elastic corneous layer is produced. The distribution of keratins and some proteins associated with cornification has been studied in crocodilian scales, in ratite and zebrafinch apteric epidermis by means of light and ultrastructural immunocytochemistry. Soft (alpha)keratinization in apteric epidermis of birds resembled the process occurring in hinge regions of crocodilian scales where the stratum corneum was thin and beta(hard)-keratin disappeared. Acidic and basic alpha-keratins were seen in living pre-corneous layers. Instead, keratins typical for cornification, loricrine, transglutaminase, and sometimes filaggrin-like immunoreactivities, were present in the transitional and lowermost corneous layer of crocodilian hinge and apteric avian epidermis. Trichohyalin, involucrin, and iso-peptide bond immunoreactivities were absent. Loricrine-like and transglutaminase labelling were generally absent in the corneous layer, but were weakly present among keratin bundles and lipids in the transitional layer of apteric epidermis. Transglutaminase immunolabelling was present in condensing nuclear chromatin of transitional corneocytes of apteric epidermis, suggesting that these cells undergo terminal differentiation or even apoptosis. Sulfydryl groups in keratins, or specific sulfur-rich proteins of loricrin-type, were scarce in apteric epidermis. This suggests that the cornified cell envelope of avian keratinocytes is more simplified than that of mammalian keratinocytes. In the latter, numerous proteins concentrate along the corneous cell envelope to enhance mechanical and chemical resistance of the stratum corneum. This mechanism probably is more simplified in apteric epidermis of birds, and the mechanical protection of the epidermis is taken over by the plumage, while apteric epidermis has mainly a role as barrier against water loss. It is speculated that avian interfollicular and apteric epidermis has evolved from interscale hinge regions of proto-avian archosaurian ancestors.

KEY WORDS : crocodilians, ratite birds, epidermis, keratinization, immunocytochemistry.

INTRODUCTION

From the hard, scaled epidermis of archosaurian, and perhaps of theropod reptiles, scales and feathers in birds have probably evolved (SPEARMAN, 1966; MADERSON, 1972; BRUSH & WYLD, 1980; BRUSH, 1993; CHUONG et al., 2000; PRUM, 2002). It is thought that the evolution of the avian integument from scaled archosaurian reptile ancestors (MADERSON, 1972; MADERSON & ALIBARDI, 2000) has originated a soft epidermis (apterilae) among feathers (pterylae), while scales have remained in the skin of the hindlimb (ALIBARDI, 2003a, b, 2004a, b).

Previous morphological and molecular studies (SPEAR-MAN, 1966; MADERSON, 1972; GREGG & ROGERS, 1986; SAWYER et al., 1986; SAWYER et al., 2000; MADERSON & ALIBARDI, 2000), together with recent embryological, ultrastructural and immunocytochemical evidence (ALI-BARDI & THOMPSON, 2000, 2001; ALIBARDI, 2003a, 2004b), suggest that the expansion of the hinge regions among scales of the proto-avian archosaurians might have originated the apteric epidermis. This pliable and elastic epidermis has transformed the rigid and scaled reptilian armour, into a flexible and articulate skin. While plumage and scales are epidermal appendages specialized for flying and mechanical protection, the lipid-rich and delicate apteric skin hosts the permeability barrier against water loss (MENON et al., 1986; MENON et al., 1996; MENON & MENON, 2000). The apteric and interfollicular epidermis also gives the mechanical plasticity necessary for feather orientation during flight (HOMBERGER & DE SILVA, 2000), participates in the homeothermic regulation by heat dissipation, secretes specific lipid-rich materials, and hosts special glands (LUCAS & STETTENHEIM, 1972; SPEARMAN & HARDY, 1985).

Presently, much information is available on the ultrastructure, biochemistry and molecular biology of feather and scale epidermis (MATULIONIS, 1970; BRUSH & WYLD, 1980; GREGG & ROGERS, 1986; SAWYER et al., 1986; 2000; CHUONG, 1993; CHUONG et al., 2000; ALI-BARDI, 2002a). As opposed, except from the ultrastructure and lipid composition (LAVKER, 1975; ELIAS et al., 1987; SPEARMAN & HARDY, 1985; MENON et al., 1986, 1996; PELTONEN et al., 1998, 2000; MENON & MENON, 2000), little is known on the expression of specific proteins during the terminal differentiation of keratinocytes in apteric epidermis.

In mammalian epidermis, the synthesis of different proteins (involucrin, loricrin, filaggrin etc.) from the upper spinosus or in the granular layer, determines the formation of the transitional and corneous layer (FUCHs,

1990; RESING & DALE, 1991; RAWLINGS et al., 1994; KALININ et al., 2002; ALIBARDI & MADERSON, 2003). The production of similar proteins during maturation of keratinocytes in apteric epidermis of birds is not well known although new information is emerging (ALIBARDI, 2004a, b, ALIBARDI & TONI, unpublished observations). To address some of these questions, an ultrastructural and immunocytochemical study has been done on the distribution of keratins, loricrin, filaggrin, transglutaminase and isopeptide-bond in apteric epidermis of ratite birds, in comparison with the epidermis of crocodilian scales. Such a comparison aims to check whether the characteristics of keratinocytes of crocodilian hinge regions resemble those of keratinocytes of apteric epidermis in birds, termed sebokeratinocytes (MENON & MENON, 2000). This further supports the hypothesis that apteric epidermis is derived from hinge regions of proto-avian archosaurs (ALIBARDI, 2003a).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Two young Australian saltwater crocodile, *Crocodyle porosus*, and 2 late embryos of the American alligator, *Alligator mississippiensis*, were used in the present study. The skin was collected from biopsies of the neck, belly, lateral mid body (softer scales), and from back and tail scales (harder scales), as previously detailed (ALIBARDI & THOMPSON, 2000; ALIBARDI, 2003a). Tissues (2-4 mm in length) were fixed for 5-8 hours in Carnoy fluid (9 parts 80% ethanol + 1 part acetic acid), dehydrated, and embedded in Lowcryl K4M resin under UV for 2-3 days at 0-4°C. Other tissues were immersed in 2.5% glutaral-dehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.4 post-fixed in osmium, dehydrated, and embedded in Durcupan resin.

Two zebrafinch embryos, from 12 days post-deposition eggs, were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde as above. Other four zebrafinches were injected in the abdomen with of a Ringer solution containing tritiated histidine (L 2,5 3H-histidine, specific activity 40-60 Ci/mole, Amersham, UK) at a dosage of 2-4 μ Ci/g body weight. Samples of skin from the ventral and pectoral regions were collected 4 hours after the injection, for the histoautoradiographic study on skin sections.

From four adult emus (Dromaius novae-hollandiae) little pieces (3-5 mm) of skin were collected from a featherless area about 12 cm above the wing toward to the neck, and immediately fixed. Some tissues were fixed in 10% formaldehyde for 5-6 hours, stored in 0.1 M phosphate buffer for a few days, post-fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde for 2 hours, then in 2% osmium for 2 hours, dehydrated and embedded in Spurr resin. Other tissues were fixed in Carnoy's fluid, dehydrated, and embedded in Lowcryl K4M resin under UV-light. Fresh skin samples were obtained from the head and neck of four ostriches (Struthio camelus). Some tissues were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde as above, post-fixed in osmium, dehydrated and embedded in Durcupan resin. Other pieces were fixed in 3% paraformaldehyde in phosphate buffer or in Carnoy's for 4-6 hours, and then embedded in Lowcryl K4M resin as above.

Semithin sections of the embedded tissues $(1-4 \ \mu m thick)$ were obtained using a LKB-Nova ultramicrotome,

and attached to gelatin-coated slides for the following immunocytochemical stain. From some areas of the skin, thin sections (40-90 nm thick) were collected on copper or nickel grids, stained with uranyl acetate and lead citrate, and observed under a CM-100 Philips electron microscope.

For autoradiography, tissues were fixed in 2.5% glutaraldehyde in 0.1 M phosphate buffer at pH 7.4 for about six hours, post-fixed in 1% osmium tetroxide for one hour, dehydrated and embedded in the resin Durcupan. Sections of 2-4 µm thickness were coated with Ilford K5 Nuclear Emulsion, exposed in a darkroom for 1-2 months, developed in Kodak D19 and fixed in Ilfor fixer. Sections, either unstained or lightly stained with 1% toluidine blue, were studied under the light microscope for detection of the silver grains derived from the autoradiographic process. Other thin sections (40-90 nm thick) were collected onto collodion-coated slides and coated with Ilford L4 Nuclear Emulsion for ultrastructural autoradiography. After 3-4 months exposure, sections were developed as above, collected on nickel grids, stained and observed under the electron microscope.

For light microscopic immunocytochemistry, anti-keratin mammalian antibodies (AE1, AE2, AE3) were purchased from Progen (Heidelberg, Germany). They recognize most acidic and basic alpha-keratins (SUN et al., 1983; O'GUIN et al., 1987). The anti-filaggrin antibody was produced and generously supplied by Dr. BA Dale (Department of Oral Biology, University of Washington, Seattle, USA). It is a polyclonal antibody (#466) produced in rabbit and directed against rat filaggrin in both sections and blottings. The anti-loricrin antibody, produced in rabbit, was generously supplied by Dr. E. Fuchs (Howard Hughes Medical Institute, University of Chicago, USA), and recognizes a 15 amino acidic sequence toward the C-terminal of mouse loricrin (MEHREL et al., 1990). The antitrichohyalin antibody was kindly supplied by Dr. G. Rogers (University of Adelaide, Australia), and recognizes trichohyalin from sheep, rat and other mammals (ROTHNAL & ROGERS, 1996; A ALIBARDI, personal observations). The anti-involucrin antibody is a mouse monoclonal antibody directed against human involucrin (I-9018, Sigma, USA). The antibody ab421 against transglutaminase 1 of guinea pig liver (rabbit polyclonal), and the ab422 against N-?-(?-glutamyl)-lysine isopeptide bond (isopetide-bond, mouse monoclonal) were purchased from Abcam Limited, Cambridge, UK. Finally, the beta-1 is a rabbit polyclonal antibody directed against a chicken scale beta-keratin, and was generously supplied by Dr. R. Sawyer (University of South Carolina, Columbia, USA; SAWYER et al., 2000).

Tissues were preincubated for 30 minutes in 5% normal goat serum in 2% BSA in 0.05 M Tris/HCl buffer at pH 7.6, incubated overnight at 4° C in the buffer containing the primary antibody (dilutions, 1 : 50-100 for alphakeratin antibodies, 1 : 500 for filaggrin, 1 : 200-300 for loricrin, 1 : 150 for transglutaminase, 1 : 150 for iso-peptide, 1 : 500 for trichohyalin, 1 :200 for beta-1 keratin, and 1 : 100 for involucrin). After several rinses in buffer, the sections were incubated in the same medium for one hour at room temperature containing 1 : 50 of antimouse-IgG (for antikeratin, involucrin, and iso-peptide) or anti-rabbit-IgG (for filaggrin, loricrin, beta-1, transglutaminase, and trichohyalin) -FITC conjugated secondary antibodies. After rinsing, sections were mounted in Fluoromount (EM Sciences, USA), and observed under a Zeiss epifluorescence microscope equipped with a fluorescein filter.

For immunoelectron microscopy, 40-90 nm thick sections were collected on nickel grids, and immunostained with the primary antibody against loricrine and transglutaminase as above (in controls the primary antibody was omitted). As secondary antibody an anti-mouse or anti-rabbit IgG conjugated to 10 nm large gold particles were used (Sigma, USA, or Biocell, UK). Sections were observed under the electron microscope either unstained or lightly stained with uranyl acetate, under a CM-100 Philips electron microscope operating at 60-80 kV.

RESULTS

Crocodilian scales

Crocodilian scales formed from narrow hinge regions among expanding outer scale surfaces (Fig. 1 A). By the end of development, as well as in adult scales, hinge regions remained as narrow areas between the outer surface of scales (Fig. 1 B). The outer scale surface will progressively expand into larger scales during the growth of the animal.

The epidermis of the young crocodilian scales consisted in a basal layer made of polygonal cells, 3-6 suprabasal layers made of flat cells, a transitional pre-corneous layer, a variably thick stratum corneum (for details see ALIBARDI, 2003a). Most of epidermal surface was formed by the dorsal part of scales which were delimited by narrow hinge regions. The corneous layer of alligator and crocodilian scales appeared thinner in hinge regions, where a higher AE2-immunoreactivity for alpha-keratin was present (Figs 1 C-D). As opposed, the immunoreactivity of the thicker epidermis of the dorsal portion of scales was immuno-negative for AE2-alpha-keratin, but immunopositive for beta-1 keratin which tended to disappear in the hinge regions (Figs 1 D-E). Corneocytes (mature keratinocvets of the stratum corneum) in the dorsal part of the scale were 0.5 µm or thicker, and featured a spiny or tortuous surface (Fig. 1 F). Bundles of beta-keratin accumulated onto the plasma membrane in the transitional layer. The mature cells of the beta-keratin corneous layer consisted in compact corneocytes. Melanosomes were mixed to beta-keratin, especially in dorsal scales in both alligator and crocodile.

In the hinge region, suprabasal keratinocyets accumulated numerous lipid vesicles and smooth endoplasmic reticulum, mitochondria often showed tubular cristae and tonofilaments were sparse (Fig. 1 G). In pre-corneous keratinocytes bundles of tonofilaments tended to accumulate along the thickened plasma membrane, and the core contained lipids and dense, mucus-like, granules (Fig. 1 H). Occasional beta-keratin bundles were present in these cells.

Corneocytes of hinge regions were very narrow (0.05- $0.2 \mu m$), and showed a smooth surface (inset in Fig. 1 H).

The latter morphology resembled that of sebokeratinocytes in avian apteric epidermis (see later).

Apteric epidermis

In the zebrafinch embryo few large apteric regions formed between pterylae tracts (Fig. 2 A). The epidermis of ratites and zebrafinch was very similar, although variations in thickness were seen (Figs 2 B-C). Above a cubic to flat basal layer, 2-4 layers of flat intermediate cells preceded the straum corneum, which was made by several layers of thin cells. The basement membrane followed the tortuous indentation sometimes present along the basal cytoplasm of germinal cells. The latter, among the usual organelles, contained sparse bundles of tonofilaments which increased in diameter, density and dimension in suprabasal and pre-keratinized cells of the transitional layer (Figs 2 D-E). Bundles of electron-dense alpha-keratin were accumulated along the plasma membrane. The transitional or pre-corneous layer marked the passage from upper intermediate cells to completely keratinized cells of the stratum corneum (sebokeratinocytes). No keratohyalin granules could be differentiated from the irregularly sectioned tonofilament bundles that were present in transitional cells. Lipid vacuoles tended to concentrate in the middle of transitional and corneous cells, the plasmalemma became thicker and electrondense forming a cornified cell envelope (Figs 2 D-E). Lamellar figures were often seen extracellularly among corneous cells.

In the epidermis of the zebrafinch, 4 hours after tritiated histidine injection, the labelling appeared evenly distributed over all layers of the epidermis, and absent in the dermis (Fig. 2 F). The ultrastructural details of the labelling showed that silver grains were generally associated with the diffuse or condensed keratin filaments of transitional or mature sebokeratinocytes (Figs 2 G-H).

The AE1 immunofluorescence was mainly or exclusively seen in the germinal and first suprabasal layers of ratite epidermis (Figs 2 I-J), the AE2 antibody mainly stained the corneous and transitional layers (Figs 2 K-I, 3 A). Finally, the AE3 stained mostly living layers while the corneous layer (made of sebokeratinocytes) was generally less stained or not stained at all (Figs 3 B-C). The AE2 antibody sometimes also produced a nuclear staining, which was seen in many but not all nuclei of ratite epidermis.

In some apteric areas the anti-filaggrin antibody reacted over the transitional layer, while a large part of the corneous layer remained unstained (Figs 3 D-E). The anti-loricrin antibody produced a stronger and more consistent reaction than that against filaggrin, and the staining was more evenly distributed over all areas of apteric epidermis, especially in the transitional and lowermost part of the corneous layer (Figs 3 F-H). The transglutaminase antibody immunostained the transitional and lowermost corneous layer of the epidermis, but the immunofluorescence was patchy or completely absent in the corneous layer (Fig. 3 I). No immunolabelling was observed using antibodies directed against iso-peptide, trichohyalin and involucrin.



Fig. 1. – **A**, latero-ventral forming hinge regions (arrowhead) among the outer scale surface of scales of late alligator embryo. Bar, 0.5 mm. **B**, narrow hinge regions (arrowhead) among neck scales of late alligator embryo. Bar, 0.5 mm. **C**, hinge region of dorsal scale of alligator showing the disappearence of the pale beta-layer of the stratum corneum of scales (arrowheads). Bar, 40 μ m. **D**, AE2-immunopositive corneous layer in hinge region of alligator dorsal scale. Bar, 30 μ m. **E**, Beta-1 immunopositive corneous layer of outer surface of alligator dorsal scale, which disappears in the hinge region. Bar, 50 μ m. **F**, accumulation of beta-keratin bundles (arrowhead) in pre-corneous cells of neck scale in crocodile. Numerous melanosomes are accumulated inside mature corneocytes which show an irregular surface (arrows). Bar, 1 μ m. **G**, cytoplasm of differentiating keratinocyte in the hinge region of alligator dorsal scale showing parallel alpha-keratin bundles, lipid vesicles, mucous-like granules (arrowheads), and thickened plasma membrane (arrows). Bar, 0.25 μ m. Inset, narrow corneocytes in hinge region of alligator scale. Bar, 0.2 μ m. **Legends** : AE2, AE2-immunoreaction for alpha-keratins; BE, beta-1 immunoreaction for beta-keratin; c, corneous layer; h, hinge region; k, keratin bundles; l, lipid material. m, melanosomes. Dashes underline the basal layer.



Fig. 2. – **A**, overview of zebrafinch embryo showing the smooth, apteric region between rows of feather germs (arrowheads) in the lumbar region. Bar, 1.5 mm. **B**, thin epidermis of emu. Bar, 20 μ m. **C**, epidermis of ostrich. Bar, 20 μ m. **D**, sparce keratin bundles and dense cornified cell envelope (arrowhead) in cell of the transitional layer of emu epidermis. Bar, 0.25 μ m. **E**, merging lipid vacuoles among keratin bundles in cells of the transitional layer of ostrich epidermis (arrowhead on cornified cell envelope). Bar, 0.25 μ m. **F**, evenly labeled zebrafinch epidermis 4 hours after tritiated histidine injection. Bar 15 μ m. **G**, ultrastructural detail of autoradiographic silver grain over pale cytoplasm of transitional cell in zebrafinch epidermis. Bar, 0.2 μ m. **H**, ultrastructural detail of autoradiographic silver grain over keratin filaments in sebokeratinocytes. Bar, 0.2 μ m. **H**, AE1 immunofluorescence in emu epidermis. Bar, 15 μ m. **K**, AE2 immunofluorescence in emu epidermis. Bar, 20 μ m. **L**, AE2 immunofluorescence of ostrich epidermis. Bar, 20 μ m. **Legends** : ap, apteric region; c, corneous layer; d, dermis; k, keratin bundles; l, lipid material. Dashes underline the basal layer.



Fig. 3. – A, AE2 positive thick corneous layer of ostrich epidermis. Bar, 10 μ m. B, AE3 immunofluorescence in emu epidermis. Bar, 15 μ m. C, AE3 fluorescence in emu epidermis. Bar, 15 μ m. D, thin filaggrin-like immunofluorescent transitional layer of emu. Bar, 20 μ m. E, filaggrin-like immunofluorescent transitional layer of ostrich. Bar, 20 μ m. F, loricrine immunoreactive transitional and corneous layer of ostrich. Bar, 20 μ m. G, loricrine immunoreactive transitional and corneous layer of ostrich. Bar, 20 μ m. G, loricrine immunoreactive transitional and corneous layer of ostrich. Bar, 20 μ m. H, thick loricrine immunoreactive corneous layer of ostrich. Bar, 20 μ m. I, tranglutaminase immunofluorescence in the transitional and patchy corneous layer (here artefactually fragmented during sectioning). Bar, 20 μ m. J, loricrine gold immunolabeled pale vesicles within upper spinosus cell of emu epidermis. Bar, 0.25 μ m. K, loricrine gold labelling within pale vesicle of upper spinosus cell in ostrich epidermis. The arrowhead points to keratin filaments. Bar, 0.25 μ m. Legends : c, corneous layer; k, keratin bundles; l, lipid material. Dashes underline the basal layer.



Fig. 4. – **A**, diffuse loricrine immunolabelling among keratin bundles of upper intermediate cell of ostrich. Bar, 0.25 μ m. **B**, weak loricrine labelling within the central, lipidic-like spaces of transitional cell of emu epidermis. Bar, 0.25 μ m. **C**, transglutaminase labeled nuclear chromatin of upper spinosus cell of ostrich epidermis. Bar, 0.1 μ m. **D**, diffuse transglutaminase labelling (arrowheads) among keratin filaments in upper intermediate cell of ostrich epidermis. Bar, 0.2 μ m. **E**, loricrine labelling along the external keratin bundles (arrowheads) within sebokeratinocytes of ostrich stratum corneum. Bar, 0.1 μ m. **F**, diffuse loricrine immunolabelling within ostrich sebokeratinocytes but not along the cornified cell envelope (arrowheads). Bar, 0.1 μ m. **Legends** : c, corneous layer; cy, cytoplasm; de, desmosomes; k, keratin bundles; l, lipid material. n, nucleus. Dashes underline the basal layer.

The ultrastructural localization for loricrin immunoreactivity showed a light but specific labelling associated with lipid-like or pale vesicles in cells of the upper spinosus or in the transitional layer (Figs 3 J-K). A diffuse labelling was seen among keratin bundles or in the core of the flattening sebokeratinocytes among the central lipid material (Figs 4 A-B). The transglutaminase labelling was similar to that for loricrine but present only in transitional cells and more diffuse than the loricrin labelling. It was diffuse over lipid or vacuoles among keratin filaments in transitional cells, and some weak labelling was seen in the condensing perinuclear chromatin of nuclei in upper intermediate cells and in transitional cells (Figs 4 C-D).

The immunolabelling for loricrin in transitional cells contacting mature sebokeratinocytes, was most frequently seen than that for transglutaminase, especially within the central lipid core, but not in the peripheral keratin material beneath the plasmalemma (Fig. 4 E). The immunolabelling was however diffuse or completely absent in most areas of the stratum corneum. Finally, the patchy labelling observed in mature sebokeratinocytes was generally absent along the plasma membrane (Fig. 4 F).

DISCUSSION

Keratins

The present study confirms that distribution of betakeratin is found only in the dorsal surface of crocodilian scales and is absent in apteric epidermis of ratite, as in the remaining neognate birds (SAWYER et al., 2000; ALIBARDI & SAWYER, 2002; ALIBARDI, 2003a, 2004a). This type of keratin (beta) forms the hard epidermis of reptilian and scutate-scutellate scales of birds.

The present study also shows that alpha-keratin bundles are present in the germinative and intermediate epidermal cells, and include both acidic and basic keratins. The pattern of immunolocalization therefore resembles that of the other amniotes, with acidic and basic keratins associated in most epidermal layers but decreasing in the corneous layer where their reactive epitopes becomes masked or modified (SUN et al., 1983). Mature keratinocytes of avian epidermis, termed sebokeratinocytes, resemble mesos or thin alpha-cells of reptilian epidermis (MENON & MENON, 2000). These lipid-rich cells do not show an alpha-keratin patter under electron microscopic analysis (MATOLTSY, 1969; MADERSON et al., 1972; MAD-ERSON, 1985; LANDMANN, 1979, 1980). This has been correlated with the absence or with the extremely reduced amount of interkeratin (matrix) material present in sebokeratinocytes.

The AE1 immunolabeling, limited to the basal layer in human epidermis (SUN et al., 1983), is less precisely localized in that of crocodilian and ratite epidermis, where not only the basal layer but also some suprabasal cells are labeled, although less intensely (ALIBARDI & THOMPSON, 2002; ALIBARDI, 2003a). Acidic keratins (AE1-positive) are also present in the intermediate and transitional layer of crocodilian and avian epidermis, where they are coupled to basic keratins according to the pair-rule (one acidic keratin molecule is bound to one basic keratin molecule, see SUN et al., 1983; O'GUIN et al., 1987).

The immunocytochemical results suggest that reactive epitopes of acidic keratin becomes somehow masked in the uppermost epidermal layers. The AE2 immunolabelling (for 56.5 and 66-67 kDa mammalian keratins) often shows a similar pattern as that seen using antibodies against filaggrin. It is however known that the AE2 antibody can also cross-reacts with common epitopes between keratins and filaggrin (DALE & SUN, 1983), and therefore the presence of filaggrin-like proteins in avian epidermis requires a biochemical study. The immunolabelling with AE2 in apteric sebokeratinocytes indicates the presence of some high molecular weight keratins involved in cornification (K1, 66-67 kDa and K10, 56.5 kDa; O'GUIN et al., 1987). Basic keratins (AE3 positive) in ratite epidermis appear more abundant, and present in transitional and also the corneous layer (O' GUIN et al., 1987; ALIBARDI, 2004a, b). The AE1, AE2 and AE3 immunoreactive patterns observed in crocodile and ratite epidermis are in general similar to that of the epidermis of other amniotes (SUN et al., 1983; O'GUIN et al., 1987; ALIBARDI, 2002b, c, d, e, 2003a).

The AE2 nuclear staining seen over many but not all of the nuclei in some sections, appears either unspecific or may be due to the recognition of this antibody to nuclear intermediate filaments other then keratin, but with a common antigenic determinant (PRUSS et al., 1981).

Keratin-associated matrix proteins

The dorsal surface of crocodilian scales, which represents most of epidermal surface, is made of relatively larger corneocytes with a rough or spiny surface, and which contain beta-keratin (MADERSON, 1985; SAWYER et al., 2000; ALIBARDI & THOMPSON, 2002; ALIBARDI, 2003a). As opposed, in the hinge regions corneocytes are very narrow, have a smooth surface, contain little or no beta-keratin, but instead lipids, and sparse tonofilaments bundles with prevalent parallel orientation with that of the epidermis. Keratohyalin granules are also absent in these cells in crocodilians, and this condition resembles that present in apteric epidermis of birds.

As in zebrafinch and chick epidermis, filaggrin-like immunoreactivity is weak and uneven over ratite sebokeratinocytes (ALIBARDI, 2004a). This result further suggests that, aside the poor cross-reactivity of this antibody with heterologous species (RESING & DALE, 1991), not much interkeratin (matrix) molecules rich in histidine are present in avian sebokeratinocytes.

The low labelling in the transitional layer of the zebrafinch 4-24 hours after injection of tritiated histidine has indicated that no keratohyaline or histidine-rich molecules are present among keratin bundles of sebokeratinocytes. The filament bundles present in transitional cells of avian epidermis previously indicated as avian keratohyalin (MATOLTSY, 1969; SPEARMAN & HARDY, 1985; PELTO-NEN et al., 1998, 2000), are not equivalent to mammalian keratohyalin. In fact, these bundles incorporate little or no tritiated histidine, and therefore very little histidine-rich and other proteins are present in these cells.

In conclusion, the present observations suggest that no or little matrix material is present in sebokeratinocytes of apteric epidermis, as in reptilian mesos and alpha-cells (LANDMANN, 1979, 1980), and in hinge regions among reptilian and avian scales. The negative results using antibodies against trichohyalin, iso-peptide bonds, and involucrin indicate that these proteins are species-specific, and that no cross-reactivity between avian and mammalian epidermal proteins is possible after fixation of cells.

Cornified cell envelope proteins

A very weak loricrine-immunoreactivity is present in hinge regions of crocodilian epidermis (ALIBARDI, 2003a). X-ray microanalysis of the corneous and transitional layer of the chick have indicated the presence of sulfur (ALIBARDI & KAPLIN, unpublished observations) but not of phosphorous (the latter is typical in mammalian keratohyalin; see RESING & DALE, 1991). This may explain the detection of a weak loricrin-like immunoreactivity in the transitional and corneous layers of avian epidermis, as loricrin in mammalian epidermis is a sulfurrich protein (MEHREL et al., 1990; LEAPMAN et al., 1997). A sulfur-containing protein with some immunocrossreactivity with mammalian loricrin seems to be present in small amount in avian sebokeratinocytes, although it is not concentrated along the cornified cell envelope.

The low amount of both keratin bundles and loricrinlike molecules in avian alpha-layer is confirmed by the poor reactivity to sulfydryl groups (WESSELS, 1961; CANE & SPEARMAN, 1964; SPEARMAN, 1966). Loricrin-like molecules are sparse among lipids and keratin bundles, and the immunolabelling is not localized into specifc granules (L-granules) as in corneocytes of mammals (STEVEN et al., 1990; LEAPMAN et al., 1997; HARDMANN et al., 1998; ISHIDA-YAMAMOTO et al., 2000). Also in human corneocytes a large amount of loricrin is initially distributed within the cytoplasm, but it concentrates along the cornified cell envelope at maturation (ISHIDA-YAMAMOTO et al., 2000). This is not seen in avian, lizard, snake, turtle or in corneocytes of monotremes (ALIBARDI, 2002b, c, d, e; ALIBARDI & MADERSON, 2003), where loricrin-like labelling remains cytoplasmic. This suggests that the antibody does not cross-react with reptilian-avian sulfur-rich proteins after fixation, or that these proteins are under the detection sensitivity of the employed immunocytochemical procedures.

It may also be possible that other proteins more than loricrin form the softer cornified cell envelope of avian sebokeratinocytes, but further biochemical studies are needed. The presence of transglutaminase in the same areas where loricrin-like immunoreactivity is present (loricrin is one of the main substrates of transglutaminase) further suggests that the two proteins are functionally linked during cornification of avian epidermis. The lack of isopeptide-bond detection (which derives from the action of transglutaminase on protein substrate such as loricrin) indicates that so little cross-linking is present in the apteric sebokeratinocytes to be under the detection or accessibility of antibodies.

Transglutaminase appears linked to condensing nuclear chromatine, as it is typical of nuclear membrane crosslinking during apoptosis in mammalian epidermis (HAAKE & POLAKOWSKA, 1993). During terminal differentiation in the transitional layer, nuclei become pycnotic, and are incorporated among the mature corneous layer (MENON & MENON, 2000, present observations). Transglutaminase labelling appears in the condensed perinuclear chromatin already in upper intermediate and precorneous, cells of the epidermis. Keratinization of apteric epidermis is, like that of mammals, probably an apoptotic-driven process.

Avian soft keratinization and evolutive speculations

The present observations in ratite birds confirm the immunolocalization of keratins, associated proteins, and tritiated histidine in the epidermis of neognates birds (ALIBARDI, 2003b, 2004a, b). These results probably indicate that the pattern of keratinization of apteric epidermis is similar in all extant birds. Complex lipids and waxes are synthesized in sebokeratinocytes, while the avian corneous cell envelope is probably simpler in comparison to that of mammalian corneocytes (MENON & MENON, 2000; KALININ et al., 2002). Only future biochemical work will allow identification of specific avian proteins involved in sebokeratinocytes differentiation.

The similarity between corneocytes in crocodilian hinge regions and sebokeratinocytes of apteric epidermis allows formulating some speculations about the evolution of apteric epidermis from pro-avian ancestors (Fig. 5 A). Apteric areas perhaps derived from the progressive expansion of the surface of hinge regions and the concomitant reduction of the dorsal surface of scales to bumps (Fig. 5 B). The selection and the progressive spreading of interfollicular/apteric epidermis to broader areas among scales of proto-avian reptiles might have been a major trend toward the origin of the avian integument. The columnar epidermal cells of the basal layer of the bumbs (resembling a placode) might have been connected to a group of mesenchymal cells forming a dermoepidermal complex (Figs 5 A-B). The molecular basis of this dermo-epidermal association in reptilian skin is unknown (ALIBARDI, 2004b).

The contraction of the basal cells of the epidermis within progressively smaller bumps or cones (located toward the tip of the original scales, see sequence in Figs 5 B-C) might have determined an apparent condensation of dermal cells connected to the epithelium. The interfollicular and the apteric epidermis located around the cones and protofeathers (Figs 5 C-D) maintained the characteristics of hinge regions epidermis, in particular lack of keratohyalin and formation of thin alpha-keratin cells. This may explain the absence of keratohyalin and of a granular layer in the derived apteric epidermis.

The lengthening of the bumps into cones (Figs 5 C-D), together their associated dermis was at the origin of protofeathers (CHUONG et al., 2000; PRUM, 2002). The epidermis of the cones was formed by beta-keratin synthesizing cells organized in a circular region that might have functioned similarly to a collar region (the beta-keratin producing region at the base of a feather follicle in extant birds, see Fig. 5 E). The progressive restriction in the localization of the collar region and associated mesenchyme at the base of proto-feathers and the downward proliferation of the collar might have produced the follicle (Figs 5 D-E).



Fig. 5. - Schematic drowing illustrating five hypothetical stages (A-E) for the origin of the apteric epidermis and protofeathers from an archosaurian scaled epidermis (on the left are the histological sections; on the right are their dorsal view showing the progressive localization of the evolving protofeather toward the original scale tip). A, scales of an hypothetical archosaurian progenitor where mesenchymal fibroblasts are joined to the epidermis by cytoplasmic bridges; **B**, tuberculate scale of a protoavian archosaur; C, conical scale of a protoavian archosaur; D, elongating conical scale with forming follicle. Mesenchymal fibroblasts associated to the collar progressively reduce in the lower part of the cone; E, protofeather within a follicle (the dorsal view of 7 protofeathers together the area originally occupied by 7 scales shows the exagonal arranging present in pterylae tracts). Mesenchymal fibroblast are connected to the collar at the base of the protofeather. Legends : a, alpha-keratin layer; ap, apteric epidermis (outside interfollicular epidermis of pterylae epidermis); b, beta-keratin layer; c, dermal condensation of mesenchyme; cb, cytoplasmic bridges between mesenchyme and epidermis; d, fusiform fibroblasts of the dense/normal dermis; f, follicle; h, hinge region; i, interfollicular epidermis; m, mesenchymal fibroblasts of the loose dermis; o, outer scale surface. The dashes lines represent epidermal areas of the original scales

The soft and wrinkly apteric epidermis seems to be associated with the need to maintain a very elastic and flexible tissue among feathers that favors their movement (HOMBERGER & DE SILVA, 2000). Due to the limited importance of apteric epidermis in the mechanical protection of the body, cornification is reduced in this type of epidermis. The plumage takes up most of the mechanical protection (covering by flattening the feathers over the apteric epidermis), and acts as thermal insulation, leaving to the apteric epidermis a major role in the control of water loss (LUCAS & STETTENHEIM, 1972; MENON et al., 1996; MENON & MENON, 2000).

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

This study was partially financed by a 60% University of Bologna grant (segnali molecolari dello sviluppo). Prof. M.B. Thompson (Univ Sydney) and the Australian Reptilian Park (Gosford, NSW, and Australia) supplied with alligator eggs. Mr. Charlie Manolis and Adam Britton (Sanderson Wildlife, NT, Australia) supplied saltwater crocodile skin. Emu skin was supplied by Dr. A. Malecky (Department of Agriculture, University of Western Australia, Perth), and Dr T. Hulbert (Department of Biological Sciences, University of Wollongong, NSW). Ostrich skin was supplied by Dr. Roberto Bortolazzi and Mr. Andrea Menegato (Polesella, Rovigo, Italy). Prof. G. Giuseppe Gargiulo (University of Bologna) kindly provided the transglutaminase and isospeptide antibodies. Ms. Pru Harvey (School of Biological Sciences, University of Sydney) proofred the manuscript and Ms. L. Serofilli (Scuola di Disegno Anatomico, Bologna) drew figure 5.

REFERENCES

- ALIBARDI, L. (2002a). Keratinization and lipogenesis in embryonic derivatives of the zebrafinch, *Taeniopygia guttata castanotis* (Aves, Passeriformes, Ploecidae) during embryonic development. J. Morphol., 251 : 294-308.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2002b). Loricrin-like immunoreactivity during keratinization in lizard epidermis. J. Morphol., 254 : 132-138.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2002c). Immunocytochermistry of alpha- and beta-layers in lizard epidermis. *Belg. J. Zool.*, 132 : 71-81.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2002d). Immunocytochemical observations on the cornification of soft and hard epidermis in the turtle *Chryse*mys picta. Zoology, 105 : 31-44.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2002e). Immunocytochemical analysis of the process of keratinization of the epidermis of snakes. J. Zool. (London), 248 : 541-552.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2003a). Immunocytochemistry and keratinization in the epidermis of crocodilians. *Zool. Stud.*, 42 : 346-356.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2003b). Adaptation to land : the skin of reptiles in comparison to that of amphibians and endotherm Amniotes. *J. Exp. Zool.*, 298B : 12-41.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2004a). Immunocytochemical and autoradiographic studies on the process of keratinization in avian epidermis suggest absence of keratohyalin. J. Morphol., 259 : 238-253.
- ALIBARDI, L. (2004b). Dermo-epidermal interactions in reptilian scales : speculations on the evolution of scales, feathers, and hairs. J. Exp. Zool., 302B : 365-383.
- ALIBARDI, L. & P.F.A. MADERSON (2003). Distribution of keratin and associated proteins in the epidermis of monotreme, marsupial, and placental epidermis. J. Morphol., 258 : 49-66.
- ALIBARDI, L. & R.H. SAWYER (2002). Immunocytochemical analysis of beta-keratins in the epidermis of anapsids, lepidosaurians and archosaurians. J. Exp. Zool., 293 : 27-38.
- ALIBARDI, L. & M.B. THOMPSON (2000). Scale morphogenesis and ultrastructure of dermis during embryonic development in the alligator (*Alligator missippippiensis*, Crocodilia, Reptile). *Acta Zool.*, 81 : 325-338.

- ALIBARDI, L. & M.B. THOMPSON (2001). Fine structure of the developing epidermis in the embryo of the american alligator (*Alligator missippippiensis*, Crocodilia, Reptilia). J. Anat., 198 : 265-282.
- ALIBARDI, L. & M.B. THOMPSON (2002). Keratinization and ultrastructure of the epidermis of late embryonic stages in the alligator (*Alligator mississippiensis*). J. Anat., 201 : 71-84.
- BRUSH, A.H. (1993). The origin of feathers : a novel approach. In : Farner D., J.A. King & K.C. Parker (eds), Avian Biol. IX. New York, Academic Press Ltd. : 121-162.
- BRUSH, A.H. & J.A. WYLD (1980). Molecular correlates of morphological differentiation : avian scutes and scales. *J. Exp. Zool.*, 212 : 153-157.
- CANE, A.K. & R.I.C. SPEARMAN (1964). A histochemical study of keratinization in domestic fowl (*Gallus gallus*). J. Zool., 153 : 337-352.
- CHUONG, C.M. (1993). The making of a feather : homeoproteins, retinoids and adhesion molecules. *BioEssays*, 15 : 513-521.
- CHUONG, C.M., R. CHODANKAR & R.B. WIDELITZ (2000). Evo-Devo of feathers and scales : building complex epithelial appendages. *Curr. Opin. Genet. Developm.*, 10 : 449-456.
- DALE, B.A. & T.T. SUN (1983). Filaggrin, 56.5 kd and 65-67 kd keratins share an antigenic determinant as definied by the AE2 monoclonal antibody. *J. Cell. Biol.*, 97 : 228a (Abstract).
- ELIAS, P.M., G.K. MENON, S. GRAYSON, B.E. BROWN & S.J. REHFELD (1987). Avian sebokeratinocytes and marine lipokeratinocytes : structural, lipid biochemical, and functional considerations. *Amer. J. Anat.*, 180 : 161-177.
- FUCHS, E. (1990). Epidermal differentiation : the bare essentials. J. Cell. Biol., 111 : 2807-2814.
- GREGG, K. & G.E. ROGERS (1986). Feather keratin : composition, structure and biogenesis. In : Bereiter-Hahn J., A.G. Matoltsy & K. Sylvia-Richards (eds), *Biology of the integument, vol 2.* Berlin : Springer-Verlag : 666-694.
- HAAKE, A.R. & R.R. POLAKOWSKA (1993). Cell death by apoptosis in epidermal biology. J. Inv. Dermatol., 101 : 107-112.
- HARDMANN, M.J., P. SISI, D.N. BANBURY & C. BYRNE (1998). Patterned acquisition of skin barrier function during the development. *Development*, 125 : 1541-1552.
- HOMBERGER, D.G. & K.N. DE SILVA (2000). Functional microanatomy of the feather-bearing integument : implications for the evolution of birds and avian flight. *Amer. Zool.*, 40 : 553-574.
- ISHIDA-YAMAMOTO, A., H. TAKAHASHI & H. IIZUKA (2000). Immunoelectron microscopy links molecules and morphology in the studies of keratinization. *Eur. J. Dermatol.*, 10: 429-435.
- KALININ, A.E., A.V. KAJAVA & P.M. STEINERT (2002). Epithelial barrier function : assembly and structural features of the cornified cell envelope. *BioEssays*, 24 : 789-800.
- LANDMANN, L. (1979). Keratin formation and barrier mechanisms in the epidermis of *Natrix natrix* (Reptilia, Serpentes) : an ultrastructural study. *J. Morphol.*, 162 : 93-126.
- LANDMANN, L. (1980). Lamellar granules in mammalian, avian, and reptilian epidermis. J. Ultrastr. Res., 72 : 245-263.
- LAVKER, R.M. (1975). Lipid synthesis in chick epidermis. J. Inv. Dermatol., 65: 93-101.
- LEAPMAN, R.D., M. JARNIK & C.A STEVENS (1997). Spatial distribution of sulfur-rich proteins in cornifying epithelia. J. Struct. Biol., 120: 168-179.
- LUCAS, A.M. & P.R. STETTENHEIM (1972). Growth of follicles and feathers. Color of feathers and integument. In : *Avian anatomy. Integument.* Agriculture Handbook 362. US Department of Agriculture. Chapt 7 : 341-419.

- MADERSON, P.F.A. (1972). On how an archosaurian scale might have given rise to an avian feather. *Amer. Nat.*, 176 : 424-428.
- MADERSON, P.F.A. (1985). Some developmental problems of the reptilian integument. In : Gans C., F. Billett & P.F.A. Maderson (eds), *Biology of Reptilia*, vol. 14 B, New York : John Wiley & Sons : 525-598.
- MADERSON, P.F.A. & L. ALIBARDI (2000). The development of the sauropsid integument : a contribution to the problem of the origin and evolution of feathers. *Amer. Zool.*, 40 : 513-529.
- MADERSON, P.F.A., A.B. FLAXMAN, S.I. ROTH & G. SZABO (1972). Ultrastructural contributions to the identification of cell types in the lizard epidermal generation. *J. Morphol.*, 136 : 191-210.
- MATOLTSY, A.G. (1969). Keratinization of the avian epidermis. An ultrastructural study of the newborn chick. *J. Ultrastruct. Res.*, 29 : 438-458.
- MATULIONIS, D.H. (1970). Morphology of the developing down feathers of chick embryos. A descriptive study at the ultrastructural level of differentiation and keratinization. *Z. Anat. Entw. Gesch.*, 132 : 107-157.
- MEHREL, T., D. HOHL, J.A.ROTHNAGEL, M.A. LONGLEY, D. NUNDMAN, C. CHENG, U. LICHTI, M.E. BISHER, A.C. STEVEN, P.M. STEINERT, S.H. YUSPA & D.R. ROOP (1990). Identification of major keratinocyte cell envelope protein, loricrin. *Cell*, 61 : 1103-1112.
- MENON G.K. & J. MENON (2000). Avian epidermal lipids : functional considerations in relation to feathering. *Amer. Zool.*, 40 : 540-552.
- MENON, G.K., B.E. BROWN & P.M. ELIAS (1986). Avian epidermal differentiation : role of lipids in permeability barrier formation. *Tiss. Cell.*, 18 : 71-82.
- MENON, G.K., P.F.A. MADERSON, R.C. DREWES, L.F. BAPTISTA, L.F. PRICE & P.M. ELIAS (1996). Ultrastructural organization of avian stratum corneum lipids as the basis for facultative cutaneous waterproofing. J. Morphol., 227 : 1-13.
- O'GUIN, M.W., S. GALVIN, A. SHERMER & T.T. SUN (1987). Pattern of keratin espression define distinct pathways of epithelial development and differentiation. *Curr. Top. Dev. Biol.*, 22 : 97-125.
- PELTONEN, L., Y. ARIELI, A. PYORNILA & J. MARDER (1998). Adaptive changes in the epidermal structure of the heatacclimated rock pigeon (*Columbia livia*): a comparative electron microscopic study. J. Morphol., 235: 17-29.
- PELTONEN, L., Y. ARIELI, R. HARJULA, A. PYORNILA & J. MARDER (2000). Local cutaneous water barrier in cold- and heat-acclimated pigeons (*Columbia livia*) in relation to cutaneous water evaporation. J. Morphol., 246 : 118-130.
- PRUSS, R.M., R. MIRSKY, M.C. RAFF, R. THORPE, A.J. DOWNING & B.H. ANDERTON (1981). All classes of intermediate filaments share a common antigenic determinant definied by a monoclonal antibody. *Cell*, 27 : 419-428.
- PRUM, R.O. (2002). Why ornithologists should care about the thropod origin of birds. *The Auck* 119 : 1-117.
- RAWLINGS, A.V., I.R. SCOTT, C.R. HARDING & P.A. BOWSER (1994). Stratum corneum moisturization at the molecular level. J. Inv. Dermatol., 103: 731-740.
- RESING, K.A. & B.A. DALE (1991). Proteins of keratohyalin. In : Goldsmith L.A. (ed), *Physiology, Biochemistry, and Molecular Biology of the Skin* Vol 1. New York and Oxford : Oxford Uniersity Press : 148-167.
- ROTHNAGEL, J. & G.E. ROGERS (1996). Trichohyalin, an intermediate filaments associated protein of the hair follicle. J. Cell Biol., 102 : 1419-1429.
- SAWYER, R.H., L.W. KNAPP & M.W. O'GUIN (1986). The skin of Birds. Epidermis dermis and appendages. In : Bereiter-Hahn J., A.G. Matoltsy & K. Sylvia-Richards (eds), *Biology of the*

integument, Vol 2, Vertebrates, Berlin : Springer-Verlag : 374-408.

- SAWYER, R.H., T. GLENN, B. FRENCH, B. MAYS, R.B. SHAMES, G.L. BARNES & Y. ISHIKAWA (2000). The expression of betakeratins in the epidermal appendages of reptiles and birds. *Amer. Zool.*, 40 : 530-539.
- SPEARMAN, R.I.C. (1966). The keratinization of epidermal scales, feathers and hairs. *Biol. Rev.*, 41 : 59-96.
- SPEARMAN, R.I.C. & J.A. HARDY (1985). Integument. In : King A.S. & J. McLelland (eds), *Form and function of birds*, Vol. 3, London : Academic Press Inc. : 1-56.
- STEVEN, A.C., M.E. BISHER, D.R. ROOP & P.M. STEINERT (1990). Biosynthetic pathways of filaggrin and loricrin- Two major proteins expressed by terminally differentiated epidermal keratinocytes. J. Struct. Biol., 104 : 150-162.
- SUN, T.T., R. EICHER, W.G. NELSON, S.G.C. TSENG, R.A. WEISS, M. JARVINEN & J. WOODCOCK-MITCHELL (1983). Keratin classes : molecular markers for different types of epithelial differentiation. J. Inv. Dermatol., 81 : 109-115.
- WESSEL, N.K. (1961). An analysis of chick epidermal differentiation in situ and in vitro in chemically definied media. *Dev. Biol.*, 3 : 355-389.

Received: May 19, 2003 Accepted: December 11, 2003

Description of the karyotype of *Heimyscus fumosus* and of several other murids from the Mount Doudou area (Gabon)

Emilie Lecompte¹, Violaine Nicolas^{1,2}, Marc Colyn², Christiane Denys¹ and Vitaly Volobouev¹

² Station Biologique de Paimpont, Université de Rennes 1, CNRS UMR 6553, 35380 Paimpont, France Corresponding author : Emilie Lecompte, e-mail: lecompte@mnhn.fr

ABSTRACT. A first inventory of south-western Gabon forest rodent diversity was realised in the Mount Doudou AERF using cytotaxonomic analysis. The C-banded karyotypes of some *Heimyscus*, *Hylomyscus*, *Praomys*, *Hybomys* and *Malacomys* species are presented. Two karyotypes are here described for the first time : those of *Heimyscus* fumosus and *Hylomyscus* sp. The results of this chromosomal analysis increase the murine specific diversity recognized in central Africa : there probably exists a new species of *Hylomyscus* in the Mount Doudou area.

KEY WORDS : Rodentia, Murinae, karyotypes, C-banding, Heimyscus fumosus.

INTRODUCTION

One of the most striking features of tropical Africa is the diversity of its mammalian fauna, especially of the small mammals (DELANY & HAPPOLD, 1979). Since the 60's numerous studies were therefore conducted on small mammals, especially rodents, in central Africa which allowed : 1) to describe new species (e.g. BROSSET et al., 1965; DUBOST, 1965), 2) to identify sibling species, as in the genus Hylomyscus (ISKANDAR et al., 1988), and 3) to inventory many sites from Nigeria (e.g. HAPPOLD, 1987), Cameroon (HUTTERER et al., 1992; COLYN et al., 1996), Gabon (e.g. BROSSET et al., 1965; COLYN, et al., 1996), Republic of Congo (e.g. GRANJON, 1991; COLYN et al., 1996), Democratic Republic of Congo (e.g. COLYN & DUDU, 1986; DUDU, 1991; LEIRS et al., 1999), Central African Republic (PETTER & GENEST, 1970; BARRIÈRE & NICOLAS, 2000) and Uganda (e.g. DELANY, 1971; CLAUS-NITZER & KITYO, 2001). However, despite this rather large number of studies. African small mammal diversity is not vet fully understood, and the biodiversity of some regions is still little known. In particular this is the case of southwestern Gabon, where no precise inventory has been undertaken yet.

The cytotaxonomic analysis constitutes a powerful discriminating tool for screening faunistic diversity of small mammals in general, and rodents in particular (PETTER, 1971; ROBBINS & BAKER, 1978; ROBINSON, 2001); it has allowed taxonomists to reveal the presence of numerous sibling species (e.g., *Arvicanthis* : DUCROZ et al., 1997; *Mastomys* : GRANJON et al., 1997; VOLOBOUEV et al., 2001; *Otomys* : TAYLOR, 2000), which are morphologically similar but are showing sufficient chromosomal divergence to ensure reproductive isolation (see KING, 1993). Indeed, following early works of Matthey dating from the 60's (e.g. MATTHEY, 1959; 1963; 1965; 1967), ∞ -systematics in African rodents has experienced a significant renewal greatly due to the input of cytogenetics (PETTER, 1971; ROBBINS & BAKER, 1978; TAYLOR, 2000; ROBINSON, 2001).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

An international project, funded by the WWF (project GA085300), was carried out between March 2000 and March 2001 in the Mount Doudou AERF ("Aire d'Exploitation Rationnelle de Faune"), South-western Gabon, to provide data on the small mammals diversity. The Mount Doudou AERF covers 332 000 hectares, and its altitude ranges from 110 to 700 m A.S.L. A one year study on small mammal community ecology was conducted in its eastern part (02°09S-10°30E), in mostly undisturbed lowland forest (110 m A.S.L.). Ten of the rodents captured during this study were subject to chromosomal analysis.

The chromosomal formula of these specimens (diploid number, 2n and autosomal fundamental number, NFa) was determined on the preparations obtained from fibroblast cell cultures using standard Giemsa staining and Cbanding technique (SUMNER, 1972). The fibroblast cell lines are cryopreserved and available, as well as the ethanol preserved tissues at the cell and tissue collections of the Laboratoire Zoologie Mammifères et Oiseaux, Musée National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris. The collection numbers indicated here refer to this "cell and tissue collection". Skulls were extracted and cleaned for species identification and bodies were preserved in 10% formalin. Both bodies and skulls are stored in the general collections of the Musée National d'Histoire Naturelle, Paris.

¹ Département Systématique et Evolution, UMR CNRS 5202 "Origine, structure et évolution de la Biodiversité", Mammifères et Oiseaux, Musée National d'Histoire Naturelle, Case Postale 51, 55 rue Buffon, 75 005 Paris, France. Tél : + 33140793505. Fax : +33140793063

RESULTS AND DISCUSSION

Heimyscus fumosus (2001-64 : male (M), and 2001-76 : female (F))

Although originally described as belonging to Hylomyscus (BROSSET et al., 1965), it was later treated as a species belonging to a distinctive genus (MISONNE, 1969). It seems to be present only in the central African lowland forests that are located between the Sanaga and the Oubangui-Congo rivers (NICOLAS et al., 2003). The karyotype of H. fumosus is described here for the first time (Fig. 1). It is characterized by a diploid number (2n) of 40 and contains 5 pairs of meta- or submetacentric and 14 pairs of acrocentric autosomes thus giving NFa=48. Both sex chromosomes are metacentric, the X chromosome is the largest in the set and the Y chromosome is comparable in size with the largest pair of autosomes. The autosome heterochromatine is situated only in the pericentromeric region, the chromosomes short arms are all euchromatic (Fig. 1). The Y chromosome displays some heterochromatic regions.



Fig. 1. – C-banded karyotype of Heimyscus fumosus (M : $n^{\circ}2001-064$).

Hylomyscus

The systematics of this genus is very unclear due to the absence of clear diagnostic external morphological characters (review in ROBBINS et al., 1980). Since the first chromosomal studies (e.g. MATTHEY, 1963; 1967) it appeared that karyotype may be a useful discriminating character for at least some species. In the sample studied here two distinct karyotypes were found.

H. cf. stella (2001-98 : F, 2001-99 : F, 2001-100 : F)

These specimens are morphologically similar (skull and external characters) to *H. stella*, the species largely distributed in African rain forest (type locality in East Democratic Republic of Congo, Ituri forest). However the molecular data show that West central African specimens (Cameroon, Central African Republic, Gabon, Republic of Congo) are quite divergent from the East African specimens (Kenya, Democratic Republic of Congo: LECOMPTE, 2003; NICOLAS, 2003). The karyotype of these three specimens has 2n = 46 and NFa = 68 (Fig. 2) and is similar to that earlier described for *H. stella* in Cameroon, Central African Republic and Gabon (MATTHEY, 1967; VIEGAS PÉQUIGNOT et al., 1983; ISKANDAR et al., 1988; ROBBINS et al., 1980). The autosome heterochromatine is situated only in the centromeric region, the autosomes short arms are euchromatic whereas the X chromosome short arms are heterochromatic (Fig. 2).



Fig. 2. – C-banded karyotype of *Hylomyscus stella* ($F : n^{\circ}2001-100$).

In addition to the karyotype with NFa = 68, MATTHEY (1963) found NFa = 70 in the same locality (Pointe Noire, Congo). The same value of NFa was found in one specimen from Cameroon (ROBBINS et al., 1980). Interestingly, morphologically similar animals from Burundi showed a karyotype with 2N = 48 and NFa = 82, which is rather distinct from that described here and in earlier studies (MADDALENA et al., 1989). However, considering that the specimens of our study possess only NFa = 68, the nature of this variation remains unknown: The possibility of heterochromatic arms as a source of NFa variation is possible, while no heterochromatic arms have been identified in our sample, representing the lowest autosomal fundamental number known. In order to identify the nature of this karyotypic variation, it is necessary to study specimens from all the distribution area using C- and G-banding pattern. Such study will allow clarifying the taxonomic status of the karyotypic (and molecular) variants of H. stella.

Hylomyscus sp (2001-65 : F)

This specimen is morphologically close (skull and external characters) to *H. aeta*, however the interorbital constriction shape as well as palatal foramina are slightly different, and the mammary formula is 2+2 = 8 instead of

1+2 = 6. Its karyotype is characterized by 2n = 56 and NFa = 86 (Fig. 3). The autosome heterochromatine is only situated in the centromeric region (Fig. 3). The X chromosomes show a large band of heterochromatine, including most of the short arms of the X chromosome.



Fig. 3. – C-banded karyotype of *Hylomyscus sp.* ($F : n^{\circ}2001-065$).

This karyotype is closer to a series of karyotypes ascribed to H. aeta (MATTHEY, 1967; ROBBINS et al., 1980), and differs from the chromosomal formulae classically found in Hylomyscus species with 2n ranging between 44 and 48 (MATTHEY, 1963; ROBBINS et al., 1980; VIEGAS-PÉQUIGNOT et al., 1983; ISKANDAR et al., 1988; MADDALENA et al., 1989). The karyotype of H. aeta was described for the first time by MATTHEY (1967) for a male specimen from Fernando Pô (Bioko) as having 2n =52 and NFa = 78, with a metacentric X and an acrocentric Y chromosomes being the largest in the set. However ROBBINS et al. (1980) found two specimens in Cameroon identified as *H. aeta* possessing 2n = 54 and NFa = 86. As a result at least three rather distinct karyotypes have been ascribed to *H. aeta*. Although it is difficult in the absence of chromosome banding data to characterize the exact nature of the chromosomal differences it is clear that this karyotypic diversity most probably hides an unknown taxonomic diversity thus urging for new cytogenetic and molecular studies.

Praomys sp (2001-63 : M and 2001-77 : M)

These *Praomys* specimens are morphologically identical (skull and external characters) to *P. petteri* (VAN DER STRAETEN et al., 2003). They are characterized by 2n =42, NFa = 40. Both sex chromosomes are metacentric, the X chromosome is comparable in size with the largest pair of autosomes. This karyotype was already described by MATTHEY (1963) after the analysis of a single specimen from Pointe Noire (Congo). The C-bands allow to identify six autosomes (pairs 1, 2, 3, 6 7 and 8) showing large heterochromatine blocks with a distribution pattern that is highly specific (Fig. 4). These heterochromatine blocks are situated right under the centromeric region and covers between $\frac{1}{4}$ to $\frac{1}{2}$ of the chromosome length. The heterochromatine pattern is pericentromeric for all the other chromosomes.



Fig. 4. - C-banded karyotype of Praomys sp. (M: n°2001-063).

In the western part of central Africa, three Praomvs species are identified : *P. jacksoni* (2n = 28; NFa = 26), *P. tullbergi* (2n = 34; NFa = 32) and *P. petteri* (2n = 42; NFa= 62). As our specimens, the karyotype of *P. petteri* is characterized by a diploid number of 42 but contains 11 pairs of meta- or submetacentrics and 9 pairs of acrocentric autosomes thus giving NFa = 62 (MATTHEY, 1965). It would be very interesting to compare specimens of P. petteri with those from Gabon, morphologically similar, to investigate the heterochromatine pattern and the presence of such heterochromatine blocks using C-banding. This will allow to verify if the short arms of P. petteri metacentric chromosomes are heterochromatic or not and thus to identify the cause of the NFa variation. This could allow a conclusion about the taxonomic status of these new specimens from Gabon. But, as it is for the moment, we know that 1/ the X chromosome is much bigger than the X in P. petteri, which is metacentric; 2/ that the Y in our Gabon specimens is metacentric, whereas it is acrocentric in P. *petteri*. These differences seem sufficient to suggest that the specimens from Gabon could be a distinct species. A revision of the genus Praomys, combining both molecular and morphometrical data, is presently being investigated in order to solve this problem.

Hybomys univittatus (2001-72 : F)

The karyotype of the specimen trapped in Mount Doudou is characterized by 2n = 44, NFa = 46. All the chromosomes are acrocentric except for a small pair of metacentric ones. This karyotype is the same as the one described by VERHEYEN & VAN DER STRAETEN (1985) for *H. univittatus* from Cameroon. The type locality of *H. univittatus* is in Gabon (Dongila), i.e. in the same faunal region as our study area.

VERHEYEN & VAN DER STRAETEN (1985) analysed three species in the genus *Hybomys*: *H. trivirgatus* (Côte d'Ivoire) 2n = 40 NFa = 38; *H. univittatus* (Cameroon) 2n= 44 NFa = 46; *H. lunaris* (Rwanda) 2n = 48 NFa = 48. MATTHEY (1959) studied *Hybomys* species labelled *univittattus* in his paper, following VIEGAS-PÉQUIGNOT et al. (1983; 1986), characterized by 2n = 48 NFa = 48. This specimen was trapped by Misonne in the Democratic Republic of Congo (F. PETTER, pers. comm.). The karyotype described by MATTHEY (1959) is similar to the *lunaris* karyotype from VERHEYEN & VAN DER STRAETEN (1985) and this specimen from RDC may be a *lunaris* and not a *univittatus* as initially proposed.

Malacomys longipes (2001-70 : F)

The karyotype of this species is characterized by 2n = 48, NFa = 48. All the autosomes are acrocentric except the smallest pair which is metacentric. The X chromosome is a large metacentric one. The karyotype of our study corresponds to that described earlier by VIEGAS-PÉQUIGNOT et al. (1983) from Ivory Coast. The type locality of *M. longipes* is in Gabon (Gaboon river, vicinity of Ogooué), i.e. in the same faunal region as the Mount Doudou area.

CONCLUSION

This study allowed realising a first inventory of forest rodent diversity of the south-western Gabon. Two karyotypes are here described for the first time : those of *Heimyscus fumosus* and *Hylomyscus sp*. The result of this chromosomal analysis increases the murine specific diversity recognised in central Africa : there is probably a new species of *Hylomyscus* in the Mount Doudou area (*Hylomyscus sp* with 2n = 56). Moreover, this study also revealed some systematic problems within *Hylomyscus* and *Praomys* genera.

REFERENCES

- BARRIÈRE, P. & V. NICOLAS (2000). Rapport d'expertise sur la Biodiversité animale en forêt de Ngotto (République Centrafricaine): Ecologie et structuration des peuplements de micromammifères : Musaraignes et Rongeurs. *Rapport ECOFAC-CEE, AGRECO-CTFT*. : 46pp (http://www.ecofac.org).
- BROSSET, A., G. DUBOST & H. HEIM DE BALSAC (1965). Mammifères inédits récoltés au Gabon. *Biol. Gabonica*, 1 : 148-175.
- CLAUSNITZER, V. & R. KITYO (2001). Altitudinal distribution of rodents (Muridae and Gliridae) on Mt Elgon, Uganda. *Tropi*cal Zoology, 14: 95-118.
- COLYN, M., D. CORNÉLIS & O. PERPÈTE (1996). Synthèse "Micro-mammifères" Muridae et Soricidae; structure des peuplements : richesse et diversité spécifiques et indices d'abondances. Programme ECOFAC : 56 pp.
- COLYN, M. & A.M. DUDU (1986). Relevé systématique des rongeurs (Muridae) des îles forestières du fleuve Zaïre entre Kisangani et Kinshasa. *Rev. Zool. Afr.*, 99 : 353-357.

- DELANY, M.J. (1971). The biology of small rodents in Mayanja Forest, Uganda. J. Zool. (London), 165 : 85-129.
- DELANY, M.J. & D.C.D. HAPPOLD (1979). Ecology of African mammals. Longman, London.
- DUBOST, G. (1965). Un muridé arboricole du Gabon *Dendromus pumilio* Wagner, possesseur d'un cinquième orteil opposable. *Biol. Gabonica*, 1 : 187-191.
- DUCROZ, J.F., L. GRANJON, P. CHEVRET, J.M. DUPLANTIER, M. LOMBARD & V. VOLOBOUEV (1997). Characterisation of two distinct species of *Arvicanthis niloticus* (Rodentia, Muridae) in West Africa : cytogenetic, molecular and reproductive evidence. J. Zool. (London), 241 : 709-723.
- DUDU, A. (1991). Etude du peuplement d'insectivores et de rongeurs de la forêt ombrophile de basse altitude du Zaïre (Kisangani, Masako). PhD thesis, Université d'Anvers, Belgique : 171 pp.
- GRANJON, L. (1991). Les rongeurs myomorphes du bassin du Kouilou (Congo). In : DOWSETT & DOWSETT-LEMAIRE (eds.), Flore et faune du bassin du Kouilou (Congo) et leur exploration. Tauraco Research Report, 4 : 265-278.
- GRANJON, L., J.M. DUPLANTIER, J. CATALAN, & J. BRITTON-DAV-IDIAN (1997). Systematics of the genus *Mastomys* (THOMAS, 1915) (Rodentia, Muridae): a review. *Belg. J. Zool.*, 127 (1): 7-18.
- HAPPOLD, D.C.D. (1987). The mammals of Nigeria. Oxford Science Publications, Clarendo Press, Oxford : 402 pp.
- HUTTERER, R., F. DIETERLEN & G. NIKOLAUS (1992). Small mammals from forest islands of eastern Nigeria and adjacent Cameroon, with systematical and biogeographical notes. *Bonn. Zool. Beitr.*, 43 : 393-414.
- ISKANDAR, D., J.M. DUPLANTIER, F. BONHOMME, F. PETTER & L. THALER (1988). Mise en évidence de deux espèces jumelles sympatriques du genre *Hylomyscus* dans le nord-est du Gabon. *Mammalia*, 52 : 126-130.
- KING, M. (1993). Species evolution : the role of chromosome change. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- LECOMPTE, E. (2003). Systématique et evolution du groupe *Praomys* (Rodentia, Murinae). PhD thesis, Musée National d'Histoire Naturelle, France : 365 pp.
- LEIRS, H., J.N. MILLS, J.W. KREBS, J.E. CHILDS, D. AKAIBE, N. WOOLLEN, G. LUDWIG, C.J. PETERS & T.G. KSIAZEK (1999). Search for the Ebola virus reservoir in Kikwit, Democratic Republic of the Congo : reflections on a vertebrate collection. *The Journal of Infectious Diseases*, 179 : 155-163.
- MADDALENA, T., E. VAN DER STRAETEN, L. NTAHUGA & A. SPARTI (1989). Nouvelles données et caryotypes des rongeurs du Burundi. *Rev. Suisse Zool.*, 96 : 561-570.
- MATTHEY, R. (1959). Formules chromosomiques de Muridae et de Spalacidae. La question du polymorphisme chromosomique chez les Mammifères. *Rev. Suisse Zool.*, 66 : 173-209.
- MATTHEY, R. (1963). La formule chromosomique chez sept espèces et sous-espèces de Murinae africains. *Mammalia*, 27 : 157-176.
- MATTHEY, R. (1965). Etudes de cytogénétique sur les Murinae africains appartenant aux genres Arvicanthis, Praomys, Acomys et Mastomys (Rodentia). *Mammalia*, 29 : 228-249.
- MATTHEY, R. (1967). Note sur la cytogénétique de quelques Muridés africains. *Mammalia*, 31 : 281-287.
- MISONNE, X. (1969). African and indo-australian muridae evolutionary trends. *Annales du Musée royal d'Afrique centrale, Tervuren, Belgique* 172, 219 pp.
- NICOLAS, V., W. WENDELEN, W. VERHEYEN & M. COLYN (2003). Geographical distribution and morphometry of *Heimyscus fumosus* (Muridae, Brosset et al. 1965). *Rev. Ecol. (Terre et Vie)*, 58 : 197-208.
- NICOLAS, V. (2003). Systématique et écologie des communautés afrotropicales de muridés (Mammalia : Rodentia) et de sori-

cidés (Mammalia : Insectivora). PhD thesis, Université Rennes 1, 301 pp.

- PETTER, F. (1971). Nouvelles méthodes en systématique des Mammifères : cytotaxonomie et élevage. *Mammalia*, 35 : 351-357.
- PETTER, F. & H. GENEST (1970). Liste préliminaire des rongeurs myomorphes de République Centrafricaine. Description de deux souris nouvelles : *Mus oubanguii* et *Mus goundae*. *Mammalia*, 34 : 451-458.
- ROBBINS, L.W. & R.J. BAKER (1978). Karyotypic data for African Mammals, with a description of an in vivo bone marrow technique. *Bulletin of Carnegie Museum*, 6 : 188-204.
- ROBBINS, L.W., J.R. CHOATE & R.L. ROBBINS (1980). Nongeographic and interspecific variation in four species of *Hylomyscus* (Rodentia : Muridae) in southern Cameroon. *Annals of Carnegie Museum*, 49 : 31-48.
- ROBINSON, T. (2001). The comparative cytogenetics of African small mammals in perspective : status, trends, and bibliography. In : DENYS GRANJON & POULET (eds), *African Small Mammals*, Editions I.R.D, Paris, 185-214.
- SUMNER, A. (1972). A simple technique for demonstrating centromeric heterochromatin. *Exp. Cell Res.*, 75 : 304-306.

- TAYLOR, P. (2000). Patterns of chromosomal variation in Southern African rodents. J. Mammalogy, 81: 317-331.
- VAN DER STRAETEN, E., E. LECOMPTE & C. DENYS (2003). Praomys petteri : une nouvelle espèce de Muridae africain (Mammalia, Rodentia). Bonn. Zool. Beitr., 50(4) : 329-345.
- VERHEYEN, W. & É. VAN DER STRAETEN (1985). Karyological comparison of three different species of *Hybomys* (Mammalia : Muridae). *Proceeding of the International Symposium of African vertebrates* : systematics, phylogeny and evolutionary ecology; Karl Schuchman Editor; Museum Alexander Koenin, Bonn.
- VIEGAS-PÉQUIGNOT, E., B. DUTRILLAUX, M. PROD'HOMME & F. PETTER (1983). Chromosomal phylogeny of Muridae : a study of 10 genera. *Cytogenetics Cell Genet.*, 35 : 269-278.
- VIEGAS-PÉQUIGNOT, E., D. PETIT, T. BENAZZOU, M. PROD'HOMME, M. LOMBARD, F. HOFFSCHIR, J. DESCAILLEAUX & B. DUTRILLAUX (1986). Evolution chromosomique chez les Rongeurs. *Mammalia*, 50 : 164-202.
- VOLOBOUEV, V., A. HOFFMAN, B. SICARD & L. GRANJON (2001). Polymorphism and polytypy for pericentric inversions in 38chromosome *Mastomys* (Rodentia, Murinae) and possible taxonomic implications. *Cytogenet. Cell Genet.*, 92 : 237-242.

Received: November 17, 2003 Accepted: January 18, 2005

Early interaction between deep and superficial layers in avian blastodiscs : uptake of ooplasmic determinants

Marc Callebaut, Emmy Van Nueten, Fernand Harrisson and Hilde Bortier

University of Antwerp, Laboratory of Human Anatomy & Embryology, Groenenborgerlaan 171 B-2020 Antwerpen, Belgium Corresponding author : Marc Callebaut : e-mail: marc.callebaut@ua.ac.be.

ABSTRACT. Parts from radially symmetric prelaid quail blastodiscs placed in culture in contact with isolated cranial quadrants from unincubated chicken blastoderms induce in the chicken upper layer the formation of a miniature embryo with primitive streak and neural plate. Both components (blastodisc parts and upper layer fragments) do not differentiate into an embryo when cultured apart. We concluded that the formation of the avian blastoderm is the result of an interaction between the deep part of the blastodisc and the uncommitted upper layer. Indeed during the culture period the deep part of the quail blastodisc differentiates into quail sickle endoblast and quail junctional endoblast, indicating the formation of Rauber's sickle material in the quail tissue which by induction gives rise to the development of an embryo in the neighbouring upper layer. The here observed induction phenomena result from placing early deep material on more advanced upper layer. This suggests an analogy with the phenomena observed after the eccentric, radially-symmetry-breaking displacement of the deep layer, with reference to the superficial layer which occurs during normal bilateral symmetrization under influence of gravity in undisturbed eggs *in utero*.

KEY WORDS : avian blastoderm, gastrulation, neurulation, Rauber's sickle, symmetrization, δ and γ ooplasms, ooplasmic determinants.

INTRODUCTION

From the experimental studies of LUTZ (1953), VIN-TEMBERGER & CLAVERT (1954) CLAVERT (1960), KOCHAV & EYAL-GILADI (1971) we know that the avian blastodisc before laying presents a radial symmetry. Studies (CALLE-BAUT 1993a, b, c; CALLEBAUT & VAN NUETEN, 1994, 1995; CALLEBAUT et al., 1998) yielded new data about the structure and developmental events in avian intrauterine germ discs during bilateral symmetrization and in unincubated eggs. In the present article we also use the name blastodisc for an intrauterine germ disc. We have shown by the use of the quail chicken chimera technique that Rauber's sickle (RAUBER, 1876) is the early gastrulation organizer in avian blastoderms (CALLEBAUT et al., 1997a). During early incubation it only differentiates into : 1) junctional endoblast by local proliferation of its cells into the neighbouring subgerminal ooplasm; (CALLEBAUT et al., 2000c) and 2) sickle endoblast by centripetal and cranial growth, forming a one-cell-thick layer (CALLEBAUT & VAN NUETEN, 1994; CALLEBAUT et al., 1997b). Although Rauber's sickle and the Rauber's sickle-derived sickle endoblast and junctional endoblast have a very important and indispensable inductive function for the development of the embryonic tissues during gastrulation and neurulation (CALLEBAUT et al., 2003), they never give rise to cells of the embryo proper and therefore belong to the socalled extraembryonic part of the blastoderm (as is also the case for the Nieuwkoop center in amphibians : GUGER & GUMBINER, 1995). In conclusion, the avian Rauber's sickle fulfils the major postulate to be homologous with a functional Nieuwkoop center (NIEUWKOOP, 1969, 1973), namely, the potential for organizer induction without itself contributing to the new structure. Recently, this has been confirmed by molecular biology studies of goosecoid genes in avian blastoderms. Indeed, LEMAIRE et al. (1997) found strong expression of one of the goosecoid genes (GSX) in the upper layer above Rauber's sickle, suggesting induction by the latter. Thus, goosecoid expression was not found in Rauber's sickle, but above it. Later, these upper layers will ingress and form the primitive streak and Hensen's node, which are also GSXexpressing. The latter are close to the amphibian organizer in SPEMANN & MANGOLD'S definition (1924). Thus, Rauber's sickle and not Hensen's node (which develops much later as a complex secondary structure) is the early organizer of the avian embryo (CALLEBAUT & VAN NUETEN, 1994; CALLEBAUT et al., 1996, 1998). Moreover, during the peripheral migration of mesoblast, Rauber's sickle induces the formation of blood islands (CALLEBAUT et al., 2000a) and associated coelomic vesicles, followed by the development of vitelline blood vessels with primitive blood cells and the coelomic cavity including the heart and pericard (CALLEBAUT et al., 2004a). After culture of isolated chicken cranial quadrants (from unincubated avian blastoderms) always a preneural plate forms (CALLEBAUT et al., 2000b). Sections of the latter show a pronounced thickening of the upper layer above the deep layer composed of segregated endophyll. On sections the thickened UL is separated from the endophyll by a large space, and presents localized "banding" of the nuclei (ENGLAND, 1973) indicating primary neural induction (ENGLAND & LAWSON, 1993) in the absence of chordamesoderm (CALLEBAUT & VAN NUETEN, 1995). The latter developmental pattern with only the formation of a preneural plate was also seen after the culture of cranial quadrants from unincubated quail blastoderms (CALLE-BAUT & VAN NUETEN, 1995). In a part of the isolated cra-

nial quadrants also a more or less developed primitive streak was seen. The reason for this different developmental behaviour was the occasional presence (proximity) or absence of Rauber's sickle horns in the cranial quadrants. Whole egg yolk balls from quail eggs extracted before bilateral symmetrization (in a white calcareous shell) develop normally during incubation in a humid atmosphere (CALLEBAUT, 1993a). Even when cultured *in toto* in egg white outside their egg shell, they will still develop (CALLEBAUT 1991; CALLEBAUT et al., 2000b). By contrast in the present study, we observed that blastodiscs (or part of them) extracted before bilateral symmetrization and separated from their subgerminal ooplasm and their egg yolk ball, do not develop when cultured in vitro. However parts of these unsymmetrized quail blastodiscs, placed in contact with the upper layer of isolated cranial quadrants from unincubated chicken blastoderms, induce a miniature embryo. In the present study we try to explain these phenomena by comparing them with the normal early interaction in ovo between upper and deeper part of the avian blastodisc.



Fig. 1. – Schematic representation of the transplantation of fragments (quadrants or only the central part) of radially symmetric extracted quail blastodiscs (dotted seen in the middle region of the figure) on cranial chicken quadrants (left of the figure) or an anti-sickle regions (right of the figure).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The used quail (Coturnix coturnix japonica) eggs were extracted from the uterus at the beginning of calcification i.e. approximately 10h after oviposition of the previous egg, according to STEPINSKA & OLSZANSKA (1983). From these extracted quail eggs the blastodiscs were removed and the whole blastodisc or parts of it were incubated in vitro according to the culture method of NEW (1955) or SPRATT (1947). Other quail blastodiscs were sectioned in quadrants or only, the central part of it was isolated (Fig. 1). These quadrants or central parts were then placed in culture with their deep side on the deep side of the isolated cranial quadrant or anti-sickle region of an unincubated chicken blastoderm. In a similar way they were cultured in vitro. Stereomicroscopic polaroid photographs were taken always in the same direction, at the beginning, during and at the end of the culture period (23-28h). Fixation was performed overnight in a modified Heidenhain's fixative (ROMEIS, 1948) containing 0,5g sodium chloride, 2g trichloric acid, 4ml acetic acid, 20ml formalin and 80ml water. After rinsing in tap water the blastoderm

associations were placed *in toto* in Unna solution. After rapid dehydration in a graded alcohol series and embedding in paraffin wax they were sectioned perpendicular to the visible or presumed axis. The UNNA staining permitted eventual observation of the orientation of the embryo in the paraffin wax before sectioning. The deparaffinized 8 μ m thick sections were Feulgen-stained after DEMALSY & CALLEBAUT (1967) in order to be able to identify the origin of the nuclei in the chimeric blastoderms. This allowed us to observe the typical central or subcentral chromatin granule in the nuclei of the grafted quail cells (CALLEBAUT, 1968; KOSHIDA & KOSIN, 1968; LEDOUARIN & BARQ, 1969) as well as to observe their relationship with the chicken tissues.



Fig. 2A. – Micrograph of a whole extracted prelaid radially symmetric quail blastodisc at the start of the culture (same magnification as Fig. 3A).

Fig. 2B. – The same blastodisc as seen in Fig. 2A. after 1 day of culture : no developmental phenomena have taken place; the disc has a denser aspect now (same magnification as Fig. 3A). Fig. 3A. – On the cranial quadrant of an unincubated chicken blastoderm a central circular fragment (F) of a prelaid radially

symmetric quail blastodisc has been placed; bar : 1mm. Fig. 3B. – The chimera of Fig. 3A. after approximately 1 day of culture : note the development of a radially directed miniature embryo with visible neural plate (N) and primitive streak in its prolongation; bar : 1mm.

Fig. 3C. – Feulgen stained section through the embryo seen in Fig. 3B. shows the presence of a fully developed primitive streak with groove (G); bar : 200 μ m.

RESULTS

Culture of whole radially symmetric intrauterine quail germ discs (blastodiscs after extraction from the uterus) (n = 6)

Such a blastodisc at the start of the culture period is seen in Fig. 2A. After 23h of culture, no differentiation or

growth is observed (Fig. 2B). On sections nor a neural plate, nor a primitive streak is seen indicating the total absence of induction phenomena.



Fig. 3D. – Section through the nodus region (N) of a similar embryo as in fig. 3B.; bar : $200\mu m$.

Fig. 3E. – Section through the neural plate (NP) region formed in the embryo of Fig. 3B.; bar : $200\mu m$.

Fig. 3F. – Feulgen stained section through the primitive streak forming area of the embryo of Fig. 3B. Note laterally the voluminous junctional endoblast containing quail cells (indicated by upside directed arrows) and the flat one cell thick more medial sickle endoblast also containing quail cells (indicated by downside directed arrows); the upper chicken layer (epiblast) in which the primitive streak is induced is seen at the bottom of the figure; bar : $100\mu m$.

Fig. 4A. – The central circular part (F) of a prelaid radially symmetric quail germ disc was placed on an isolated anti-sickle region of an unincubated chicken blastoderm at the start of the culture period; bar : 1mm.

Fig. 4B. – The quail-chicken chimera of Fig. 4A. after 20h of culture : a dense (pre)neural plate (N) has formed (confirmed by sectioning); bar : 1mm.

Placing the deep side of a fragment of a similar unsymmetrized quail blastodisc on the deep side of a chicken cranial quadrant in culture (Fig. 3A) (n = 14)

After culture a miniature embryo with a radially placed axis is observed (Fig. 3B). On sections this axis is seen to be partially formed by a primitive streak (Fig. 3C) with a more or less developed nodus (Fig. 3D). In other serial sections a neural plate localized centrally or peripherally (or both) form the primitive streak area, can be discerned (Fig. 3E). The primitive streaks are formed from chicken tissue and are seen to be in association with quail tissue. They are formed in the median part of the upper layer of the area limited by V-shaped quail junctional endoblast (derived from the locally developed Rauber's sickle (Fig. 3F). Quail sickle endoblast (Fig. 3F) is seen laterally from the primitive streak, as the result of the displacement by the concentrically expanding definitive chicken endoderm derived from the tip of the primitive streak. Central fragments of quail germ discs give in general a better embryonic development than quadrants.

Placing a fragment of radially symmetric quail blastodisc on the deep side of a chicken anti-sickle region in culture (n = 8) (Fig. 4A)

In half of this associations a preneural plate was induced (Fig. 4B) but no primitive streak developed. In another half of the cases, no induction phenomena were observed. Here also a central part excised from a quail germ disc, induces more prominent phenomena in the chicken upper layer.

DISCUSSION

Our results show that whole radially symmetric extracted quail germ discs do not develop in vitro in conditions which permit normal development of bilaterally symmetrized unincubated blastoderms. By contrast a fragment of a similar radially symmetric quail blastodisc, placed with its deep side on the deep side of a chicken cranial quadrant, or anti-sickle region differentiates and induces gastrulation and neurulation phenomena. The miniature embryo which so develops is formed by a concerted action between both fragments of different origin and developmental stage. A circular centrally excised fragment of quail germ disc gives the best final development. That these central regions have a more powerful inducing effect on the chicken upper layer is probably the consequence of the presence of a greater part of nucleus of Pander material (containing δ -ooplasm surrounded by some γ -ooplasm : CALLEBAUT, 1987). The localization of the δ and surrounding γ ooplasm in the radially symmetric quail blastodisc and neighboring underlying ooplasm is represented schematically in Fig. 5A. After bilateral symmetrization, in the unincubated blastoderm, Rauber's sickle material is found in the γ ooplasm of the future caudolateral part of the germ disc (Fig. 5B). These ooplasmic layers extend vertically to the upper layer. In the diametrically oposed anti-sickle region the γ containing ooplasm is disrupted from the future cranial part of the blastoderm (which contains no γ ooplasm) (Fig. 5C). The ooplasmic layers in the future cranial region are horizontally disposed and are less condensed then in the caudal Rauber's sickle region as the result of the eccentric tilting of the ooplasm and egg yolk (CALLEBAUT, 1993a, b, c). In a recent study we have seen that the nucleus of Pander (before bilateral symmetrization) has a preneurulation and sometimes a concommited gastrulation effect (CALLEBAUT et al., 2004b). We know that the first cleavage furrows penetrate deeply in the superficial part of the



Fig. 5A. – Schematic representation of the circular localization (seen in vertical projection) of the γ ooplasm (γ) in the avian blastodisc before bilateral symmetrization. The γ ooplasm surrounds the more central δ ooplasm (white in the figure).

Fig. 5B. – Schematic representation of the ovoid localization of the γ ooplasm (seen in vertical projection) in the bilateral symmetrized blastoderm; the condensated Rauber's sickle (RS) and the expanded anti-sickle region (AS) have eccentrically formed in the γ ooplasm which surrounds the δ ooplasm.

Fig. 5C. – Schematic representation (simplified after CALLE-BAUT, 1993b) of the localization of the γ and δ ooplasm in a mediosagittal section of an unincubated avian blastoderm (bilaterally symmetrized) : caudally in the neighborhood of the Rauber's sickle (RS) the layers in the γ ooplasm are condensed vertically and adhere to the upper layer, whilst cranially in the antisickle region (AS) the layers are horizontally flattened and are not taken up by the blastoderm; E : endophyll and NP : nucleus of Pander both containing δ ooplasm (δ). nucleus of Pander (composed of δ ooplasm) which gives rise to also δ ooplasm-containing endophyll and primordial germ cells (CALLEBAUT, 1984). Preneurulation phenomena appear initially in the neighbourhood of δ ooplasm-containing structures i.e. nucleus of Pander and endophyll. The δ ooplasm seems thus to play an early role in (pre)neurulation phenomena, while the more peripheral and more superficial γ ooplasm influences early gastrulation. In the sickle-shaped region where the γ ooplasm, forming Rauber's sickle is taken up by the germ during and after bilateral symmetrization, gastrulation phenomena start with formation of a primitive streak close to the place where the spatially oblique uptake is maximal i.e. in the middle of Rauber's sickle (CALLEBAUT, 1993c, 1994). A similar phenomenon takes place by the oblique formation of the subgerminal space (CALLEBAUT, 1987, 1993b), through the nucleus of Pander (containing δ ooplasm). This makes that endophyll (also containing δ ooplasm) is only taken up in the caudal half of the germ. The latter is responsible for preneurulation phenomena. This indicates the fundamental influence of the uptake of ooplasmic determinants respectively for gastrulation (by γ ooplasm containing cells) and for preneurulation (by δ ooplasm) phenomena. From a comparative literature study, EYAL-GILADI (1997) concludes that the establishment of the axis in chordates (axialization with bilateral symmetrization) depends on the translocation of oocytal (maternal) determinants form the vegetal pole towards the future dorsocaudal side of the embryo. On arrival at their destination the activated determinants form in all chordates, an induction center homologous to the amphibian "Nieuwkoop center" (or avian Rauber's sickle) which later will respectively induce the formation of the "Spemann's organizer" or the avian Hensen's node. Our studies confirm this hypothesis. The placing of a fragment of quail germ disc on a cranial chicken blastoderm quadrant produces a more developed miniature embryo then after the placing on an isolated anti-sickle region. This can probably be explained by the quantity of involved chicken blastoderm. The presence of quail sickle endoblast and quail junctional endoblast in the present experiments demonstrates that both have a preponderant influence in the formation and orientation of the chicken primitive streak. The difference in developmental potencies in vitro between an unsymmetrized blastodisc which is removed from its underlying ooplasm and yolk and an unsymmetrized blastodisc which remains on its egg yolk ball seems due to the eccentric dislocation of the upper layer with reference to the underlying ooplasm during the oblique positioning of the egg in toto by which γ ooplasm is taken up forming Rauber's sickle (Figs 5B-C). Indeed a similar phenomenon occurs in our present experiments when early radially symmetric quail deep layer material and ooplasm comes in contact with the deep side of the chicken upper layer. So an artificial association of elements from originally differently localized regions takes place, resulting in the differentiation of deep material into Rauber's sickle derived junctional and sickle endoblast which finally organize and dominate the whole induced embryo (CALLEBAUT et al., 2003), without forming part of the final embryonic tissues.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors thank Mr. F. De Bruyn for excellent artwork and Mrs. V. De Maere for typing the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- CALLEBAUT, M. (1968). Extracorporal development of quail oocytes. *Experientia*, 24 : 1242-1243.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1984). Avian primordial germ cells contain yolk from the nucleus of Pander. *IRCS Med. Sci.*, 12: 730-731.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1987). Ooplasmic localization and segregation in quail germs : fate of the four ooplasms. *Arch Biol (Brux)*, 98 : 441-473.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1991). Methods for studying early development of avian germs on their egg yolk in a vertical or inverted position. *Eur. Arch. Biol.*, 102 : 197-199.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1993a). Early eccentricity in gravitationally oriented quail germs. *Eur. J. Morph.*, 31 : 5-8.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1993b). Unequal caudocephalic ooplasmic uptake and eccentric formation of the subgerminal space below unincubated quail blastoderms presenting a Koller's sickle. *Belg. J. Zool.*, 123 : 107-112.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1993c). Development of quail germs during and after gravitationally oriented bilateral symmetrization. *Eur. Arch. Biol.*, 104 : 135-140.
- CALLEBAUT, M. (1994). Relationship between the avian blastoderm and the subgerminal ooplasm. *Eur. Arch. Biol.*, 105 : 111-123.
- CALLEBAUT, M. & E. VAN NUETEN (1994). Rauber's (Koller's sickle): The early gastrulation organizer of the avian blastoderm. *Eur. J. Morph.*, 32: 35-48.
- CALLEBAUT, M. & E. VAN NUETEN (1995). Gastrulation inducing potencies of endophyll and Rauber's sickle in isolated caudocranially oriented prestreak avian blastoderm quadrants (or fragments) in vitro. *Eur. J. Morph.*, 33 : 221-235.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, H. BORTIER, F. HARRISSON & L. VAN NASSAUW (1996). Map of the Anlage fields in the avian unincubated blastoderm. *Eur. J. Morph.*, 34(5): 347-361.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, F. HARRISSON, L. VAN NAS-SAUW, A. SCHREVENS & H. BORTIER (1997a). Avian gastrulation and neurulation are not impaired by the removal of the marginal zone at the unincubated blastoderm stage. *Eur. J. Morph.*, 35 : 69-77.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, H. BORTIER, F. HARRISSON, L. VAN NASSAUW & A. SCHREVENS (1997b). Spatial relationship between endophyll, primordial germ cells, sickle endoblast and upper layer in cultured avian blastoderms. *Reprod. Nutr. Dev.*, 35 : 293-304.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, L. VAN NASSAUW, H. BORTIER & F. HARRISSON (1998). Only the endophyll-Rauber's sickle complex and not Cells derived from the caudal marginal zone induce a primitive streak in the upper layer of avian blastoderm. *Reprod. Nutr. Dev.*, 38 : 449-463.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, F. HARRISSON & H. BORTIER (2000a). Development of the sickle canal, an unrecognized formation in the avian blastoderm, and its spatial relationship with the first appearing blood islands, induced by Rauber's sickle. *Belg. J. Zool.*, 130 : 143-156.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, F. HARRISSON & H. BORTIER (2000b). Mechanisms of caudocephalic axis formation in the avian germ disc. *Belg. J. Zool.*, 130 : 67-79.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, F. HARRISSON, L. VAN NAS-SAUW & H. BORTIER (2000c). Avian junctional endoblast has strong embryo –inducing and dominating potencies. *Eur. J. Morph.*, 38 : 3-16.

- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, H. BORTIER & F. HARRISSON (2003). Rauber's sickle generates only extraembryonic tissues (junctional- and sickle endoblast), and, by positional information, organizes and dominates the whole avian blastoderm (gastulation, neurulation and blood island formation). *Belg. J. Zool.*, 133 : 45-59.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, H. BORTIER & F. HARRISSON (2004a). Induction of the avian coelom with associated vitelline blood circulation by Rauber's sickle derived junctional endoblast and its fundamental role in heart formation. J. Morph., 259 : 21-32.
- CALLEBAUT, M., E. VAN NUETEN, F. HARRISSON & H. BORTIER (2004b). Induction and improved embryonic development by the nucleus of Pander in associated avian blastoderm parts : the influence of δ or γ ooplasm. *J. Morph.*, 260 : 201-208.
- CLAVERT, I. (1960). Déterminisme de la symétrie bilaterale chez les oiseaux. IV Existence d'une phase critique pour la symétrization de l'œuf. Son stade. Arch. Anat. Microsc. Morph. Exp., 49 : 345-361.
- DEMALSY, P. & M. CALLEBAUT (1967). Plain water as a rinsing agent preferable to sulfurous acid after the Feulgen nuclear reaction. *Stain technol.*, 42 : 133-136.
- ENGLAND, M.A. (1973). The occurence of a band of nuclei in primary neural induction in the chick embryo. *Experientia*, 31: 1449-1451.
- ENGLAND, M.A. & A. LAWSON (1993). Natural wound formation : endodermal responses in experimental primary neural induction in the chick embryo. *Anat. Rec.*, 236 : 710-730.
- EYAL-GILADI, H. (1997). Establishment of the axis in chordates : facts and speculations. *Development*, 124 : 2285-2296.
- GUGER, K. & B. GUMBINER (1995). B-Catenin has Wnt-like activity and mimics the Nieuwkoop signaling center in Xenopus dorsal-ventral patterning. *Dev. Biol.*, 172: 115-125.
- KOCHAV, S. & H. EYAL-GILADI (1971). Bilateral symmetry in the chick embryo. Determination by gravity. *Science*, 171 : 1027-1029.
- KOSHIDA Y. & I. KOSIN (1968). Intranuclear sex dimorphism in the feathers of six species of galliformes. *Cytologia (Tokyo)*, 33 : 230-240.
- LE DOUARIN N. & G. BARQ (1969). Sur l'utilisation des cellules de la caille japonaise comme marqueurs biologiques en embryologie expérimentale. *CR Acad Sci Paris*, 269 : 1543-1546.
- LEMAIRE, L., T. ROESER, J. IZPISÚA-BELMONTE & M. KESSEL (1997). Segregating expression domains of two goosecoid genes during the transition from gastrulation to neurulation in chick embryos. *Development*, 124 : 1443-1452.
- LUTZ, H. (1953). L'orientation des axes embryonnaires dans la gémellité expérimentale chez les oiseaux et son déterminisme. *Bull. Biol. France et Belg.*, 86 : 34-67.
- NEW, D.A.T. (1955). A new technique for the cultivation of the chick embryo. J. Embryol. Exp. Morph., 3 : 326-331.
- NIEUWKOOP, P. (1969). The formation of the mesoderm in urodelean amphibians. I Induction by the endoderm. *Roux Arch Dev. Biol.*, 162 : 341-373.
- NIEUWKOOP, P. (1973). The "organizing center" of the amphibian embryo: its spatial organization and morphogenetic action. *Adv Morphogen.*, 10: 1-39.
- RAUBER, A. (1876). Uber die Stellung des Hünchens im Entwicklungsplan. W ENGELMANN, Leipzig.
- ROMEIS W. (1948). Mikroskopische technik 15 Aufl. Leibnitz, München.
- SPEMANN, H. & H. MANGOLD (1924). Über die Induktion von Embryoanlagen durch Implantation artfremder Organisatoren. *Roux Arch. Entwicklungsmech.*, 100 : 599-638.

SPRATT, N. (1947). A simple method for explanting and cultivating early chick embryos in vitro. *Science*, 106 : 452.

- STEPINSKA, U. & B. OLSZANSKA (1983). Cell multiplication and blastoderm development in relation to egg envelope formation during uterine development of quail (*Coturnix coturnix japonica*) embryo. J. Exp. Zool., 228 : 505-510.
- VINTEMBERGER, P. & I. CLAVERT (1954). Sur le détermisme de la symétrie bilaterale chez les oiseaux. V Notion de l'existence, durant le séjour de l'œuf dans l'utérus d'une période critique déterminante dans la réalisation de la symétrie bilatérale. *C.R. Soc. Biol.*, 148 : 1489-1493.

Received: Mach 4, 2004 Accepted: December 10, 2004

Habitat differences in the food composition of the wasplike spider *Argiope bruennichi* (Scop.) (Aranei : Araneidae) in Poland

Paweł Szymkowiak¹, Piotr Tryjanowski², Aleksander Winiecki³, Seweryn Grobelny³ and Szymon Konwerski⁴

¹ Department of Animal Taxonomy and Ecology, Adam Mickiewicz University, Umultowska 89, 61-614 Poznań, Poland

² Department of Behavioural Ecology, Adam Mickiewicz University, Umultowska 89, 61-614 Poznań, Poland

³ Department of Avian Biology and Ecology, Adam Mickiewicz University, Umultowska 89, 61-614 Poznań, Poland

⁴ Department of Zoology, Agricultural University in Szczecin, Doktora Judyma 20, 71-466 Szczecin, Poland

Corresponding author: Paweł Szymkowiak, Department of Animal Taxonomy and Ecology, Adam Mickiewicz University, Umultowska 89, 61-614 Poznań, Poland; e-mail: szymkowi@amu.edu.pl

ABSTRACT. During the last few decades the wasp-like spider *Argiope bruennichi* Scopoli, 1772 expanded its wide geographical distribution in Europe. In this paper we describe and test differences in the diet composition of the wasp-like spider inhabiting a river valley (traditional habitat) and xerothermic grassland (new habitat) in Poland. From a total of 163 webs of *A. bruennichi*, 430 prey items were found, mainly insects : Coleoptera, Diptera, Homoptera, Heteroptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, Mecoptera, Odonata, Orthoptera and Neuroptera. Moreover, a semi digested specimen of the common frog *Rana temporaria* was recorded. Habitats differed significantly in the percentage distribution of eleven general food categories. Among potential influencing factors the number of caught prey was correlated only with the height of the web hub above the ground. The wasp-like spider is ecologically flexible in the use of novel food spectra and this probably allows the colonisation of new localities, as well as habitats.

KEY WORDS : Argiope bruennichi, diet, prey selection, web structure, frogs.

INTRODUCTION

Amongst orb-weaving spiders the wasp-like spider Argiope bruennichi Scopoli, 1772 expanded its geographical range to northern parts of Europe. The range of the wasp-like spider was previously limited to south-east Europe (POETZSCH, 1963 BARABASZ & GÓRZ, 1998). However, during the last few decades the species has colonized many new sites in Belgium, France, The Netherlands, Poland, Denmark, Sweden and even Great Britain (GUTTMANN, 1979; JONSSON & WILANDER, 1999; MOYES, 1997; SCHARFF & LANGEMARK, 1997). The most important factors causing rapid geographical expansion of the wasp-like spider are: climate change, especially the increase in numbers of sunny and dry days in summer, floods of large rivers in Europe, as well as the establishment of large open habitats due to deforestation and drainage (DZIABASZEWSKI, 1959; GUTTMANN, 1979; HELSDIN-GEN, 1982; PUTS, 1989; WEICKMANN & GROBMEIER, 1997; Scharff & Langemark, 1997; Linden, 2000).

Similar to other orb-weaving spiders, *A. bruennichi* is a generalist predator (RIECHERT & LUCZAK, 1982; RIECHERT & HARP, 1987; MALT et al., 1990; FASOLA, 1999). However, many studies showed that orthopterous insects and dragonflies were the main prey of the spider (URBAŃSKI, 1948; BEDNARZ, 1966; NYFFELER & BENZ, 1978; BARABASZ & GÓRZ, 1998). Moreover, CONRAD & BREINL (1992) even indicated a strong dependence between rich orthopteran fauna and distribution of *A. bruennichi* and linked the geographical range of the

wasp-like spider with orthopteran abundance, as potential food supply. On the other hand, some authors showed that other prey, such as dipterans, hemipterans (mainly aphids) and hymenopterans constituted an important part of the wasp-like spider diet (NYFFELER & BENZ, 1982; MALT et al., 1990). However, in publications on wasp-like spider diet only a simple description of food content is given, without linking it to habitat, potential food sources, or web structure.

Therefore, in this study we focused on (1) a description of the wasp-like spider's diet composition in two different habitats in Poland; (2) analyses of differences in prey caught in both habitats; (3) some factors affecting hunting success connected especially with web structure (e.g. stabilimenta). We discuss our findings in the light of colonisation of new areas (*sensu* localities, as well as habitats) in Poland (particularly) and in Europe (generally).

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Studies were carried out during August 1999 in the Wielkopolska province, western Poland (52° N, 16° E). The study area covers two different habitats : wetland in the Warta river valley, near the village of Wrąbczykowskie Holendry (Pyzdry region) and small marginal grassland habitats (arable fields), near the villages : Powodowo, Obra, Daszewice (Wolsztyn and Poznań regions). The density of wasp-like spiders in both habitats is similar, ca 0.3 orb-webs/1m².

The spider webs were monitored before noon, mainly 9-11 a.m. The geographical exposition was measured based on the axis of the web elevation to the ground level. To ensure that chosen prey items of *A. bruennichi* were sampled, only wrapped preys were removed from webs and stored in tubes with ethyl alcohol (70%). To explain silk details (stabilimenta and turns on stabilimenta) on webs, Fig. 1 was supplied. Because we did not control all parameters for all webs, sample size is different in various analyses. Standard statistical methods were used to describe and analyse the data (ZAR, 1999). All statistical tests were two-tailed. We considered P < 0.05 as the minimum acceptable level of significance.

RESULTS

Prey structure

Sampling a total of 163 webs of *A. bruennichi* revealed 430 prey items (mean \pm SD = 2.6 \pm 1.3 prey/web). In the webs, insects from the following ten orders were represented : Coleoptera, Diptera, Homoptera, Heteroptera, Hymenoptera, Lepidoptera, Mecoptera, Odonata, Orthoptera and Neuroptera. The most numerous species caught in the webs were : Blue-tailed Damselfly *Ischnura elegans* (Van der Linden, 1832) and a squash bug *Coreus*

marginatus (Linnaeus, 1758). Moreover, in one web an eleventh category, one semidigested specimen of the common frog *Rana temporaria* (Linnaeus, 1758), was found.

Dragonflies and dipterans contributed over 62% of the total prey captures - Table I.



Fig. 1. – Web structure of A. bruennichi.

Composition of prey capture species in two different habitats.
Explanations: RV - river valley, XH - xerothermic habitats

TABLE I

Order	Family	Prey items	RV	XH
Coleoptera	Chrysomelidae	Agelastica alni (Linnaeus, 1758)	1	
		Cassida vittata Villers, 1789	3	
		Cassida viridis Linnaeus, 1758	1	
		Gastrophysa polygoni (Linnaeus, 1758)		4
		<i>Phyllotreta</i> sp.		2
	Coccinellidae	Coccinella septempunctata Linnaeus, 1758	2	
		Tytthaspis sedecimpunctata (Linnaeus, 1761)		2
		Propylea quatuordecimpunctata (Linnaeus, 1758)		1
	Geotrupidae	Anoplotrupes stercorosus (Hartmann, 1791)	1	
	Cetoniidae	Protaetia cuprea (Fabricius, 1775)	1	
	Staphylinidae		1	
	Phalacridae			1
	Latridiidae			8
Diptera	Bibionidae		1	
	Chironomidae		2	
	Culicidae		3	
	Syrphidae		1	
	other		10	104
Homoptera	Cercopidae		3	30
Heteroptera	Coreidae	Coreus marginatus (Linnaeus, 1758)	20	
	Miridae		3	
	Nabidae		1	
	Pentatomidae		6	
	Scutellaridae	Eurygaster sp.	3	
	other			26
Hymenoptera			7	
	Argidae		1	
	Formicidae		1	
	other		2	8
Lepidoptera	Pyralidae	Pleuroptya ruralis (Scopoli, 1763)		6
	other			11
Mecoptera	Panorpidae	Panorpa communis Linnaeus, 1758	4	
Odonata	Coenagrionidae	Ischnura elegans (Van der Linden, 1823)	134	
	Libellulidae	Sympetrum sanguineum Müller, 1764	5	
	other			6
Orthoptera	Tetrigidae	Tetrix subulata (Linnaeus, 1758)	1	
	Tettigoniidae	Metrioptera roeselii (Hagenbach, 1822)	1	
Neuroptera	Chrysopidae			1
Anura	Ranidae	Rana temporaria (Linnaeus, 1758)	1	
Web site / web attachment substrate

Webs of the wasp-like spider were located on 20 plants. The spider spun their webs most commonly on grasses (Poaceae) and nettle *Urtica dioica* (Urticaceae). We found significant differences in plant species composition used by spiders for web building in the two habitats (Table II, chi-square = 63.0, df = 9, P < 0.0001, calculated only for plant taxa with over 5 spider webs). In the river valley Poaceae, *Gallium* and *Urtica* were used more commonly, whereas in xerothermic grassland : Poaceae, *Oenanthe* and *Carex* were used (Table II).

TABLE II

Plants used as a basis for web in two habitats in western Poland. Explanations – see TABLE I.

Plant]	RV	2	ХH	total		
Tiant	Ν	%	Ν	%	Ν	%	
Achillea	3	2.34			3	1.76	
Alnus	4	3.13			4	2.35	
Carex	2	1.56	6	14.29	8	4.71	
Cirsium	8	6.25			8	4.71	
Equisetum	3	2.34			3	1.76	
Frangula	5	3.91			5	2.94	
Galium	14	10.94			14	8.24	
Poacea	27	21.09	21	50.00	48	28.24	
Juncus	6	4.69			6	3.53	
Lamium	1	0.78			1	0.59	
Mentha	8	6.25	4	9.52	12	7.06	
Oenanthe		0.00	9	21.43	9	5.29	
Plantago	1	0.78			1	0.59	
Potentilla	6	4.69			6	3.53	
Rhamnus	2	1.56			2	1.18	
Rubus	4	3.13			4	2.35	
Rumex	1	0.78	2	4.76	3	1.76	
Umbelliferae	2	1.56			2	1.18	
Urtica	24	18.75			24	14.12	
Vicia	7	5.47			7	4.12	
No. of plant	19		5		20		

Differences in diet composition between habitats

We found significant differences in diet composition between the habitats (Table I; Fig. 1). In the river valley a higher percentage of dragonflies (63.2%), and lower percentage of dipterans (7.7%) and homopterans (1.4%) and a lack of lepidopterans in the wasp-like spider diet were found. However, in xerothermic grassland the food spectrum consisted of dipterans (49.5%) and hemipterans (26.7%). Habitats differed significantly in the percentage distribution of the eleven general food categories (chisquare = 233.1, df = 10, P < 0.0001).

Factors affecting prey capture

We found no significant relation between the number of prey in the webs and direction of the web geographical exposition (Kruskal-Wallis ANOVA, H_{8,40} = 9.508, P = 0.301). The webs (hubs) were on average (\pm SD) 54.4 \pm 16.0 cm above ground level (range 15-85 cm, n = 40). The number of caught prey was correlated with height of the web hub above ground level (Fig. 2, Spearman rank correlation, r_s = 0.315, n = 40, P = 0.048).



Fig. 2. – Relationship between height of web hub above ground and number of prey caught by the wasp-like spider. Data for both habitats were pooled.

Relationships between the number of prey and web structure

Altogether 40 webs were taken for analysis from both habitats. There were 12.5% of webs with no stabilimentum, 62.5% of webs with one stabilimentum and 25% of webs with two stabilimenta (mean \pm SD : 1.13 \pm 0.61). Concerning turns on stabilimentum we found the highest frequency of six turns (17.5%) among analysed webs with such decorations (mean \pm SD : 7.2 \pm 4.6). There was no significant correlation between the number of captured prey and the number of stabilimenta on the web (Spearman rank correlation r_s = - 0.091, n = 40, P = 0.578), nor between the number of captured prey and the number of stabilimenta rank correlation r_s = -0.017, n = 40, P = 0.917). The webs with different number of stabilimenta did not differ significantly in height above ground level (ANOVA, F_{2.37} = 2.237, P = 0.112).

DISCUSSION

The food of web building spiders, including *A. bruennichi*, is mainly selectively filtered from the air (NEN-TWIG, 1987). However, the wasp-like spider traps in the web both small sized insects (dipterans or aphids) as well as larger ones living on plants and/or the ground (grasshoppers or beetles). However, large sized insects even with a lower percentage among prey items can play an important role in providing food biomass for the orbweavers (HOWELL & ELLENDER, 1984). The composition of the diet of orb-weavers included mainly the groups such as Homoptera and Diptera (NENTWIG, 1987). *Argiope bruennichi* was known, especially in earlier publications, as a species that specialised in catching large sized invertebrates, mainly grasshoppers (URBAŃSKI, 1948; CROME & CROME, 1961; POETZSCH, 1963; BEDNARZ,

1966; PFLETSCHINGER, 1976). Our findings (a small (0.5%) proportion of orthopteran prey items) suggest that especially in newly occupied habitats, the wasp-like spider could explore a new diet spectrum of Diptera and Hemipterans. NYFFELER & BENZ (1978), obtained similar results during a study of prey selection of the wasp-like spider on fallow land near Zurich (Switzerland). This suggests that the trapping of small prey is a possible adaptation to new habitats where much larger food items, e.g. grasshoppers and dragonflies are strongly limited. Although the wasp-like spider is behaviourally adapted (PASQUET & LEBORGNE, 1990, 1998) to catch orthopterans, the choice of smaller prey is an advantage to expand geographical distribution to the North (INDYKIEWICZ et al., 1995; BARABASZ & GÓRZ, 1998), as well as to occupy new habitats : small patches of xerothermic grassland in intensively used farmland, or even arable field (BARA-BASZ & GÓRZ, 1998; CICHOCKI, 1998; and our unpublished data).

Moreover, an additional adaptation to the occupation of a new habitat is a change of plant species used as substrate for silk attachment. For a congeneric species, *Argiope aurantia* Lucas, 1833, MCREYNOLDS (2000) found that webs on grasses were more effective in trapping orthopteran prey than those established on herbs and composites. However, we did not test this relationship directly; we can only suggest that the use of a wide range of plants in new habitats improved possibilities of catching novel prey sources.

An important factor improving spider foraging strategy is web structure, especially conspicuous silk structures called stabilimenta (HERBERSTEIN et al., 2000). It is suggested that increased number of stabilimenta can attract prey to the web (STARKS, 2002). HERBERSTEIN (2000), in a study of Argiope keyserlingi Karsch 1878, showed that webs with more stabilimenta caught more prey than webs carrying fewer decorations. However, this author did not find a relation between web height above ground and the rate of prey capture. Our findings are in contrast to this. The number of prey caught by the wasp-like spider was correlated with web (hub) height above ground level. We found that higher webs were more successful. Furthermore, we did not find an effect of the number of stabilimenta on the number of prey items in the web. BLACK-LEDGE & WENZEL (1999), studying dipterans as prey, obtained interesting results and found that this group of airborne insects were less frequently caught in webs with stabilimenta than in those without stabilimenta. Wasp-like spiders feed mainly on tiny invertebrates on the northern part of their distribution and our results show that Odonata and Orthoptera were caught very seldom. Therefore, this is probably the reason why stabilimenta are not needed to catch most of such spider prey. Selection pressure should cause a significant decrease in the percentage of webs with those ornaments and it should be tested during a long-term study in the future.

We found also the capture and partly ingestion of a small specimen of the common frog by the wasp-like spider. It is, according to our knowledge, the first record of foraging on a vertebrate by *A. bruennichi* (RIECHERT & LUCZAK, 1982; RIECHERT & HARP, 1987 and other cited literature). To fully understand the role of food in the col-

onisation of new localities and habitats this problem should be studied in detail, both by description of diet contents and by field experiments.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank A. Gawroński for his help in data collection, S. Mielewczyk for his help in dragonfly identification, and V. Takacs, P. Zduniak and three anonymous reviewers for valuable comments on earlier versions of the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- BARABASZ, B. & A. GÓRZ (1998). Argiope bruennichi (Scopoli, 1772) rare and insufficiently examined spider species in Poland. Fragmenta Faunistica, 41: 255-267.
- BEDNARZ, S. (1966). New records of Argiope bruennichi Scop. (Argiopidae) in the Lower Silesia. Przegląd Zoologiczny, 10:179-185.
- BLACKLEDGE, T.A. & J.W. WENZEL (1999). Do stabilimenta in orb-webs attract prey or defend spiders? *Behavioral Ecology*, 10 : 372-376.
- CICHOCKI, J. (1998). The occurrence of Argiope bruennichi in crops. Przegląd Przyrodniczy, 9: 113-114.
- CONRAD, R. & K. BREINL (1992). Beitrag zur Ausbreitung der Wespenspinne aus Ostthüringen. Entomologische Nachrichten und Berichte, 36 : 61-63.
- CROME, W. & I. Crome (1961). Paarung und Eiablage bei Argiope bruennichi (Scop.) auf Grund vor Freilandbeobachtung an zwei Populationen im Spreewald/Mark Brandenburg (Araneae : Araneidae). Mitteilungen aus dem Zoologischen Museum in Berlin, 37 : 189-250.
- DZIABASZEWSKI, A. (1959). The spider Argiope bruennichi Scop. in Poland in the light of new investigations. *Przyroda Polski Zachodniej*, 3 : 128-138.
- FASOLA, M. (1999). Experimental competition release in a community of web-weaving spiders. *Italian Journal of Zoology*, 66: 153-158.
- GUTTMANN, R. (1979). Zur Arealentwicklung und Ökologie der Wespenspinne (*Arigiope bruennichi*) in der Bundesrepublik Deutschland und den angrenzenden Ländern (Araneae). *Bonner zoologische Beiträge*, 30 : 454-486.
- HELSDINGEN van, P.J. (1982). Postglacial expansion of *Argiope* bruennichi Scop. now also as far as The Netherlands. *Lev*ende Natuur, 84 : 121-123.
- HERBERSTEIN, M.E., C.L. CRAIG, J.A. CODDINGTON & M.A. Elgar (2000). The functional significance of silk decorations of orb-web spiders : a critical review of the empirical evidence. *Biological Reviews*, 75 : 649-669.
- HERBERSTEIN, M.E. (2000). Foraging behaviour in Orb-Web Spiders (Araneidae) - do web decorations increase prey capture success in Argiope keyserlingi Karsch, 1878. Australian Journal of Zoology, 48 : 217-223.
- HOWELL, F. & R. ELLENDER (1984). Observations on growth and diet of Argiope aurantia Lucas (Araneidae) in a succession habitat. Journal of Arachnology, 12 : 29-36.
- INDYKIEWICZ, P., R. KUCHARSKI & P. ZALETA (1995). Argiope bruennichi Scopoli, 1772 (Aranei) on the eastern border of its distribution in Poland. Przegląd Zoologiczny, 39 : 87-89.
- JONSSON, L.J. & P. WILANDER (1999). Is the wasplike spider, Argiope bruennichi, established in Sweden? Entomologisk Tidskrift, 120 : 17-21.
- LINDEN van der, J. (2000). The expansion of the range of the spider *Argiope bruennichi* in The Netherlands (Araneae : Araneidae). *Nederlandse Faunistische Mededelingen*, 11 : 45-53.
- MALT, S., F.W. SANDER & G. SCHÄLLER (1990). Beitrag zur Nahrungsökologie ausgewählter Araneidae in Halbtrocken-

rasen unter besonderer Berücksichtigung von Argiope bruennichi (Scop.). Zoologische Jahrbücher. Zeitschrift für Systematic, Geographie und Biologie der Tiere, 117 : 237-260.

- MCREYNOLDS, C.N. (2000). The impact of habitat features on web features and prey capture of *Argiope aurantia* (Araneae, Araneidae). *Journal of Arachnology*, 28 : 169-179.
- MOYES, N. (1997). Argiope bruennichi. First record for northern England. Derbyshire Entomological Society Journal, 127: 2-5.
- NENTWIG, W. (1987). The prey of spiders. In : W. NENTWIG (ed.), *Ecophysiology of spiders*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York, London, Tokyo : 249-263.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ (1978). Die Beutespektren der Netzspinnen Argiope bruennichi (Scop.), Araneus quadratus Cl. und Agelena labyrinthica (Cl.) in Ödlandwiesen bei Zürich. Revue Suisse de Zoologie, 85 : 747-757.
- NYFFELER, M. & G. BENZ (1982). Eine Notiz zum Beutefangverhalten der Radnetzspinne Argiope bruennichi (Scopoli) (Araneae, Araneidae). Revue Suisse de Zoologie, 89 : 23-25
- PASQUET, A. & R. LEBORGNE (1990). Prey capture efficiency and prey selection from insects intercepted by trap in four orb-weaving spider species. *Acta Oecologica*, 11: 513-523.
- PASQUET, A. & R. LEBORGNE (1998). Behavioural tactic for prey capture and prey ingestion in two sympatric spiders. *Netherlands Journal of Zoology*, 48 : 39-52.
- PFLETSCHINGER, H. (1976). Einheimische Spinnen. Die Webespinnen - Arten und Verhalten mit 120 Farbfotos. Kosmos. Frankh Verlagshandlung. Stuttgart.
- POETZSCH, J. (1963). Von der Brutfürsorge hemisher Spinnen. Brehm-Bücherei 324. Zimsen Verlag. Wittenberg-Lutherstadt.

- PUTS, C. (1989). Expansion territoriale de l'Argiope fasciée (Argiope bruennichi Scopoli) en Belgique et dans les régions voisines. Verhandelingen van het Symposium "Invertebraten van België", Brussel 1988 : 193-198.
- RIECHERT, S.E. & J. LUCZAK, (1982). Spider foraging : behavioural responses to prey. In : P.N. WITT & J. ROVNER (eds.), *Biology of Spider Communication : Mechanisms and Ecological Significance*, Princeton Press, Princeton, NJ : 353-384.
- RIECHERT, S.E. & J.M. HARP (1987). Nutritional ecology of spiders. In : F.Jr. SLANSKY & J.G. RODRIGUEZ (eds.), *Nutritional* ecology of insects, mites, spiders and related invertebrates, John Wiley & Sons, New York, Chichester, Brisbane, Toronto, Singapore : 645-672.
- SCHARFF, N. & S. LANGEMARK (1997). Argiope bruennichi (Scopoli) in Denmark (Araneae; Araneidae). Entomologiske Meddelelser, 65 : 179-182.
- STARKS, P.T. (2002). The adaptive significance of stabilimenta in orb-webs: a hierarchical approach. *Annales Zoologici Fennici*, 39: 307-315.
- URBAŃSKI, J. (1948). Distribution of Argiope bruennichi on Wolin Island and in the area of Poland. Badania Fizjograficzne nad Polską Zachodnią, 1 : 160-169.
- WEICKMANN, D. & A. GROBMEYER (1997). Der Einfluss des Winters auf die Population der Wespenspinne Argiope bruennichi Scopoli, 1772 (Araneae : Araneidae). Arachnologisches Magazin, 5 : 6-12.
- ZAR, J.H. (1999). *Biostatistical analysis*. 4th Edition. Prentice Hall, New Jersey.

Received: July 7, 2004 Accepted: December 10, 2004

Mitochondrial DNA sequence data suggests two independent colonizations of the Comoros archipelago by Chameleons of the genus *Furcifer*

Sara Rocha^{1,2}, Miguel A. Carretero¹ and D. James Harris^{1,2}

- 1 Centro de Investigação em Biodiversidade e Recursos Genéticos (CIBIO-ICETA /UP), Campus Agrário de Vairão, P 4485-661 Vila do Conde, Portugal
- 2 Departamento de Zoologia e Antropologia, Faculdade de Ciências, Universidade do Porto, Praça Gomes Teixeira, P-4099-002, Portugal

Corresponding author : David James Harris, e-mail: james@mail.icav.up.pt

ABSTRACT. We used ND4 mtDNA sequences (815bp) to examine the relationships between *Furcifer* chameleons (Chamaeleonidae; Reptilia) from the Comoro Islands. High genetic divergence between *F. cephalolepis* from Grand Comoro and *F. polleni* from Mayotte is hardly compatible with the hypothesis of them being sister-taxa given the young geological age of both islands. Thus, each island was independently colonized, presumably from Madagascar. Genetic diversity within both islands is similar, despite their very different geological ages. The degree of divergence found within a recent island like Grand Comoro may indicate that the molecular clock calibration typically applied to reptiles is not appropriate for this species.

KEY WORDS : Comoros, Furcifer polleni, Furcifer cephalolepis, Chamaeleonidae, colonization, ND4, molecular clock.



Fig. 1. – Maps showing : A) the position of Comoros archipelago relative to African mainland and Madagascar, B) the Comoros archipelago and the sampling sites in Grand Comoro and C) the sampling localities in Mayotte. Codes are given in Table 1.

INTRODUCTION

The four major islands of the Comoros archipelago lie about 200 Km west of the northern tip of Madagascar, at the entrance of the Mozambique Channel (Fig. 1). After the separation of Madagascar from Mozambique, this volcanic chain of islands was formed, during the Miocene to the Late Pleistocene, and has been colonized by the flora and fauna of both Africa and Madagascar, which had already differentiated. The youngest of the Comoros is Grand Comoro (0.5 My), dominated by the volcano Karthala, which is still active, giving this island a uniform topography. Mayotte is the oldest, with 10-15 My, and harbours several volcanoes, being the result of the union of previously independent massifs. These dates correspond to the estimated age of the volcanic origin of the islands (MONTAGGIONI & NOUGIER, 1981; NOUGIER et al., 1986). The age of the oldest exposed lavas is considerably more recent : 0.13 ± 0.02 My for Grand Comoro and 7.7 ± 1 for Mayotte. These islands never had contact with other landmasses and are separated from each other and from Africa by sea depths of more than 3600 m (EMERICK & DUNCAN, 1982; NOUGIER et al., 1986).

The genus *Furcifer* (Chamaeleonidae : Reptilia) is represented in these islands only by two endemic species; *Furcifer cephalolepis* Günther, 1880, in Grand Comoro and *Furcifer polleni* Peters, 1874, in Mayotte. The extant 14 species of this genus all inhabit Madagascar, with one, *F. pardalis* Cuvier, 1829, also present in Mauritius and Reunion Islands, probably representing another natural oceanic dispersal (RAXWORTHY et al., 2002).

In a previous study involving many Chamaeleonidae species, RAXWORTHY et al. (2002) found support for a Madagascan origin for chameleons with multiple "out-of-Madagascar" dispersal events, one of them being the colonization of the Comoros archipelago by *Furcifer* species. Based only on morphological data, these authors placed *F. cephalolepis* and *F. polleni* as sister-taxa and related to the *F. oustaleti* and *F. lateralis* groups from Madagascar. However, attempts to interpret a morphological phylogenetic tree in terms of colonization sequence are compromised by

ecogenetic adaptation to current selective pressures influencing the tree (THORPE et al., 1994). This could be the case here, as they are placed together by two non-unique synapomorphies : both Comoros chameleons have reduced body size and lost lung diverticula, probably as function of body size. Dwarfism in island species is a fairly common evolutionary response, and is presumably adaptive, thus such adaptations may well have evolved in parallel. Therefore, to further assess the position of these species within the *Furcifer* clade on the basis of DNA sequence data, we obtained partial sequences of the ND4 gene, from the same region as RAXWORTHY et al. (2002). We also used ND4 sequences to assess intraspecific diversity within F. cephalolepis and F. polleni. Being a fast evolving gene, this is an adequate marker to use in recent evolutionary events. Considering the ages of the islands, and assuming just one colonization event, we expected minimal diversity within Grand Comoro, and also between F. cephalolepis and its presumed sister-taxa, F. polleni. Concerning Mayotte, its age and, in particular, its conglomerate nature, might have led to high genetic diversity within this island, as seen in reptiles from Tenerife, in the Canary Islands (THORPE et al., 1994, 1996; BROWN & PESTANO, 1998).

TABLE 1

Sample code, locality and accession numbers of *Furcifer* specimens used in this study. All other samples were from RAXWORTHY et al. (2002).

Species	Locality	Code	Acession number
Furcifer cephalolepis	Foret de la Guille, Grand Comoro	GC 25	DQ086038
Furcifer cephalolepis	Belvedere, Grand Comoro	GC 64	DQ086039
Furcifer polleni	Sada road, Mayotte	MY 57	DQ086040
Furcifer polleni	Bandrélé	MY 63	DQ086041
Furcifer polleni	Bandrélé	MY 64	DQ086042
Furcifer polleni	Airport, Dzaouzi islet, Mayotte	MY 67	DQ086043
Furcifer polleni	Vahibé	MY 75	DQ086044
Furcifer polleni	Mahicavo	MY 79	DQ086045
Furcifer polleni	Longoni	MY 82	DQ086046
Furcifer polleni	Longoni	MY 83	DQ086047

MATERIALS AND METHODS

Tail tips from eight F. polleni and two F. cephalolepis were collected in Mayotte and Grand Comoro (geographic locations of the specimens are given in Table 1 and Fig. 1) and genomic DNA was extracted following standard high-salt protocols. A fragment including the terminal portion of the ND4 gene and the tRNA's for Serine, Histamine and Leucine was amplified by PCR using the primers published by ARÉVALO et al. (1994) and sequences from both strands were obtained on an automated sequencer (ABI 310). Alignment was performed using Clustal W 1.6 (THOMPSON et al., 1994; default parameters) and adjusted manually in BioEdit (HALL, 1999). Sequences from other Furcifer species from Madagascar and Reunion Island previously published by RAXWORTHY et al. (2002) were also included. Chamaeleo *jacksoni* and *Calumma cucullata* were used as outgroups. Ambiguous alignment regions (12 bp of the tRNA's) were excluded from all analyses. To select the model of nucleotide substitution that better fits our data set, the hierarchical likelihood-ratio test was carried out using Modeltest 3.06 (POSADA & CRANDALL, 1998). Sequences were then imported into PAUP*4.0b10 (SWOFFORD, 2003) and

the chosen model used to perform Maximum Likelihood (ML) analysis with random sequence addition (10 replicate heuristic search). Maximum Parsimony (MP) analysis was also carried out with random sequence addition (100 replicate heuristic searches) and support for nodes was estimated through the bootstrap technique (FELSEN-STEIN, 1985) with 1000 replicates. Bayesian analysis was implemented using MrBayes v.3.0 (HUELSENBECK & RONQUIST, 2001) with parameters estimated as part of the analysis and four incrementally heated Markov chains with the default heating values. All analysis started with randomly generated trees and ran for 10⁶ generations, saving one tree in each 10 generations. The log-likelihood values of the sample points were plotted against the generation time and all the trees prior to reaching stationarity were discarded, ensuring that burn-in samples were not retained. Combining the remaining trees, a 50% majority rule consensus tree was generated. The frequency of any particular clade of the consensus tree represents the posterior probability of that clade (HUELSENBECK & RONQUIST, 2001). Two independent replicates were conducted and inspected for consistency to check for local optima (HUELSENBECK & BOLLBACK, 2001). To assess variation within Furcifer polleni (from Mayotte), these sequences

(total length of 807 bp) were joined into a median network (BANDELT et al., 2000).

RESULTS

Ten sequences were obtained and 22 sequences, representing 14 taxa, were included in the analyses, for an aligned length of 815 bp. The most appropriate model of evolution for this dataset was the GTR, with an estimate of invariable sites (0.4116) and a discrete approximation of the gamma distribution (1.1168). ML, MP and Bayesian analyses gave congruent estimates of relationships, with ML and Bayesian trees having identical topologies, and the MP tree having one difference in topology relative to these (Fig. 2). Concerning the intraspecific diversity, the two individuals from F. cephalolepis had distinct haplotypes, presenting 0.87% divergence (seven differences in 807 bp). Within F. polleni, five distinct haplotypes were found in a total of 8 individuals, with a maximum divergence of 0.74% (six differences in 807 bp) and without any clear geographic structure (Fig. 3).



Fig. 2. – Tree derived from the Bayesian analysis of the 815 bp of the ND4 gene. Posterior probabilities are given above the branches with the bold branches having the value of 100%. Below the branches, bootstrap values for ML and MP are indicated (ML/MP). For both analyses, only bootstrap values above 50% are represented. The arrow indicates a variation in the position of one branch in the MP analysis and the respective bootstrap value is indicated below.

DISCUSSION

Both F. cephalolepis and F. polleni represent distinct and very well supported branches. Their relative position

and long branch lengths show that they are probably not sister-taxa, as previously suggested. Indeed, independently of the method used in the analyses, F. polleni always appeared as sister-taxa of the F. angeli and F. pardalis group from Madagascar, with F. cephalolepis splitting first from their common ancestor. This, points to independent colonization of both Comoro Islands. While we cannot exclude alternative hypotheses, like the existence of a very divergent unsampled lineage in Mayotte that could be the "sister-group" of F. cephalolepis from Grand Comoro, these are less likely due to our geographically widespread sampling in Mayotte. Clearly, further sampling is needed, especially from the extant Furcifer species from Madagascar (eight species from this genus are not included in this analysis), to clarify the relationships between them, and to better understand the process of colonization of the Comoros Islands.



Fig. 3. – Network showing relationships between *Furcifer polleni* haplotypes found in Mayotte. Diameter of circles is proportional to the frequency of each haplotype and empty circles represent missing haplotypes.

The genetic divergence found inside *Furcifer cephalolepis* was surprisingly high, considering the age of the island. The two haplotypes from Grand Comoro have 0.87% genetic divergence (uncorrected p-distance), which, according to the vertebrate ectotherm mtDNA divergence rate – often used for this gene – of 0.4-0.6% per lineage per million year (RAND, 1994; CACCONE et al., 1999), would correspond to 0.73 to 1.1 million years divergence.

Even using a broader interval of sequence variation : 0.25-0.7% per lineage per million year (AVISE et al., 1992; CACCONE et al., 1997) we obtain estimates of divergence between 0.63 and 1.76 My, always higher than the oldest estimates for the age of the island – 0.5 My. So, the ND4 gene in *Furcifer* seems to be evolving faster that the rates generally used (at least at a value of 0.88% per lineage per million years if we use 0.5 My – age of Grand Comoro – as a calibration point. Moreover, these are minimum estimates of the divergence; based only in two individuals, as with more individuals even more divergent haplotypes could be found.

One possible explanation is that ND4 gene in *Furcifer* is evolving faster than predicted by these molecular clocks. However an alternative explanation for this result is that divergence within *F. cephalolepis* predates the colonization of Grand Comoro and this colonization was made by individuals including already differentiated mtDNA lineages.

Islands with known geological ages are often thought to be ideal for calibrating molecular clocks (CARRANZA et al., 2000) and the common procedure is that when sister-taxa are found on neighbouring islands to assume that the age of the younger island represents an approximate estimate for the maximum age of the split between the "offspring" population on the younger island and the "parental" population on the older island. However our results suggest that "universal" clocks are extremely inaccurate. Furthermore, precise phylogenies are needed - if divergence values between F. polleni and F. cephalolepis (assuming incorrectly they were sister taxa) were compared to the age of Grand Comoro we would obtain an erroneous estimated rate of evolution of at least 11% per lineage per million year. This type of calculation, focusing on the observed divergence between islands and using the age of the youngest one as a calibration point, is still commonly used (e.g. BROWN & PESTANO, 1998; WARREN et al., 2003). Our results highlight the importance of also assessing withinisland diversity when estimating divergence rates.

In conclusion, our results suggest that the Comoros were independently colonized twice by *Furcifer* from Madagascar. They also suggest that this region of the ND4 gene and associated tRNA's may be evolving faster than that predicted by ectothermal vertebrate molecular clocks, which has implications for the estimated times of colonization of other island groups by chameleons. This further highlights the inaccuracies of generalized applications of molecular clocks, even when calibrated using known geological values such as the age of islands. The fast rate of evolution of this region of mtDNA makes it highly suitable for phylogeographic studies.

ACKOWLEDGEMENTS

This project was supported by grants from Fundação para a Ciência e Tecnologia POCTI/BSE/46647/2002 and SFRH/BPD/ 5702/2001 (to DJH). Thanks to the anonymous reviewers for their constructive criticisms, and to C. Raxworthy for his comments on the morphology of the species analysed.

REFERENCES

- ARÉVALO, E., S.K. DAVIS & J.W. JR SITES (1994). Mitochondrial DNA sequence divergence and phylogenetic relatonships among eight chromosome races of *Sceloporus grammicus* complex (PHRYNOSOMATIDAE) in Central Mexico. *Syst. Biol.*, 43 : 387-418.
- AVISE, J.C., B.W. BOWEN, T. LAMB, A.B. MEYLAN & E. BER-MINGHAM (1992). Mitochondrial DNA Evolution at a turtle's pace : evidence for low genetic variability and reduced microevolutionary rate in the Testudines. *Mol. Biol. Evol.*, 9 : 457-473.
- BANDELT, H.J., V. MACAULEY & M.B. RICHARDS (2000). Median networks : speedy construction and greedy reduction, one

simulation and two case studies from human mtDNA. Mol. Phylogenet. Evol., 16: 8-28.

- BROWN, R.P. & J. PESTANO (1998). Phylogeography of skinks (*Chalcides*) in the Canary Islands inferred from mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Mol. Ecol.*, 7 : 1183-1191.
- CACCONE, A., M.C. MILINKOVITCH, V.C. SBORDONI & J.R. POW-ELL (1997). Mitochondrial DNA rates and biogeography in European newts (genus *Euproctus*). *Syst. Biol.*, 46 : 126-144.
- CACCONE, A., G. AMATO, O.C. GRATRY, J. BEHLER & J.R. POW-ELL (1999). A molecular phylogeny of four endangered Madagascar tortoises based on MtDNA sequences. *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.*, 12 : 1-9.
- CARRANZA, S., E.N. ARNOLD, J.A. MATEO & L.F. LÓPEZ-JURADO (2000). Long distance colonization and radiation in gekkonid lizards, *Tarentola* (Reptilia : Gekkonidae), revealed by mitochondrial DNA sequences. *Proc. R. Soc. Lond. B*, 267 : 637-649.
- EMERICK, C.M. & R.A. DUNCAN (1982). Age progressive volcanism in the Comores Archipelago, western Indian Ocean and Implications for Somali plate tectonics. *Earth Planet. Sci. Lett.*, 60 : 415-428.
- FELSENSTEIN, J. (1985). Confidence limits on phylogenies : an approach using the bootstrap. *Evolution*, 39 : 783-791.
- HALL, T.A. (1999). BioEdit : a user friendly biological sequence alignment editor and analysis program for Windows 95/98/ NT. Nucleic Acids Symp. Ser., 41 : 95-98.
- HUELSENBECK, J.P. & J.P. BOLLBACK (2001). Empirical and hierarchical Bayesian estimation of ancestral states. *Syst. Biol.*, 50: 351-366.
- HUELSENBECK, J.P. & F. RONQUIST (2001). MrBayes : Bayesian inference of phylogeny. *Bioinformatics*, 17 : 754-755.
- MONTAGGIONI, L. & J. NOUGIER (1981). Les enclaves des roches détritiques dans les volcans d'Anjouan (Archipel des Comores) : origine et interprétation dans le cadre de l'évolution du canal de Mozambique. *Bull. Soc. Geol. Fr.*, 23 : 596-601.
- NOUGIER, J., J.M. CANTAGREL & J.P. KARCHE (1986). The Comores Archipelago in the western Indian Ocean : volcanology, geochronology, and geodynamic setting. J. Afr. Earth Sci., 5 : 135-145.
- POSADA, D. & K.A. CRANDALL (1998). Modeltest : testing the model of DNA substitution. *Bioinformatics*, 14 : 817-818.
- RAND, D.M. (1994). Thermal habit, metabolic rate and the evolution of the mitochondrial DNA. *Trends Ecol. Evolut.*, 9 : 125-131.
- RAXWORTHY, C.J., M.R.J. FORSTNER & R.A. NUSSBAUM (2002). Chameleon radiation by oceanic dispersal. *Nature*, 415 : 784-786.
- SWOFFORD, D.L. (2003). PAUP* : Phylogenetic Analysis Using Parsimony (and other methods) 4.0.b10. Sinauer Associates, Sunderland, MA.
- THOMPSON, J.D., D.G. HIGGINS & T.J. GIBSON (1994). CLUSTALW : Improving the sensitivity of progressive multiple sequence alignment through sequence weighting, position specific gap penalties and weight matrix choice. *Nucleic Acids Res.*, 22 : 4673-4680.
- THORPE, R.S., D.P. MCGREGOR, A.M. CUMMING & W.C. JORDAN (1994). DNA evolution and colonization sequence of island lizards in relation to geological history : mtDNA RFLP, cytochrome b, cytochrome oxidase, 12s rRNA sequence, and nuclear RAPD analysis. *Evolution*, 48(2) : 230-240.
- THORPE, R.S., H. BLACK & A. MALHOTRA (1996). Matrix correspondence tests on the DNA phylogeny of the Tenerife Lacertid elucidate both historical causes and morphological adaptation. *Syst. Biol.*, 45 : 335-343.
- WARREN, B.H., E. BERMINGHAM, R.C.K. BOWIE, R.P. PRYS-JONES & C. THÉBAUD (2003). Molecular phylogeography reveals island colonization history and diversification of western Indian Ocean sunbirds (Nectarinia : Nectariniidae). *Mol. Phylogenet. Evol.*, 29 : 67-85.

Received: May 10, 2004 Accepted: December 12, 2004

Distribution patterns and indicator species of butterfly assemblages of wet meadows in southern Belgium

Javier Sawchik^{1,2}, Marc Dufrêne^{1,3} and Philippe Lebrun¹

Corresponding author : Philippe Lebrun, e-mail : lebrun@ecol.ucl.ac.be

ABSTRACT. Focal species are a valuable tool for proposing and evaluating management practices for biodiversity conservation. Assemblages of indicator species could be used to cover a wide range of habitats. We identified the main patterns of variation in butterfly assemblages on a diverse set of wet meadows in southern Belgium. We used multivariate techniques to identify the butterfly assemblages and the species that characterize these habitats. Three main assemblages were identified, based principally on the dominance of five butterfly species : *Brenthis ino, Clossiana selene, Lycaena helle, Lycaena hippothoe* and *Proclossiana eunomia*. These are indicator species of different habitats structured along a vegetation gradient. This gradient is partially determined by altitude and edaphic factors (base-richness, pH, fertility). We assume that focusing the conservation practices upon these species will promote the preservation of a wide range of organisms inhabiting the wet meadows.

KEY WORDS : butterflies, indicator species, multivariate analysis, wet meadows, biodiversity conservation.

INTRODUCTION

Almost every ecosystem on Earth is going through a strong anthropogenically induced disturbance biodiversity crisis, in which several thousands species are involved. Natural and semi-natural biotopes are suffering from high rates of modification and, as a consequence, the number of species threatened by extinction increases. In order to evaluate and monitor biodiversity as well as to implement conservation measures, the development and use of shortcuts is a necessity. Obviously, it is not viable to consider the development of a detailed study for each one of the endangered species. One possible approach is based on diversity measures, but it has several limitations like excluding particular taxonomic information about the communities (Noss, 1990; DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997). The criterion of representative diversity which is based on the recognition of assemblages of species that are typical for specific habitats seems more interesting (DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997). A potentially useful tool is the singlespecies approach based on focal or surrogate species, which can indicate ecological change, patterns of richness or habitat type (Noss, 1990; CARO & O'DOHERTY, 1999; FLEISHMAN et al., 2000). Focal species include umbrella, flagship and different kind of indicator species (MCGE-OCH, 1998; SIMBERLOFF, 1998). Some of these species could be used as targets for conservation efforts, assuming their preservation may help to protect other species that share the same habitats. Thus, the use of surrogate species may be a valuable tool for conservation planning, allowing considerable reductions of time and funding costs. Moreover, the use of assemblages instead of single species as indicators enables the enlargement of the focus

of the single-species approach to wider ecological situations (KREMEN, 1992). Assemblages of species, with determined species richness, level of dominance, and taxonomic composition, can characterize different habitats. The use of a small set of surrogate species allows the inclusion of a broader range of habitats. Using keystone species may be an interesting alternative to surrogate species (SIMBERLOFF, 1998). However, the effort and time demanded by this approach in the study of the community processes and the high rate of degradation of the biotic diversity, makes the use of other tools necessary (e.g., surrogate species) enabling conservation managers to develop faster responses to the anthropogenic disturbances. Hence, important research effort is needed to select appropriate surrogate species.

Lepidoptera have been proposed as surrogate species by several authors (KREMEN, 1992; BECCALONI & GAS-TON, 1995; FLEISHMAN et al., 2000). Several features of the butterflies make them good candidates for indicator, umbrella and/or flagship species (NEW, 1997; FLEISHMAN et al., 2000; MAES & VAN DYCK, 2001). They have a wide distribution, are relatively easy to sample and identify, and both as individuals and as species they show important numbers in different ecosystems (BLAIR, 1999; CARO & O'DOHERTY, 1999; RICKETTS et al., 2002). They are also strongly influenced by local weather and highly sensitive to environmental changes (SPITZER et al., 1997), besides being charismatic insects that could attract the public attention. Finally, some authors have identified patterns of co-variation between the abundance and/or the richness of Lepidoptera and those of other taxonomic groups (BLAIR, 1999; SWENGEL & SWENGEL, 1999). How-

¹ Unité d'Écologie et de Biogéographie, Centre de Recherche sur la Biodiversité, Université catholique de Louvain, Place Croix du Sud 5, B-1348 Louvain-la-Neuve, Belgium

² Sección Ecología Terrestre, Facultad de Ciencias, Universidad de la República, Uruguay

³ Ministère de la Région Wallonne, Centre de Recherche de la Nature, des Forêts et du Bois, Avenue Maréchal Juin 23, B-5030 Gembloux, Belgium

ever, these relationships are highly dependent on the taxa and the spatial scales considered (RICKETTS et al., 2002).

Butterflies are extremely sensitive to changes in vegetation composition and structure, and different types of vegetation show different butterfly species composition. So, the butterfly assemblages may be used to characterize different habitats (ERHARDT, 1985). Plants are the essential source of nourishment of butterflies; some specific plant species provide the trophic resources for caterpillars, while others provide nectar for adults. The vegetation can also play an important role for butterfly survival offering particular structural elements for sun-basking or mating and determining certain suitable microclimates (DOVER et al., 1997). Therefore, it would be expected that butterflies respond more strongly to vegetation gradients than to edaphic gradients (SAWCHIK et al., 2003).

Human disturbance in Western Europe, including Belgium, has accelerated during the second half of the 20th century, resulting in a very high pressure on some particular ecosystems. An important factor in this relatively recent panorama has been changes in land use, i.e. the abandonment of traditional agricultural practices (MAES & VAN DYCK, 2001). Some of the most threatened ecosystems are the semi-natural wet meadows, which have been abandoned or modified by modern and intensive agricultural practices. Many of these biotopes are being invaded by shrubs or trees, while others suffer eutrophication, pollution or acidification. Moreover, these modifications lead to an increasing isolation of the remaining fragments. The result is that semi-natural humid grasslands are seriously threatened in Belgium (GOFFART et al., 2000).

The objectives of this study were : (1) to describe the main variation pattern in the butterfly fauna of a wide range of wet meadows; (2) to identify the indicator species of the different habitat types; (3) to explore the relationships between the butterfly assemblages and the vegetation and the soil properties of the sites.



Fig. 1. – Study area in the Plateau des Tailles, Ardennes, Belgium.

METHODS

Study area

The studied area is the basin of the Martin-Moulin river located in the Plateau de Tailles (Fig. 1). This high plateau (max. height 654 m) is situated in the Ardennes biogeographical area, southern Belgium. Coniferous forests and pastures dominate the landscape. Immersed in this mixed forest-prairie matrix there are several semi-natural habitats, particularly a great diversity of wet meadows and mires. These meadows are biologically interesting habitats, displaying high levels of species richness and sustaining populations of many vulnerable species. Thirty-four sites were selected for the present work, all of them wet meadows. They account for all the main vegetation associations that may be found in this area.

Field measurements

The definition of the sites was based on homogeneous floristic composition. All these sites show relatively well-defined boundaries. We identified all the plant species present in a quadrate of 5 (5 meters randomly placed in each site. The size of the quadrate is considered convenient to describe meadow communities (KENT & COKER, 1992). Then, the size of the quadrate was progressively increased until no new species were identified. Percentage cover of plants was estimated visually. These vegetation surveys were made during the summer of 1996.

Within each site, soil samples were collected at five randomly located places. The soil was sampled at 0-20 cm depth. The samples were pooled, and the following edaphic variables measured : soil pH, organic matter (OM), soil moisture (SM), total N, concentrations of Ca, K, Mg and Na. We also determined water-table depth (WT) recorded in 3 locations at each site in the summer of 1997. Values of WT were averaged prior to data analysis. As OM and total N were highly correlated (r > 0.9) we dropped N from the analysis data set. The chemical analyses were carried out at "l'Unité d'Écologie des Prairies" (UCL/AGRO/ECOP/Belgium).

Butterflies (Rhopalocera : Papilionoidea) were recorded by visual observation along zigzag transects from May to August of the years 1994, 1995 and 1996. More precisely, in each site we walked at a regular step until the total area was visited. We registered all the individuals observed in a corridor of approximately 6 m of width. We sampled each site as many times as possible in sunny conditions (POLLARD, 1977; THOMAS, 1983). The sampling program covered the flying periods of most species and ensured that a minimum of 3 sampling visits was made for each species in each site and each year.

As a measure of relative abundance of the butterfly species we used the maximum number of observed individuals in each site (SMALLIDGE et al., 1996). This measure allows controlling sampling intensity and weather differences. Moreover, field experience in such habitats demonstrated that after three or four visits well distributed along the main activity period, the maximum does not change considerably. Indeed, very similar results were obtained with additional analyses using other measures of relative abundance (e.g. mean, median, and sum). The data from the 3 years were pooled, so the maximum over the 3 years was used as a measure of abundance. Because all the sites were small (range from 0.1 to 2 ha; median = 0.775), they might be highly affected by stochastic effects. By pooling the data from different years, we integrate over annual weather effects on local abundance as well as extinction and rescue events generated by metapopulation dynamics on a network of habitat patches (HANSKI et al., 1995; FLEISHMAN et al., 1999).

Assemblage structure and indicator species identification

The structure of the butterfly species assemblage was studied by ordination and classification methods. The butterfly matrix details the distribution of 15 species in 34 sites and shows a 31% of zeros. As suggested by LEGEN-DRE & LEGENDRE (1998), rare species (< 1% of the total number recorded) were removed from the analysis. In general, these rare species were represented by single, vagrant individuals that probably do not concern local populations. This category also concerns migratory species as Vanessa atalanta and Cynthia cardui. Moreover, correspondence Analysis (CA) and classification techniques are sensitive to the occurrence of rare species, so these species may distort the analysis impeding a reliable description of the main patterns of variation (EZCURRA, 1987). A distance matrix was constructed using the Bray Curtis coefficient. Hierarchical agglomerative clustering was conducted on the distance matrix using the UPGMA method. We used the IndVal approach developed by DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE (1997) to identify the indicator species of a site typology resulting from a clustering of the butterfly data set. For each step of the clustering process indicator species are revealed by an index (IV, i.e., Indicator Value) that combines an estimator of the species specificity and fidelity (MCGEOCH & CHOWN, 1998). With this kind of approach the indicator species are defined as the most characteristic species of a site cluster, found mostly in a site cluster of the typology (specificity) and present in the majority of the sites belonging to that cluster (fidelity). The significance of the IV index is assessed by a permutation approach (1000 permutations). Species with significant high IndVal values (>70%)show strong habitat fidelity and specificity, so they may be considered as characteristic species of the assemblages (MCGEOCH et al., 2002.).

Ordination diagrams can be used to select a subset of the species as indicators (KREMEN, 1992). In order to identify the main information axes, ordination was carried out performing CA. Because CA ordination scores represent approximately optima localization of the species in the ordination plan (TER BRAAK & PRENTICE, 1988), the diagram could be used to find assemblages of characteristic species along the gradients (KREMEN, 1992).

Butterflies-habitat relationships

A first approach to interpret the ordination results with the aid of external data was to compute Spearman correlation coefficients (r_s) between CA ordination scores from the butterfly matrix and altitude (m). Additionally, we computed correlation coefficients between the scores of the CA axes and the diversity of the butterfly assemblages. In each site we computed species richness (S), Shannon diversity (H') and evenness (E). The Simpson's index (D) was used as a measure of dominance. All of these measures are widely used in ecology literature (KREBS, 1989; MAGURRAN, 1988).

In order to explore the relationships between the butterfly fauna and the habitat, defined by the edaphic factors and the plant assemblages, we used CO-inertia Analysis (COA). The choice of COA instead of canonical correspondence analysis (CCA) was based on the high number of variables compared to the number of sites. When the number of variables equals the number of sites CCA becomes a CA (TER BRAAK & PRENTICE, 1988; JONGMAN et al., 1995). COA is a symmetric ordination technique well adjusted to analyze data sets with many explaining variables and a relatively low number of sites (DOLÉDEC & CHESSEL, 1994). It is a symmetric method because it does not assume that one matrix is constituted by explaining variables and the other by explained variables. Indeed its use is well justified in this study because we are not attempting to explain the abundance of the butterfly species as a function of plant assemblages. We are merely interested in the associations between plants and butterflies without assuming a causal relationship between them. In a first step, faunal and environmental matrices are analyzed by standard ordination methods as CA or PCA. In a second step, COA maximizes the covariance between the first axes of variation of the two matrices.

We performed two COA's to link the CA ordination of butterfly data to vegetation and edaphic data. The first analysis (COA₁) linked the butterfly ordination to an ordination obtained by CA performed on the vegetation frequency data set. Because there was a high number of plant species recorded, and the fact that the great majority among them showed very low frequencies and cover values, we decided to remove rare species from the data set to gain in clarity and computation efficiency, and to reduce noise and redundancy. The vegetation matrix details the distribution of 40 species and shows 53% of zeros. The second analysis (COA₂) linked the butterfly ordination to a PCA performed on the correlation matrix of the edaphic data. The edaphic variables were log transformed prior to PCA. The signification of the co-inertia values was tested by a permutation procedure (1 000 permutations). Additionally, we performed another co-inertia analysis, COA₃, to explore the relationships between vegetation and edaphic factors.

CA was performed with the CANOCO software (TER BRAAK & SMILAUER, 1998). We used the R package (CAS-GRAIN & LEGENDRE, 1999) to compute correlation and distance coefficients and to perform cluster analysis. The version 2.0 of the program IndVal (DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997) was used to identify the indicator species. COA was performed with ADE-4 (THIOULOUSE et al., 1997).

RESULTS

We identified a total of 30 butterfly species but only 15 species were retained for most of the analyses (Table 1). The matrix of butterfly abundance used in subsequent analyses is presented in Table 2. Hesperoidea were mostly represented by two species : *Thymelicus lineolus* and *T*.

sylvestris. For practical reasons, *Thymelicus* species were not retained for the analysis. These are two relatively

common species that are not easily distinguishable in the field.

TABLE	1
-------	---

Number of individuals, number of occupied sites and butterflies codes (used as labels in the figures).

Code	Species	No. individuals	No. sites
AGL	Aglais urticae (Linnaeus, 1758)	176	27
ANT	Anthocaris cardamines (Linnaeus, 1758)	50	21
APH	Aphantopus hyperantus (Linnaeus, 1758)	1,036	34
APO	Aporia crataegi (Linnaeus, 1758)	56	20
ARA	Araschnia levana (Linnaeus, 1758)	39	19
BRE	Brenthis ino (Rottemburg, 1775)	799	26
CLO	Clossiana selene ([Denis & Schiffermüller], 1775)	194	17
GON	Gonepteryx rhamni (Linnaeus, 1758)	39	21
INA	Inachis io (Linnaeus, 1758)	41	23
LHE	Lycaena helle ([Denis & Schiffermüller], 1775)	243	22
LHY	Lycaena hippothoe (Linnaeus, 1761)	102	18
MAN	Maniola jurtina (Linnaeus, 1758)	251	32
PNA	Pieris napi (Linnaeus, 1758)	120	29
PRA	Pieris rapae (Linnaeus, 1758)	29	20
PRO	Proclossiana eunomia (Esper, 1799)	221	22
	Argynnis aglaja (Linnaeus, 1758)	2	2
	Boloria aquilonaris (Stichel, 1908)	20	1
	Callophrys rubi (Linnaeus, 1758)	15	10
	Coenonympha arcania (Linnaeus, 1761)	5	4
	Coenonympha pamphilus (Linnaeus, 1758)	10	4
	Cynthia cardui (Linnaeus, 1758)	24	16
	Erebia medusa ([Denis & Schiffermüller], 1775)	4	4
	Lasiommata megera (Linnaeus, 1767)	2	2
	Melitaea diamina (Lang, 1789)	32	12
	Mellicta athalia (Rottenburg, 1775)	6	5
	Papilio machaon (Linnaeus, 1758)	2	2
	Pieris brassicae (Linnaeus, 1758)	15	11
	Polygonia c-album (Linnaeus, 1758)	3	1
	Polyommatus icarus (Rottenburg, 1775)	6	6
	Vanessa atalanta (Linnaeus, 1758)	14	12

TABLE 2

	Matrix of butterfly abundance, recorded as the maximum number of individuals observed in each site.													
AGL	ANT	APH	APO	ARA	BRE	CLO	GON	INA	LHE	LHI	MAN	PNA	PRA	PRO
6	0	15	5	2	28	0	3	1	9	2	6	5	1	3
4	0	17	0	2	28	0	1	0	0	0	3	2	0	0
6	1	42	2	0	54	0	1	1	15	0	13	3	1	6
0	0	53	1	1	84	0	0	1	7	0	14	2	2	15
3	0	14	0	1	42	0	1	1	6	0	7	1	1	2
20	1	32	10	0	13	0	0	3	25	2	24	0	0	12
0	2	20	2	3	30	0	0	2	25	0	4	4	1	8
19	2	40	1	2	58	0	1	2	3	0	23	2	1	18
2	5	40	2	4	75	0	0	2	0	0	20	7	2	0
0	0	15	0	1	10	0	2	3	7	0	0	3	1	8
5	0	25	3	0	6	3	1	0	1	1	10	2	0	2
4	1	25	7	3	19	1	5	2	8	4	12	3	0	2
2	1	20	3	2	2	4	3	2	25	2	5	2	1	17
5	0	30	0	0	0	21	1	1	0	7	3	13	2	0
13	0	36	2	0	37	0	0	1	4	0	7	2	0	0
15	5	35	3	6	10	0	2	7	16	0	6	7	1	10
2	4	29	1	1	5	1	2	0	0	0	5	5	1	0
3	2	30	4	1	0	20	5	2	1	0	4	5	0	5
0	1	30	1	0	20	0	0	0	2	0	5	1	2	3
1	0	40	1	0	0	9	1	0	0	0	8	0	0	0
15	5	30	3	0	17	5	2	1	5	8	10	7	2	10
15	5	20	2	1	8	10	0	0	2	7	6	7	1	8
5	1	50	0	0	30	4	0	0	0	10	5	1	0	0
1	2	46	0	2	2	2	1	2	9	6	5	3	1	7
0	3	33	0	2	0	6	0	1	29	4	1	4	1	35
3	2	32	0	0	0	27	0	0	0	13	6	7	0	0
1	0	15	0	0	0	53	1	1	0	10	0	1	3	0
2	0	25	1	0	10	0	1	2	38	0	2	2	0	12
11	0	64	2	1	92	0	3	1	0	1	12	0	0	0
7	0	43	0	0	0	1	0	0	0	2	8	0	0	5
0	1	30	0	2	25	0	1	1	5	3	4	4	0	17
1	2	20	0	2	74	0	0	0	0	0	4	10	0	0
0	1	10	0	0	0	17	0	0	0	5	2	0	1	0
5	3	30	0	0	20	10	1	1	1	15	7	5	3	16

TABLE 3

variate analysis are listed in Table 3.

Number of occupied sites and plant codes (used as labels in the figures).

Code	Species	No. Sites
ACN	Agrostis canina	21
ACP	Agrostis capillaris	4
ANG	Angelica sylvestris	27
CNI	Carex nigra	10
CRO	Carex rostrata	5
CIR	Cirsium palustre	32
DES	Deschampsia caespitosa	21
FES	Festuca rubra	14
FIL	Filipendula ulmaria	24
GPA	Galium palustris	24
GTE	Galeopsis tetrahit	17
HLA	Holcus lanatus	25
HMO	Holcus mollis	6
JAC	Juncus acutiflorus	25
JEF	Juncus effusus	20
LOT	Lotus pedunculatus	25
LYS	Lysimachia vulgaris	13
POL	Polygonum bistorta	29
POA	Poa trivialis	18
RAN	Ranunculus repens	17
RUM	Rumex acetosa	24
SCI	Scirpus sylvaticus	14
URT	Urtica dioica	14
VAL	Valeriana repens	17
VIO	Viola palustris	18
	BRE *** ARA ** APO **	— ■



Fig. 2. – UPGMA clustering results and the indicator species proposed by the IndVal approach (IV). ***. Maximal and significant (at the 0.05 level), IV > 70%. **. Maximal and significant (at the 0.05 level), IV < 70%. *. Significant (at the 0.05 level) but not maximal IV.

The site typology obtained by UPGMA (Fig. 2) was very similar to that obtained using a *k*-means non-hierarchical partition method (SAWCHIK, 1999) so we concluded that the hierarchical pattern of the groups was robust (DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997). First, the whole set of sites was split in two main groups separating lowland meadow sites from high altitude, acid and poor (oligotrophic) sites. At this step, IndVal identified only *B. ino* (IV = 89.7), *A. levana* (IV = 69.0) and *A. crataegi* (IV = 65.5) as having significant IndVal values for the group constituted by all the lowland meadow sites. The oligotrophic sites, represented by peat-bogs (rich in *Carex sp.* and *Sphagnum sp.*) and wet rush (*Juncus sp.*) meadows,

were characterized by C. selene (IV = 90.2) and L. hippothoe (IV = 76.8). The next level subdivided lowland meadows in one cluster of eutrophic sites and another cluster of mesotrophic meadows dominated by the association Deschampsio cespitosae-Polygonetum bistortae. The wet meadowsweet (Filipendula ulmaria) grasslands are distributed between these two clusters. Two butterfly species showed statistically significant IndVal values : L. helle (IV = 85.8) and P. eunomia (IV = 82.5). Only B. ino showed a significant, although not maximal, indicator value (IV = 71.0) for the cluster of eutrophic sites. Finally, the classification divides the cluster of bistort meadows in one group characterized by L. helle (53.4) and another group characterized by *P. eunomia* (48.4). These IV values were significant but not maximal, so the division at this level is less defined. This suggests subtle differences in the gradient of humid bistort grasslands from rush meadows to meadowsweet grasslands. After this division level the sum of IndVal values decreased, suggesting that the next divisions of the typology are not informative.



Fig. 3. – Ordination plot (2 first axes) of the Correspondence Analysis (CA) of the butterfly species matrix. The symbols correspond to the groups identified by the UPGMA algorithm.

The total variance explained by the first two CA axes was 64% (40.4% and 23.6% respectively). The twodimension diagram obtained from CA ordination (Fig. 3) revealed the same species assemblage structure suggested by the clustering results. The species that mainly contribute to the species assemblage originality were B. ino, C. selene, Inachis io, L. helle, L. hippothoe, and P. eunomia. The first axis opposes C. selene to B. ino. Clossiana selene was present in high altitude, oligotrophic sites while B. ino was associated with lowland meadows. The second axis showed a rather slight arch effect, suggesting the prevalence of the main gradient. However, it is unlikely that this axis was simply an artifact and probably reflects a secondary gradient. This was confirmed by detrended correspondence analysis and principal coordinate analysis two-dimension ordinations (not shown),

which produced essentially the same spatial arrangement of the data revealed by CA.

The second axis opposes bistort meadows characterized by L. helle and P. eunomia to meadowsweet grasslands sites strongly associated with B. ino. The eutrophic sites dominated by F. ulmaria and Urtica dioica are located at one extreme of this axis, while the other meadow sites are characterized by the association of Deschampsia cespitosa and Polygonum bistorta. However, the slight arch effect suggested by this axis could also be interpreted in another way. The species repelled to the extreme of the parabola (L. helle, P. eunomia) would be typical of the middle of the gradient, whereas the species in the center of the parabola would be more widespread, generalist or ubiquitous species (LEBRETON & YOCCOZ, 1987; DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997). No significant correlations were observed between species' frequencies among sites and species' CA scores. Therefore, we concluded that ordination results did not result from a sampling artifact (KREMEN, 1992). The first eigenvalues were different in magnitude so we concluded that the ordination was stable (OKSANEN & MINCHIN, 1997). The first CA axis showed a statistically significant correlation with altitude ($r_s = 0.668$). The second axis showed a significantly positive correlation with butterfly diversity ($r_S = 0.589$). In spite of the fact that species richness, H' and E may be affected by sampling effort variations, in our case, however, the differences do not seem strong enough to have a great impact on these measures. This assertion is supported by the very low correlations showed between the diversity measures, the total number of individuals, and the area of the sites (Table 4).

TABLE 4

Rank correlation computed as Spearman coefficients between the site scores on the two first axis of the correspondence analysis, the patch area and the total number of individuals (N), and butterfly diversity (S = species richness; H' = Shannon index; E = evenness; D = Simpson index). *. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level. **. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level.

	Axis 1	Axis 2	Area	Ν
S	-0,117	+0.427 *	-0,103	+0,136
H'	+0,129	+0.589 **	-0,002	-0,053
E	+0,382	+0.524 **	+0,087	-0,160
D	-0,134	-0.619 **	-0,016	-0,092

TABLE 5

Summary of the co-inertia analyses : inertia and co-inertia values for the butterfly and environmental (CO1 : vegetation; CO2 : edaphic) matrices, and correlation values between the butterfly and environmental ordination axes.

Analysis	Axis	Correlation	Inertia butterflies	Inertia environmental	Co-inertia butterlies	Co-inertia environmental
CO1	1	0,809	0,396	0,503	0,384	0,416
	2	0,818	0,215	0,413	0,204	0,305
CO2	1	0,631	0,396	3,551	0,355	1,944
	2	0,496	0,215	2,091	0,193	2,879



Fig. 4. – Results of the co-inertia analysis performed on the 15 butterfly species and the 25 plant species. (a) Position of butterfly species on the F1 x F2 co-inertia plane. (b) Position of plant species on the F1 x F2 co-inertia plane.



Fig. 5. – Results of the co-inertia analysis performed on the 15 butterfly species and the 9 edaphic variables. (a) Position of butterfly species on the F1 x F2 co-inertia plane. (b) Position of edaphic variables on the F1 x F2 co-inertia plane.

The main two axes of COA explain 55.81% and 22.14% of the common structure shared by the butterfly and the plant matrices. The co-inertia test was highly significant (p < 0.001). The inertia values for the two first axes of the CA, both for butterfly and plant species, are shown in Table 5. The correlation values between the butterfly and the plant ordination axes as well as the co-inertia values indicate that the structure described separately for butterfly and plant species data are relatively well captured by the first co-inertia plane. The ordination diagram (Fig. 4) shows almost the same pattern than the CA diagram, indicating that the structure of co-variation between butterfly and plant species succeeds in explaining the

main pattern of the distribution of the butterfly assemblages. At one extreme of the first axis we found *C. selene* associated with *V. palustris, A. sylvestris* and *J. acutiflorus. Lycaena hippothoe* was also located on this side of the diagram, mainly associated with *A. canina, J. effusus* and *A. capillaris. Brenthis ino* and *A. levana* were situated at the other end of this axis, associated to *F. ulmaria, U. dioica, V. repens* and *L. vulgaris.* In the middle of the axis, *L. helle* and *P. eunomia* occupied sites dominated by *D. cespitosa, F. rubra* and *P. bistorta.* In this study, COA succeeds in removing a strong arch effect seen on the main plane of the CA performed on the vegetation matrix (not shown).

The two main axes of the COA₂ explain 58.56% and 29.12% of the common structure shared by the butterfly and the edaphic matrices. The inertia values for edaphic factors were 3.551 and 2.091 respectively. The co-inertia test was significant (p = 0.022). The correlation values between the butterfly and the soil ordination axes as well as the co-inertia values are shown in Table 5. In the ordination diagram (Fig. 5), we visualize that C. selene and L. hippothoe were associated with acid and wet sites with accumulated OM and low levels of mineral bases. The butterfly species A. crataegi and A. levana were associated with the sites with the highest levels of K and P which are also less humid and with deeper WT than the previous sites cited. The less acidic sites with the highest levels in Ca and Mg were associated to B. ino, while L. helle and P. eunomia were preferentially situated in relatively dry sites with low levels in bases and OM. The ordination of edaphic factors obtained from COA₃ (not shown) showed a spatial configuration very similar to the ordination obtained from COA₂.

DISCUSSION

Methodological considerations

Multivariate techniques are highly useful tools for identifying sets of indicator species for different habitats along a gradient. Classical and canonical ordination methods allow the study of the relationships between species distributions and environmental gradients. Classification techniques are helpful for identifying discontinuities and to define the main habitat types. In particular, UPGMA combined with IndVal may provide a better alternative than TWINSPAN for classification and identification of indicator species (DUFRÊNE & LEGENDRE, 1997; LEE & MCDONALD, 1993). In short, these methods reflect local patterns of habitat heterogeneity indicating which assemblage could be considered as an appropriate indicator of these habitat types (KREMEN, 1992).

COA is a useful and robust tool for displaying specieshabitat relationships because it allows the simultaneous and symmetric study of two data sets. The symmetric approach allows the connections to be made between tables with different number of environmental variables, taxa and/or sites. As an ordination technique, it also has other potential benefits, for example the removal of the arch effect (DOLÉDEC & CHESSEL, 1994). This approach may be also useful for defining and comparing biological assemblages indicative of different habitats or to evaluate the effects of disturbances on the habitats.

Vegetation gradients

Complex vegetation gradients partially reflect underlying edaphic gradients, i.e., nutrients, acidity and moisture gradients (OOSTERMEIJER & VAN SWAAY, 1998). The main direction of variation in edaphic factors is probably along the base-richness and acidity gradient. At one extreme of the gradient are located the acid, base-poor sites, at the other those rich in bases and showing neutral pH. This gradient may be very important in structuring the floristic composition of the sites (WHEELER & PROCTOR, 2000; ØKLAND et al., 2001), and hence in determining the composition of the butterfly fauna of these sites.

The analyses of edaphic factors show that two other gradients may be also of great relevance to the composition of the vegetation and fauna. One of these ecoclines is the fertility gradient, determined by the availability of P and K. This gradient seems to be associated with the other gradient determined by the summer water table depth and negatively correlated with the organic matter accumulation, soil moisture and altitude. However, this assertion should be treated cautiously because the variable WT usually shows a high spatial and temporal variability (WHEELER & PROCTOR, 2000).

Nevertheless, there is not a complete correspondence between vegetation and edaphic gradients. For example, floristically close associations may be found in habitats with considerable differences in edaphic characteristics. Hence, apart from the soil characteristics there are other factors that determine the vegetation in a place (e.g. topography, land use, history).

The information from the plant assemblages seems to be a better predictor of butterfly composition than edaphic factors (SAWCHIK et al., 2003). Vegetation integrates many ecological factors that may determine the distribution and abundance of butterfly species. Some plants represent essential resources for the survival and reproduction of butterflies. This is notably the case of the host plants, which represent the larval resources. Significant correlations have been detected between butterfly species and their respective host plants (SAWCHIK et al., 2003). Other plants may provide nectar sources for the adults as well as the conditions necessary for sun-basking or mating places. On the other hand, the presence of some plants can also correlate with peculiar ecological situations that are favourable to butterfly species, although this does not imply any causal relationship about their simultaneous presence. In summary, the important associations that exist between butterflies and plant assemblages make the former valuable indicators of habitat types.

Butterfly assemblages and indicator species

The butterfly assemblages are structured among a gradient from lowland eutrophic grasslands to high altitude oligotrophic bogs. Three main butterfly assemblages were identified, which showed characteristic sets of indicator species. Five butterfly species were identified as characteristic of the different assemblages : *B. ino, C. selene, L. helle, L. hippothoe*, and *P. eunomia*. As a result of the variation in their optima, the relative abundances of these five species changed gradually along the main ecocline. Therefore, the composition of the assemblages changes principally according to the dominance structure of these species. The other butterfly species are in general more widespread, generalist or ubiquitous.

One assemblage is characterized by the strong abundance of C. selene and, in lesser extent by L. hippothoe. This assemblage is typical of oligotrophic sites (bogs and wet rush meadows). A second assemblage, essentially consisting of bistort meadows is characterized by high numbers of L. helle and P. eunomia. These were both the most diverse assemblages and showed a lesser dominant structure in distribution of species abundances. The third group, typified by meadowsweet grasslands is dominated by B. ino. The vegetation of these sites is dominated by tall herbs like Angelica sylvestris, Cirsium palustris, Lysimachia vulgaris, and Valeriana repens. These categories seem to be clearly structured along a vegetation gradient, showing various intermediate habitat types. In summary, one extreme of the gradient is represented by peat bogs, followed successively by oligotrophic rush meadows, bistort meadows, meadowsweet grasslands and highly eutrophic wet sites at the other extreme. The latter are represented by species-poor grasslands dominated by the common nettle (U. dioica) and with low biological value (i.e., low butterfly species richness and abundance). All along this gradient, the composition of butterfly assemblages' changes gradually from sites dominated by C. selene to sites dominates by B. ino.

Ecological breadths of the species vary from the more eurytopic ones, typical of high-level structure (e.g., *B. ino*), to stenotopic species characteristic of some welldefined groups (e.g., *C. selene, P. eunomia*). The presence of *B. ino* seems to be assured by the presence of the meadowsweet (*F. ulmaria*), its larva host-plant. This plant is well represented in different types of semi-natural meadows comprising eutrophic grasslands, bistort meadows, and wet peaty meadowsweet grasslands.

The ecological niches of the five indicator species are probably confined to wet grasslands and they are rarely observed elsewhere. On the other hand, field observations reveal that the butterflies identified as detector species (A. levana and A. Crataegi) also occupy drier grasslands. Detector species are defined by moderate levels of fidelity and specificity. Changes in abundance of these species may provide information on the direction of ecological change (McGEOCH et al., 2002). In particular A. levana, which feeds principally on U. dioica, shows a higher tolerance than the other mentioned species (OOSTERMEIJER & VAN SWAAY, 1998). Although its indicator value is limited in this way, it may be an interesting detector species for identifying changes in the level of eutrophication of the habitats. However, detector species are also more prone to important inter-annual or spatial variations in their IndVal values (MCGEOCH et al., 2002). For this reason, future research should consider the validation of the results with independent data sets.

Our results suggest that the set of five species identified as indicators may constitute a useful tool for conservation purposes. Focusing the conservation efforts on the habitat requirements of these species, may be beneficial to protect a significant proportion of wet meadows. These five species are more or less specialized within distinct sections of the main gradient and are indicators of particular habitats. Therefore, if we preserve and manage refuge sites for these species we are likely to be providing protection for other organisms living in the same biotopes. Concentrating management practices on these five butterfly species will also result in cost-effective administration of time and funding resources.

The five indicator species show features that make them ideal candidates for focal species. They form relatively large colonies in spite of being more or less threatened species (GOFFART et al., 1992). They may be assessed quickly with cheap and standard methods. Moreover, some of these species show narrow tolerances so they may be particularly sensitive to environmental changes (OOSTERMEIJER & VAN SWAAY, 1998). By using a multi-species approach we are covering a long gradient of environmental conditions. The five indicator species encompass al the range of the studied biotopes. All the sites showed the presence of at least one of these species. The simultaneous presence of many of these species may be an indicator habitat heterogeneity.

Indicator and umbrella species are not equivalent concepts, and may be interesting complementary tools for conservation practices (FLEISHMAN et al., 2000). However, some particular species may constitute indicator as well as umbrella species. For example, the 5 species identified as indicators have some characteristics that suggest they may be candidates to conform a suite of umbrella species. They are easily recognizable, show an intermediate degree of rarity, are moderately sensitive to human disturbance, and encompass a large range of habitats (FLEISHMAN et al., 2000; MAES, 2004). However, to be considered as umbrella species, they must show a high pattern of co-occurrence with many other typical species and that was not tested in the present study. Proclossiana eunomia and L. helle are probably the best candidates because they were associated to the second correspondence axis, which was significantly correlated with species richness and diversity. One particular advantage, in the case of P. eunomia, is the considerable knowledge about its life-history and ecology (BAGUETTE & NÈVE, 1994; BAGUETTE et al., 1998; Nève et al., 1996; PETIT et al., 2001; SCHTICKZELLE et al., 2002).

To conclude, because of the many advantages described above, we propose that *B. ino, C. selene, L. helle, L. hippothoe* and *P. eunomia* may be used as indicators of habitat types, and as surrogate species for conservation efforts. These species are habitat specialist of small size so they represent interesting tools at small spatial scales as those involved in the present article. The use of species assemblages as indicators may be considerably improved by extending the approach to organisms that are taxonomically and functionally different (MAES, 2004). Future research should be oriented to integrate over larger spatial scales by incorporating knowledge from other taxonomic groups such as birds.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We thank J.L. Gathoye for the phytosociological works and Ch. Arsenault, Ch. Gilot and L. Wargé for the butterfly sampling. We thank C. Thomas, Ph. Goffart and A. Brazeiro for useful comments on the first drafts of the manuscript. Financial support was provided by a Uruguayan subvention from DINA-CYT and by a contract of the "Ministère de la Région Wallonne" to JS. MD beneficiates of a grant and a two years contract as senior research assistant from the National Fund of Scientific Research (Belgium). This is a contribution from the Biodiversity Research Center (UCL).

REFERENCES

- BAGUETTE, M. & G. NÈVE (1994). Adult movements between populations in the specialist butterfly *Proclossiana eunomia* (Lepidoptera, Nymphalidae). *Ecol. Entomol.*, 19 : 1-5.
- BAGUETTE, M., I. CONVIÉ, C. VANSTEENWEGEN & G. NÈVE (1998). Sex-biased density-dependent dispersal in a metapopulation of the butterfly *Proclossiana eunomia*. Acta Oecol., 19: 17-24.
- BECCALONI, G.W. & K.J. GASTON (1995). Predicting the species richness of neotropical forest butterflies: Ithomiinae (Lepidoptera: Nymphalidae) as indicators. *Biol. Conserv.*, 71: 77-86.
- BLAIR, R.B. (1999). Birds and butterflies along an urban gradient : surrogate taxa for assessing biodiversity? *Ecol. Appl.*, 9 : 164-170.
- CARO T.M. & G. O'DOHERTY (1999). On the use of surrogate species in conservation biology. *Conserv. Biol.*, 13: 805-814.
- CASGRAIN, P. & P. LEGENDRE (1999). The R package for multivariate and spatial analysis (version 4.0) – User's manual. Département des Sciences Biologiques, Université de Montréal, Montréal.
- DOLÉDEC, S & D. CHESSEL (1994). Co-inertia analysis : an alternative method for studying species-environment relationships. *Freshw. Biol.*, 31 : 277-294.
- DOVER, J.W., T.H. SPARKS & J.N. GREATOREX-DAVIES (1997). The importance of shelter for butterflies in open landscapes. *J. Insect Conserv.*, 1 : 89-97.
- DUFRÊNE, M. & P. LEGENDRE (1997). Species assemblages and indicator species : the need for a flexible asymmetrical approach. *Ecol. Monogr.*, 67 : 345-366.
- ERHARDT, A. (1985). Diurnal lepidoptera : sensitive indicators of cultivated and abandoned grasslands. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 22 : 849-861.
- EZCURRA, E. (1987). A comparison of reciprocal averaging and non-centered principal component analysis. *Vegetatio*, 71: 41-47.
- FLEISHMAN, E., D.D. MURPHY & P.F. BRUSSARD (2000). A new method for selection of umbrella species for conservation planning. *Ecol. Appl.*, 10: 569-579.
- FLEISHMAN, E., G.T. AUSTIN, P.F. BRUSSARD & D.D. MURPHY (1999). A comparison of butterfly communities in native and agricultural riparian habitats in the Great Basin, USA. *Biol. Conserv.*, 89 : 209-218.
- GOFFART, P., M. BAGUETTE & B. DE BAST (1992). La situation des Lépidoptères Rhopalocères en Wallonie ou Que sont nos papillons devenus? *Bull. Soc. R. Belge. Entomol.*, 128 : 355-392.
- GOFFART, P., M. BAGUETTE, M. DUFRÊNE, L. MOUSSON, G. NÈVE, J. SAWCHIK, A. WEISERBS & P. LEBRUN (2000). Gestion des milieux semi-naturels et restauration de populations menacées de papillons de jour. Direction Générale des Ressources Naturelles et de l'Environnement, Division de la Nature et des Forêts – Direction de la Nature, Jambes.
- HANSKI, I., A. MOILANEN, T. PAKKALA & M. KUUSSAARI (1995). The quantitative incidence function model and persistence of an endangered butterfly metapopulation. *Conserv. Biol.*, 10: 578-590.

- JONGMAN, R.H.G., C.J.F. TER BRAAK & O.F.R. VAN TONGEREN (1995). Data analysis in community and landscape ecology. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- KENT, M. & P. COKER (1992). Vegetation description and analysis. Belhaven Press, London.
- KREBS, C.J. (1989). Ecological methodology. Harper & Row, New York.
- KREMEN, C. (1992). Assessing the indicator properties of species assemblages for natural areas monitoring. *Ecol. Appl.*, 2:203-217.
- LEBRETON, J.D. & N. YOCCOZ (1987). Multivariate analysis of bird count data. *Acta Oecol.*, 8 : 125-144.
- LEE, B. & C. McDONALD (1993). Comparing three classification strategies for use in ecology. J. Veg. Sci., 4 : 341-348.
- LEGENDRE, P. & L. LEGENDRE (1998). *Numerical Ecology*. Elsevier, Amsterdam.
- MAES, D. (2004). The use of indicator species in nature management and policy making. The case of invertebrates in Flanders (northern Belgium). PhD. Thesis, Universiteit Gent, Gent.
- MAES, D. & H. VAN DYCK (2001). Butterfly diversity loss in Flanders (north Belgium): Europe's worst case scenario? *Biol. Conserv.*, 99: 263-276.
- MAGURRAN, A.E. (1988). *Ecological diversity and its measurement*. Princeton University Press, New Jersey.
- MCGEOCH, M.A. (1998). The selection, testing and application of terrestrial insects as indicators. *Biol. Rev.*, 73: 181-201.
- MCGEOCH, M.A. & S.L. CHOWN (1998). Scaling up the value of bioindicators. *Trends. Ecol. Evol.*, 13: 46-47.
- McGEOCH, M.A., B.J. VAN RENSBURG & A. BOTES (2002). The verification and application of bioindicators : a case study of dung beetles in a savannah ecosystem. *J. Appl. Ecol.*, 39 : 661-672.
- Nève, G., B. BARASCUD, R. HUGHES, J. AUBERT, H. DESCIMON, P. LEBRUN & M. BAGUETTE (1996). Dispersal, colonization power and metapopulation structure in the vulnerable butterfly *Proclossiana eunomia* (Lepidoptera : Nymphalidae). J. Appl. Ecol., 33 : 14-22.
- New, T.R. (1997). Are Lepidoptera an effective 'umbrella group' for biodiversity conservation? *J. Insect Conserv.*, 1: 5-12.
- Noss, R.F. (1990). Indicators for monitoring biodiversity : a hierarchical approach. *Conserv. Biol.*, 4 : 355-364.
- ØKLAND, R.H., T. ØKLAND & K. RYDGREN (2001). A Scandinavian perspective on ecological gradients in north-west European mires : reply to Wheeler and Proctor. J. Ecol., 89 : 481-486.
- OKSANEN, J. & P.R. MINCHIN (1997). Instability of ordination results under changes in input data order : explanations and remedies. J. Veg. Sci., 8 : 447-454.

- OOSTERMEIJER, J.G.B. & C.A.M. VAN SWAAY (1998). The relationship between butterflies and environmental indicator values : a tool for conservation in a changing landscape. *Biol. Conserv.*, 86 : 271-280.
- PETIT, S., A. MOILANEN, I. HANSKI & M. BAGUETTE (2001). Metapopulation dynamics of the bog fritillary : movements between habitat patches. *Oikos*, 92 : 491-500.
- POLLARD, E. (1977). A method of assessing changes in the abundance of butterflies. *Biol. Conserv.*, 12 : 115-134.
- RICKETTS, T.H., G.D. DAILY & P.R. EHRLICH (2002). Does butterfly diversity predict moth diversity? Testing a popular indicator taxon at local scales. *Biol. Conserv.*, 103 : 361-370.
- SAWCHIK, J. (1999). Répartition spatiale et dynamique des populations de Rhopalocères des prairies humides du Plateau des Tailles. PhD. Thesis, Université catholique de Louvain, Louvain-la-Neuve.
- SAWCHIK, J., M. DUFRÊNE & P. LEBRUN (2003). Estimation of habitat quality based on plant community and effects of isolation in a network of butterfly habitat patches. *Acta Oecol.*, 24: 25-33.
- SCHTICKZELLE, N., E. LE BOULENGÉ & M. BAGUETTE (2002). Metapopulation dynamics of the bog fritillary : demographic processes in a patchy population. *Oikos*, 97 : 349-360.
- SIMBERLOFF, D. (1998). Flagships, umbrellas, and keystones : is single-species management passé in the landscape era? *Biol. Conserv.*, 83 : 247-257.
- SMALLIDGE, P.J., D.J. LEOPOLD & C.M. ALLEN (1996). Community characteristics and vegetation management of karner blue butterfly (*Lycaides melissa samuelis*) habitats on rightof-way in east-central New York, USA. J. Appl. Ecol., 33 : 1405-1419.
- SPITZER, K., J. JAROS, J. HAVELKA & J. LEPS (1997). Effect of small-scale disturbance on butterfly communities of an indochinese montane rainforest. *Biol. Conserv.*, 80 : 9-15.
- SWENGEL, S.R. & A.B. SWENGEL (1999). Correlations in abundance of grassland songbirds and prairie butterflies. *Biol. Conserv.*, 90 : 1-11.
- TER BRAAK, C.J.F. & I.C. PRENTICE (1988). A theory of gradient analysis. *Adv. Ecol. Res.*, 18: 271-317.
- TER BRAAK, C.J.F. & P. SMILAUER (1998). CANOCO reference manual and user's guide to Canoco for Windows : software for canonical community ordination (version 4). Microcomputer Power, Ithaca, New York.
- THIOULOUSE, J., D. CHESSEL, S. DOLÉDEC & J.M. OLIVIER (1997). ADE-4: a multivariate analysis and graphical display software. *Stat. Comput.*, 7: 75-83.
- THOMAS, J.A. (1983). A quick method for estimating butterfly numbers during surveys. *Biol. Conserv.*, 27 : 195-211.
- WHEELER, B.D. & M.C.F. PROCTOR (2000). Ecological gradients, subdivisions and terminology of north-west European mires. J. Ecol., 88 : 187-203.

Received: June 30, 2004 Accepted: January 20, 2005

Seven new species of land planarian from Japan and China (Platyhelminthes, Tricladida, Bipaliidae), with a morphological review of all Japanese bipaliids and a biogeographic overview of Far Eastern species

Masaharu Kawakatsu¹, Ronald Sluys² and Robert E. Ogren³

- ² Institute for Biodiversity and Ecosystem Dynamics, Zoological Museum, University of Amsterdam, P.O. Box 94766, 1090 GT Amsterdam, The Netherlands
- ³ 88 Lathrop Street, Kingston, Pennsylvania 18704, U.S.A.

Corresponding author : Ronald Sluys, e-mail : sluys@science.uva.nl

ABSTRACT. An account is given of seven new species of land planarian of the family Bipaliidae von Graff, 1896 collected from various localities in Japan and China : three new species of the genus *Bipalium* Stimpson, 1857 and two new species of the genus *Novibipalium* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998 from Japan, and two new species of *Bipalium* from China. The bipaliid fauna of Japan and neighbouring countries (South Korea, Taiwan, NE China, and Primorskiy in Russia) is reviewed. The study concludes with a detailed distribution map of this group of animals in the Far East.

KEY WORDS : Platyhelminthes, Bipaliidae, *Bipalium*, *Novibipalium*, *Diversibipalium*, Japan, Korea, Taiwan, China, Primorskiy, taxonomy, morphology, biogeography.

INTRODUCTION

William Stimpson, an American naturalist who visited Japan in 1853 and 1854, was the first scholar who reported on Japanese land planarians, describing four bipaliid species and one geoplanid species (STIMPSON, 1857). His contribution was followed by Von GRAFF'S (1899) Monograph, describing two bipaliid species from Japan (one species concerning a misidentification), and a paper by KABURAKI (1922a) reporting ten bipaliids, two rhynchodemids, and a single geoplanid species, including STIMPSON's uncertain species. Although the last-mentioned publication contains errors in species identification, it became the fundamental literature on the terrestrial planarians in Japan until recently (cf. KAWAKATSU, 1991a; see also the web article by KAWAKATSU & SASAKI, 2001).

More modern revisions of a few Japanese bipaliid species were made by several workers (MACK-FIRA & KAWAKATSU, 1972; KAWAKATSU, 1991b; KAWAKATSU & KAWAKATSU, 1991) and two new Japanese bipaliid species were reported by KAWAKATSU et al. (1982) and MAKINO & SHIRASAWA (1983).

More recently, the Land Planarian Indices Series has promoted the taxonomic study of Japanese land planarians (see under URL's in References). In addition to the bibliographic clarification offered in these indices of all known Japanese terricolans, they also provided a taxonomic revision of the entire genus *Bipalium* s.l. Stimpson, 1857 and erected the new Oriental genus *Novibipalium* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998 (see also KAWAKATSU & OGREN, 1998a, b). In recent issues of the Land Planarian Indices Series the new collective (genus) group *Diversibipalium* Kawakatsu, Ogren, Froehlich & Sasaki, 2002 was created to contain uncertain bipaliid species that cannot be classified in the genera *Bipalium*, *Novibipalium*, and *Humbertium* Ogren & Sluys, 2001 (KAWAKATSU et al., 2002). A distribution map for the Bipaliidae was published by OGREN et al. (1992).

In the present paper we contribute further to the knowledge on the diversity of Japanese and Chinese terricolans by describing five new species of the genus *Bipalium*, two new species of the genus *Novibipalium*, and by providing a morphological, anatomical, and biogeographic review of all bipaliid species from Japan, as well as several species from SE Asia, thus facilitating identification of future samples of these animals.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

Prior to embedding in Paraplast, preserved specimens were first soaked in a mixture with equivalent parts of glycerin and 70% ethanol for about three months (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1981). Subsequently, each specimen was divided transversally into 2-4 pieces according to the size of the animals : head-and-prepharyngeal piece (HP, or PRE), pharynx-and-copulatory/genital apparatus piece (labelled as PC, PG, or PHG), and tail piece (T). Relatively short animals were cut into two pieces, viz. HP and PC (also labelled as GT or CT), the latter including the tail. In rather long specimens the PC part was divided into

¹ 9jô 9chôme 1-8, Shinkotoni, Kita-ku, Sapporo (Hokkaidô) 001-0909, Japan

two sections, one containing the pharynx (P), the other the copulatory/gential apparatus + tail (CT, or GT).

Embedded pieces were serially sectioned at intervals of 7-8 μ m. Generally, each of the pieces was sectioned sagitally. A short part taken from the posterior end of the HP piece (i.e. just anterior to the root of the pharynx) was sectioned transversally for examination of the body musculature; this is the prepharyngeal transverse piece (PRE). The serial sections were stained with Delafield's hematoxylin and erythrosin.

The material is deposited in the Zoological Museum of the University of Amsterdam (ZMA) and the National Science Museum in Tokyo (NSMT).

Abbreviations used for expressing the dimensions of the preserved specimens are as follows : TL, total length; HML, distance from the anterior tip to the mouth; HGL, distance from the anterior tip to the genital pore; WM, width over the mouth; TB, thickness of the body at the level just anterior to the pharyngeal region.

Abbreviations used in the figures

au, auricle; bc, bulbar cavity; ca, common genital atrium; cs, creeping sole; csd, common sperm duct; dos, dorsal surface; dst, dorsal stripes; e, eye(s); ed, ejaculatory duct; eg, erythrophilic glands; fa, female genital antrum; fgd, female genital duct; fgp, female genital pore; gl, glands; gp, gonopore; h, head plate; i, intestine; ma, male genital antrum; mgp, male genital pore; od, ovovitelline duct; p, parasite; pb, penis bulb; pg, penis glands; pp, penis papilla; ps, penis sheath; sd, sperm duct; sv, seminal vesicle; te, testis; vs, ventral surface.

A note on anatomical terminology

In previous papers of the senior author, the female copulatory apparatus was described with the terms glandular chamber or glandular duct, following VON GRAFF'S (1899) usage of the German term Drüsengang. In this paper we refer to this particular part of the copulatory apparatus as the female genital duct. VON GRAFF used the term Drüsengang, or glandular duct, for any duct receiving the openings of shell glands. Thus, a Drüsengang could refer to separate oviducts receiving shell glands, a common oviduct receiving the shell glands, or another duct penetrated by gland openings. However, a common oviduct, for example, should not be called a glandular duct simply because it receives the shell glands. Homologous structures should be described with similar terminology. The word Drüsengang or glandular duct refers to several, nonhomologous structures.

We presume that in bipaliids the part of the female copulatory apparatus receiving the openings of the oviducts is homologous with the bursal canal of other terricolans. However, in view of the absence of a copulatory bursa, we refrain from using the term bursal canal and instead prefer to use female genital duct. A female genital duct is characterized by a histology and musculature that is different from that of oviducts, common oviduct, and female or common antrum. The term female genital duct has been used in the description of marine triclads that lack a bursal canal (cf. SLUYS, 1989) and was already applied to terricolans by BALL & SLUYS (1990).

SYSTEMATIC ACCOUNT

Suborder TRICLADIDA Lang, 1884 Infraorder TERRICOLA Hallez, 1892

Family BIPALIIDAE von Graff, 1896

Genus Bipalium Stimpson, 1857

Bipalium tetsuyai sp. nov

Material : Holotype, ZMA V.Pl. 984.1, Mt. Moiwa (alt. approx. 500 m), the western part of Sapporo City, Hokkaidô, 8 August 1966, sagittal sections on 100 slides (HP : 51 slides; PC : 50 slides).

Diagnosis

Bipalium tetsuyai sp. nov. can externally be distinguished from its congeners by its moderate size (60 mm long), lunate head with a blackish margin, uniformly brown dorsal surface with rather narrow blackish middorsal stripe running from the level of the "neck" to the pharynx, and by the absence of stripes on the ventral surface. With respect to anatomical features the new species differs from other species of *Bipalium* in the presence of a large penis bulb, a moderately large conical penis papilla, wide penial lumen with many plicae, spacious and rather muscular male antrum, and a glandular organ that is moderate in size, muscular and houses a moderately glandular female genital duct which is provided with many plicae.

Ecology and distribution

Known only from the type locality.

Etymology

The specific epithet is based on the name of Kawakatsu's son, who was one of the collectors of this new species.

Description

The living, sexually mature specimen in elongated state measured over 60 mm in length. The dimensions of the preserved holotype specimen were as follows : TL : 33 mm, HML : 18 mm, HGL : 23 mm, WM : 2.5 mm. The semi-lunar head has a pair of protruding, moderately recurved auricles (Figs 1-4). Behind the head the body narrows slightly and then gradually widens towards the pharynx and the copulatory apparatus; tail bluntly pointed.



Figs 1-4. – *Bipalium tetsuyai*. ZMA V.Pl. 984.1. 1, dorsal view of preserved specimen; 2, dorsal view of the anterior end; 3, ventral view of the head; 4, ventral view.

The ground colour of the dorsal surface is a uniform brown, except for the whitish head. Auricles and peripheral region of the head are black (Fig. 1). A blackish longitudinal mid-dorsal stripe extends from the middle of the head to the prepharyngeal region. The ventral surface is pale brown, except for the creeping sole and regions over the pharynx and the copulatory apparatus. The margin of the head and basal part of the auricles (i.e. the neck) are greyish black.

Figs 5-8. – *Bipalium tetsuyai*. ZMA V.Pl. 984.1. Sagittal section through front end (5), prepharyngeal region (6, 7), and pharynx (8).

Numerous small eyes are set along the anterior margin of the head in 2-3 or more rows, this "band" of eyes being widest at the regions of the auricles and the "neck".

The ventral testes are rather small and oblong, occupying about one-third of the dorso-ventral diameter in the prepharyngeal part of the body (Figs 5-8). The testes are arranged in one or two longitudinal rows, extending from behind the ovaries to the level of the pharynx or somewhat beyond. Ovaries are located ventrally, near the posterior level of the brain (Fig. 5). Yolk glands are well developed.

The penis bulb is moderately muscular at its ventral side and houses a wide bulbar cavity (or seminal vesicle) with several conspicuous plicae. This bulbar cavity tapers gradually to form an irregularly shaped ejaculatory duct that opens at the tip of the penial papilla. The bulbar cavity and ejaculatory duct are lined with a flat, nucleated and glandular epithelium that is underlain with a thin layer of circular muscle fibres. Posterior and middle sections of the penis lumen receive the numerous openings of erythrophilic glands. The two sperm ducts form well developed spermiducal vesicles, opening separately into the antero-ventral part of the bulbar cavity.



Fig. 9-11. – *Bipalium tetsuyai*. ZMA V.Pl. 948.1 Sagittal sections of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the right.



Fig. 12. - Bipalium tetsuyai. Holotype. ZMA V.Pl. 984.1. Sagittal reconstruction of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the right.

The moderately large, conical penis papilla projects into the basal part of the male genital antrum. Judging from the uneven outline of the papilla, it was rather contracted when the animal was fixed (Figs 9-11). The outer wall of the penis papilla is covered with a thin, nucleated epithelium. Near its tip the papilla is provided with a thin, subepithelial layer of circular muscle. In the middle and more basal part of the penis papilla the circular muscle layer is considerably thicker and bounded by a layer of longitudinal muscles.

The irregularly shaped male genital antrum consists of an anterior, proximal cup-shaped cavity, a middle, tubular part provided with plicae, and a posterior, distal section with large folds, communicating with the common genital antrum through a narrow, tubular portion (Fig. 12). The male antrum is lined with a glandular, nucleated epithelium, underlain with a subepithelial circular muscle layer, followed by a thin longitudinal one. On the middle and posterior portions of the antrum the layer of subepithelial circular muscle is thicker than around the anterior part of the antrum; accompanying eosinophilous gland ducts are conspicuous in these areas (Fig. 12).

The rather wide female genital duct is provided with many large plicae and receives the separate openings of the ovovitelline ducts at its anterodorsal section. It is lined with a flat, nucleated and glandular epithelium that is underlain with a thin, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by an equally thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. Both layers are thicker at the terminal part of the duct. The female genital duct receives the openings of numerous erythrophilic glands.

The common genital antrum is a shallow, cup-shaped cavity, lined with a flat, glandular epithelium and surrounded by a layer of circular muscle and a layer of longitudinal muscle.

Additionally, the holotype specimen turned out to be infested with a gregarine species of which encysted specimens occur in the parenchyma and the muscular tissue of the pharynx (Fig. 8).

Discussion

Among the 12 known *Bipalium* species from Japan, of which three are new species reported in the present paper, *Bipalium tetsuyai* stands apart from the other species in both external features and anatomy of the genital apparatus (see Diagnosis and Table 1). A lunate head with moderate auricles and a blackish margin (as observed in the living, holotype specimen) represent unique features of this species.

A single, longitudinal blackish mid-dorsal stripe is found also in *B. fuscolineatum*, *B. hilgendorfi*, *B. kisoense*, *B. monolineatum*, *B. ochroleucum*, and *B. tetsuyai*; all these species are devoid of stripes on the ventral surface. However, in *B. tetsuyai* this mid-dorsal stripe runs only between the "neck" and the pharynx, in contrast to the other species, in which this stripe reaches the posterior end of the body.

The anatomy of both female and male genital apparatus of *B. tetsuyai* is similar to that of *B. hilgendorfi* (cf. KABURAKI, 1922a; KAWAKATSU & KAWAKATSU, 1991, Fig. 4A, B; see also Table 1). However, the penis lumen of *B. tetsuyai* is wide and provided with many large plicae, in contrast to the more regularly shaped lumen in *B. hilgendorfi*. With respect to external features it should be noted that in *B. hilgendorfi* the head is rotundate and provided with short auricles, contrasting with the semilunate head of *B. tetsuyai*. *B. tetsuyai* can be distinguished from the Korean species *B. koreense* and the Chinese species *B. kaburakii* and *B. katoi* by the fact that these species have a single middorsal stripe, as well as two lateral and two marginal longitudinal stripes (see Table 4).

Bipalium glandiantrum sp. nov.

Material: Holotype, ZMA V.Pl. 985.1, Sanjô City, Nîgata Pref., Chûbu Region, Honshû, 3-6 June 1987, sagittal sections on 28 slides (PRE), and sagittal sections on 31 slides (GT).

Paratypes : ZMA V.Pl. 985.2, ibid., sagittal sections on 14 slides (PRE); V. Pl. 985.2, ibid., transverse sections on 17 slides (PT); V.Pl. 985.2, sagittal sections on 35 slides (G).

NSMT 5417, ibid., sagittal sections on 25 slides (PRE); NSMT 5417, ibid., sagittal sections on 30 slides (CT).

Other material examined : ZMA V.Pl. 986.1, Sanjô City, Nîgata Pref., Chûbu Region, Honshû, 21 July 1987, sagittal sections on 19 slides (PRE); V.Pl. 986.1, ibid., sagittal sections on 18 slides (CT); V.Pl. 986.2, ibid., whole mount on 1 slide.

Diagnosis

Bipalium glandiantrum sp. nov. can be distinguished from its congeners by its small size (30 - 50 mm long), semilunate head with recurved auricles, uniform ochre or yellowish brown dorsal body surface with relatively broad, blackish middorsal stripe and a pair of lateral stripes, dark colouration on submarginal ventral part of the head and on both sides of the neck. The species can be distinguished by a moderately sized penis bulb, elongated conical penial papilla, long and tubular penis lumen, and moderately sized male antrum, spherical female organ with a spacious female genital duct provided with several plicae, common genital antrum anteriorly provided with an adenodactyl-like structure. Furthermore, *B. glandiantrum* sp. nov. has a diploid complement with 2n = 10chromosomes.

Ecology and distribution

Known only from the type locality, where it was collected from the garden of Mr. Kozakai's residence.

Etymology

The specific epithet is derived from the Latin prefix *glandi*, meaning "glandular" and the noun *antrum*, "cave". It alludes to the glandular nature of the anterior part of the common genital antrum.

Description

A rather small species. According to Mr. Murayama, one of the collectors, the largest sexual specimen in elongated state was approximately 50 mm in length with a width of about 5mm. The body dimensions of four preserved specimens are as follows : TL : 29-38 mm, HML : 14-18 mm, HGL : 17-23 mm, WM : 3.5-4 mm.

In the living animal the semi-lunar head shows a pair of protruding and recurved auricles. In preserved condition the depressed head is rotundate with short and rounded auricles. The body narrows slightly at the region of the "neck", and subsequently broadens again towards the pharynx and the copulatory apparatus; the tail is bluntly pointed. In preserved specimens the body has a serrate outline (Figs 13, 14).



Fig. 13-14. – *Bipalium glandiantrum*. ZMA V.Pl. 985. Ventral (13) and dorsal (14) views of preserved specimen.

The dorsal surface has a uniform ochre or yellowish brown ground colour; the head is darkish, except for its margin. The dorsal surface is provided with three longitudinal stripes. There is a black and relatively broad middorsal stripe, extending over the entire body, except for the anterior part of the head plate; the stripe becomes slightly broader over the regions of the pharynx and the copulatory apparatus. There are two dark coloured, relatively broad lateral stripes, one on either side of the body, beginning at the "neck" and extending to almost the posterior end of the body.

The ventral body surface has a uniformly pale colouration, except for the creeping sole, the submarginal parts of the head and both sides of the "neck" that show a dark colouration; furthermore, a pair of brownish, relatively wide lateral longitudinal stripes is conspicuous in living specimens.

A few rows of numerous small eyes are irregularly distributed along the margin of the head.

The testis follicles are situated ventrally in the prepharyngeal part of the body, but are only well developed (albeit not fully mature) in specimen V.PI.986.1 (Fig. 15).



Fig. 15. – *Bipalium glandiantrum*. ZMA V.Pl. 986.1. Sagittal section of the prepharyngeal part; anterior to the right; notice testes.

The penis consists of a moderately large spherical bulb and an elongated, conical papilla. The bulb is moderately muscular and houses a narrow, tubular cavity. The latter receives the separate openings of the sperm ducts at its anterior part, while the posterior section of the cavity communicates with the club-shaped ejaculatory duct, which opens at the tip of the penis papilla (Figs 16, 17). The bulbar cavity and the ejaculatory duct are lined with a nucleated, glandular epithelium that is underlain with a subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by a layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. Erythrophilic penis glands open into the bulbar cavity and into the basal portion of the ejaculatory duct. The penis papilla is covered with a thin, nucleated epithelium, underlain with a thin, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, being rather thick at the base of the papilla, followed by an equally thin layer of longitudinal muscles.



Fig. 16. – *Bipalium glandiantrum*. NSMT 5417. Sagittal section of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the right.

The male genital antrum, with the shape of a champagne glass, communicates with the dorsal section of the posterior part of the common atrium (Fig. 17). The male antrum is lined with a thin, nucleated epithelium, underlain with a thin, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by a thin layer of longitudinal muscles.

The female genital duct consists of two parts : a wide posterior part provided with several well-developed plicae, and an anterior section that ventrally opens into the posterodorsal part of the common antrum (Fig. 17). Two ovovitelline ducts open separately into the posterior part of the female genital duct. The small ovaries are situated immediately above and slightly embedded in the thickened sections of the ventral nerve cords that form the brain. Yolk glands are well developed and lie dispersed in the parenchyma.

The female genital duct is lined with a rather flat, nucleated epithelium and is surrounded by a subepithelial layer of circular muscle and a layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. Over its entire length the duct receives the numerous openings of erythrophilic glands.

The common genital atrium is formed by a shallow cup-shaped cavity that opens into the gonopore.

Ventrally to the male antrum, a hump-shaped adenodactyl-like organ is differentiated, consisting of loosely arranged muscles and a rather wide lumen. This lumen is lined with a flat, infranucleated epithelium and is surrounded by a relatively thick subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by a thin layer of longitudinal fibres. The lumen receives the numerous openings of erythrophilic and cyanophilic glands; it opens into the anterior part of the common antrum.

The posterior section of the common antrum adjacent to the adenodactyl-like organ is provided with a thick layer of circular muscle fibres, followed by a thinner layer of longitudinal fibres. The entire common antrum is lined with a nucleated epithelium.



Fig. 17. - Bipalium glandiantrum. Holotype. ZMA V.Pl. 985.1. Sagittal reconstruction of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the left.

Discussion

This species can be distinguished from the other eleven Japanese species of *Bipalium* by its rather small body size, semilunate head with moderately recurved auricles, yellowish brown dorsal surface with three longitudinal stripes, and a pair of brownish longitidinal lateral stripes on the ventral surface (Table 1); these external features are unique for *B. glandiantrum*.

With respect to its external features, *B. glandiantrum* resembles somewhat *Novibipalium trifuscostriatum* (Kaburaki, 1922) (cf. KAWAKATSU, 1991b, figs 1A-C). However, the latter is a dark brown species with three very conspicuous, blackish longitudinal stripes on the dorsal surface, while the ventral surface is without stripes (see Tables 1 and 2). On the basis of their genital anatomy, these two species belong to different genera.

Characteristic for *B. glandiantrum* is its common genital antrum provided with an adenodactyl-like structure not found in any other Japanese species of *Bipalium* (cf. Table 1). In *B. nobile* and *B. kewense* there is a small glandular structure situated in the roof of the common genital antrum but morphologically and histologically these glandular organs are unlike the adenodactyl-like structure in *B. glandiantrum* (cf. KAWAKATSU, 1985, Fig. 4; KAWAKATSU et al., 1982, figs 6A, C).

Bipalium muninense sp. nov.

Material: Holotype, ZMA V.Pl. 987.1, October-November 1987, Ômura, Chichi-jima Island, the Ogasawara Islands, Japan, sagittal sections on 16 slides (PRE); V.Pl. 987.1, ibid., sagittal sections on 43 slides (PHG).

Paratypes : ZMA V.Pl. 987.2, ibid., sagittal sections on 26 slides (PG); V.Pl. 987.2, ibid., transverse sections on

17 slides (PRE); NSMT 5418, ibid., sagittal sections on 22 slides (PG); ZMA V.Pl. 987.3, ibid., sagittal sections on 18 slides (PG); V.Pl. 987.4, whole mount on 1 slide.

Diagnosis

With respect to external features, *Bipalium muninense* sp. nov. can be distinguished from its congeners by its small size (less than 50 mm in length), lunate head with non-recurved auricles, slightly reddish dark brown dorsal surface, yellowish brown head plate, and five dark brown stripes arranged as follows : slender mid-dorsal stripe that extends on the head as an oblanceolate spot; a broad lateral stripe on each side of the median one and beginning at the "neck"; a pair of broad submarginal stripes. Ventral surface devoid of stripes. Anatomically the species is characterized by ellipsoidal, moderately sized penis bulb, short conical penis papilla, spacious penial lumen, well muscularized male antrum at its posterior section, and an oblanceolate female organ provided with a spacious female genital duct.

Ecology and distribution

Known only from the type locality, a subtropical forest at Ômura on Chichi-jima Island (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1999, fig. 1).

Etymology

The specific epithet is derived from Munin-jima Island(s), the oldest name for the Ogasawara Islands. "Munin" (or "Mujin") in the Japanese language meaning "without residents", the English name "Bonin Islands" being derived from the Japanese name for these islands.

Description

A rather small species. According to the information provided by the collectors, the largest living, sexually mature specimen reached a length of 50 mm in elongated state. The dimensions taken from three preserved specimens are as follows : TL : 24-33 mm; HML : 11-13 mm; HGL : 16-22 mm; WM : 3-4 mm.

In the living animal the lunate head has a pair of moderately developed, non-recurved auricles (Fig. 18). In preserved conditon the head has a more reniform shape (Figs 19, 20). The body narrows abruptly at the level of the "neck", and subsequently widens gradually towards the region of the pharynx and the copulatory apparatus; the tail is bluntly pointed.

The ground colour of the dorsal surface is rather dark brown, with reddish tint, except for the head plate which shows a yellowish brown colouration; the central and posterior parts of the head plate have a brownish tint. Five dark brown conspicuous dorsal stripes extend to almost the posterior end of the body. A mid-dorsal stripe starts as an oblanceolate spot on the head and extends as a narrow line to the posterior end of the body. This median stripe is flanked by lateral stripes that begin at the level of the "neck" and stop short of the hind end of the body. Along the body margins runs a rather broad submarginal stripe from the "neck" up to the posterior end. The ventral side shows a much paler ground colour, with only the creeping sole being bordered by an indistinct dark pigmentation and the lateral body margins being provided with an equally indistinct pigment pattern.

Three or more rows with numerous eyes situated along the periphery of the head, particularly concentrated in the "neck" region (also on the ventral side). The eyes extend posteriorly along the sides of the body but there they are fewer in number, more aligned in a single row, and spaced further apart.

Numerous, rounded testes are situated ventrally, extending from behind the ovaries to the level of the pharynx (Fig. 21).

The penis is provided with a moderately large, ellipsoidal bulb and a conical papilla. The bulb is moderately muscular and houses a very large, irregularly-shaped, obpyriform cavity that anteroventrally receives the separate openings of the two sperm ducts. The bulbar cavity extends into the penis papilla, gradually tapering to give rise to a wide, tubular ejaculatory duct that opens at the tip of the papilla. The entire penis lumen is lined with a tall, nucleated epithelium that is underlain with a subepithelial layer of circular muscle fibres followed by a layer of longitudinal muscle (partly intermingled circular and longitudinal muscle fibres at the basal part of the bulbar cavity).

The penis papilla is covered with a thin, nucleated epithelium and is provided with a thin, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by an equally thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres.



Figs 18-20. – *Bipalium muninense*. 18, live specimen. Ventral (19) and dorsal (20) views of preserved specimen.

The male genital antrum consists of an anterior, cupshaped cavity housing the penis papilla and a posterior, lenticular part that opens into the male genital pore (Fig. 22). The anteror part of the male antrum is lined with a thin, glandular and nucleated epithelium, underlain with a thin, subepthelial layer of circular muscle and an equally thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. Both the glandular epithelium and the muscular coat become thicker on the posterior section of the male antrum. The musculature around this posterior part consists of a thick, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, a thick layer of intermingled muscle, followed by an outer layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. Erythrophilic gland ducts open into the bulbar cavity, into the posterior part of the male antrum, and into the anterior part of the male antrum.



Fig. 21. – *Bipalium muninense*. ZMA V.Pl. 987.1. Sagittal section of the prepharyngeal region; anterior to the left; notice testes.

The small ovaries are situated immediately above and slightly embedded in the thickened sections of the ventral nerve cords that form the posterior part of the brain. Yolk glands are well developed and lie dispersed in the parenchyma.

The female genital duct consists of two parts, viz. a narrow posterior cavity with several plicae and an anterior part that opens into the posteroventral section of the female genital pore. The posterior part of the female genital duct receives the separate openings of the ovovitelline ducts, the latter approaching the duct from posterolateral direction. Many erythrophilic and a few cyanophilic gland ducts penetrate the wall of the female genital duct, excepting its terminal, ventral part. The entire female duct is lined with a relatively tall, glandular and nucleated epithelium; it is surrounded by a thin subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by an equally thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres.



Fig. 22. – *Bipalium muninense*. ZMA V.Pl. 987.3. Sagittal section of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the left.

In the holotype specimen (Fig. 23), a common genital antrum is hardly developed, except for its anterior portion, due to the elongation of the posterior part of the male antrum and the tubular portion of the female genital duct. The common antrum is lined with a nucleate epithelium that is underlain with a subepithelial layer of circular muscle and a layer of longitudinal muscles.



Fig. 23. - Bipalium muninense. Holotype. ZMA V.Pl. 987.1. Sagittal reconstruction of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the right.

Karyology

Chromosome complement : 2x = 10, with a karyotype of 2m + 2sm + 2sm + 2sm + 2m (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1990, figs 15D, 16 : *Bipalium* sp. 3; OKI et al., 1991, figs 2C, 3 : *Bipalium* sp. 3).

Discussion

This species can easily be distinguished from other Japanese species of *Bipalium* by its rather small size, lunate head with non-recurved auricles, slightly reddish brown dorsal surface with five longitudinal dark brown stripes, and the absence of stripes on the ventral body surface (Fig. 20; see also Table 1).

Although *B. kewense* also shows five longitudinal dorsal stripes, their pattern is completely different from that in *B. muninense* (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1982, figs 3A-C, E, H-I). Furthermore, *B. kewense* possesses ventrally a pair of lateral stripes (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1982, figs 3D, F, J). Both the dorsal and ventral patterns of longitudinal stripes in *B. nobile* are quite different from the situation in *B. muninense* (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1982, figs 1A-F, 2; see also web articles by SASAKI et al., 2001; YAMAMOTO et al., 2003). Additionally, *B. kewense* and *B. nobile* are very long or giant species, respectively.

The dorsal pattern of *Diversibipalium multilineatum* (Makino & Shirasawa, 1983) resembles that of *B. muninense*, especially in the thickened anterior section of the mid-dorsal stripe on the head plate. However, *D. multilineatum* has three longitudinal stripes on the ventral surface, contrasting with the non-striped condition in *B. muninense*. Furthermore, *D. multilineatum* is a long species.

The Chinese species *B. katoi* also has five dorsal stripes but their pattern is quite different from that in *B. muninense* (cf. KATÔ, 1950, Fig. 4; see also Fig. 26 and Table 4).

The anatomy of the reproductive apparatus of *B. muninense* differs from that in other species, notably in the presence of the well-muscularized anterior section of the male genital antrum.

Bipalium kaburakii sp. nov.

Diagnosis

The dorsal surface is dark brown, with five black stripes, one median and two lateral, which extend almost throughout the whole length of the body. The copulatory apparatus shows the following characteristics : an ovoid penis bulb and a conical papilla; a tubular penis lumen with many plicae; a moderately large female genital duct, the posterior part of the latter receiving the openings of the ovovitelline ducts; ovovitelline ducts approaching the female duct from ventro-lateral direction; common genital antrum shallow and cup-shaped.

Etymology

The new name refers to the late Dr. Tokio Kaburaki, who first reported on these Chinese specimens from Soochow.

Description and comparative discussion

KABURAKI (1922b) reported "*Bipalium cantori* Wright, 1860" from Soochow (=Suzhou; 31°21'N 120°40'E), near Shanghai, Chiangsu Province, SE China. In point of fact, this locality is approximately 50 km NW of WRIGHT'S (1860) locality of "*Dunlopea Cantoria*"(i.e. Ningpo, 29°54'N 121°33'E), which is now classified as *Diversibipalium cantori* Wright, 1860 (see below).

KABURAKI (1922b) described his worms as follows : "In shape the worm conforms to the typical *Bipalium*-outline, with the head, which is semi-lunar, rather less than the breadth of the trunk, and marked off from it by a constriction. One of the two specimens measures about 165 mm long by 5 mm broad. The ground colour of the dorsal surface is dark brown, with five black stripes, one median and two lateral, which extend almost throughout the whole length of the body. The median stripe is very fine and anteriorly merges into the ground colour of the head in association with the fine inner pair. The outer pair at the margin of the body anteriorly terminates at the base of the cephalic lappets and is very faint in the preserved specimens. The ventral surface is of a much lighter colour than the dorsal."

KABURAKI (1922b) did not provide any illustrations of the external features of his Chinese specimens. However, in his description of the habitus of the animal he did not mention the most characteristic features of *D. cantori*, viz. the presence of a dark brown margin on the head plate and the two dark lateral stripes that expand on the head to form beak-shaped spots (see above). In the experience of the senior author, external morphological features correlate with anatomical differences and generally occur only in restricted geographic ranges. As a consequence, stripes and pigmentation patterns on the dorsal surface represent valuable taxonomic characters for species identification.

In conclusion, KABURAKI'S (1922b) "Bipalium cantori from Soochow" is here considered to be a misidentification of a new local species. Its copulatory apparatus is characterized by the following features : a moderately large, ovoid penis bulb and a moderately sized conical papilla; a tubular penis lumen with many plicae; a moderately large female genital duct, the posterior part of the latter receiving the openings of the ovovitelline ducts; ovovitelline ducts approaching the female duct from ventro-lateral direction; common genital antrum shallow and cup-shaped (Fig. 24).

The samples of this Chinese animal studied by KABU-RAKI (1922b) were lost (cf. KAWAKATSU & SASAKI, 2004).



Fig. 24. – *Bipalium kaburakii*. Sagittal view of the copulatory apparatus (after KABURAKI, 1922b); anterior to the right.

Fig. 25. – *Bipalium katoi*. Sagittal view of the copulatory apparatus (after KATÔ, 1950); anterior to the left.

Bipalium katoi sp. nov.

Diagnosis

The dorsal surface shows five black, longitudinal stripes : a rather thin middorsal stripe, two broad lateral ones, and two broad marginal stripes; all stripes merge with a wide black band running along the entire margin of the head. The copulatory apparatus is characterized by the following features : short, conical penial papilla; very spacious penis lumen receiving the sperm ducts in its middle section; ovovitelline ducts opening dorso-laterally into the posterior portion of the female genital duct; female genital duct and the posterior, tubular part of the male antrum fuse to form a short common duct that opens at the midventral section of a muscular gential pad.

Etymology

The new name refers to the late Dr. Kojirô Katô, who was the first to describe the animals from Shanxi Province.

Description and comparative discussion

KATÔ (1950) reported a single, sexually mature specimen of "*Bipalium cantori* (Wright, 1860)" from a locality between Huang-shuighen and Huang-lingkuan, Shanxi Province (i.e. between 34°30' – 40°30'N, 109°30' – 113°30'E). Unfortunately, the material is no longer available for study) since Dr. Kato's histological slides were lost during the Second World War (cf. KAWAKATSU & SASAKI, 2004). In preserved condition the animal was 70 mm long and 4 mm wide, with a rounded head. The colour of the body was a blackish brown, but after the animal had been exposed to a clearing agent, five black, longitudinal stripes were observed : a rather thin middorsal stripe, two broad lateral ones, and two broad marginal stripes. All stripes merge with a wide black band running along the entire margin of the head (Fig. 26).



Figs 26-29. – *Bipalium katoi* and *Diversibipalium cantori*. *B. katoi*. 26 : dorsal view of the head (after Katô, 1950); *D. cantori*. 27 : dorsal view; 28 : ventral view of the head and anterior part of the body (after VON GRAFF, 1899); 29 : dorsal view of the head and the anterior part (after WRIGHT, 1860).

The male copulatory apparatus consists of a spheroidal penis bulb and a short, conical papilla. Both papilla and bulb are provided with a very spacious, plicate lumen. Sperm ducts approach the lumen from ventro-posterior direction and open into the middle section of the penis lumen.

The female genital duct receives the separate openings of the ovovitelline ducts at its dorsolateral section. Female genital duct and male antrum fuse to form a short common duct that opens at the midventral section of a muscular gential pad, the latter projecting into the common antrum. This common antrum is provided with a thick coat of muscle (Fig. 25).

KATÔ (1950) noted that there are several morphological and anatomical differences between his animal from Shanxi Province and KABURAKI'S (1922b) specimens from Chiangsu Province, but he attributed these differences to geographical variation within a single species (the two sampling localities are approximately 1000 km apart).

However, the external morphology of the head and the anterior part of the body in KATÔ'S specimen is quite different from that of *Diversibipalium cantori* and *Bipalium kaburakii* sp. nov. Although the anatomy of the copulatory apparatus of Katô's animal resembles that of *B. kaburakii* sp. nov., the former differs by exhibiting the following features : short, conical penial papilla; very spacious penis lumen receiving the sperm ducts in its middle section; sperm ducts approaching the penis lumen from ventro-lateral direction; ovovitelline ducts opening dorso-laterally into the posterior portion of the female genital duct; female genital duct and the posterior, tubular part of the male antrum fuse to form a short common duct that opens at the midventral section of a muscular gential pad, the latter projecting into the common antrum.

In view of the considerations presented above we conclude that Katô's "*Bipalium cantori*" from Shanxi Province actually represents a new species, for which we here coin the name *Bipalium katoi* sp. nov.

> Genus *Novibipalium* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998

Novibipalium miyukiae sp. nov.

Material: Holotype, ZMA V.Pl. 988.1, 28 October 1983, Hakodate City, Hokkaidô, sagittal sections on 18 slides (H); V.Pl. 988.1, ibid., sagittal sections on 16 slides (PC).

Diagnosis

On external features, *Novibipalium miyukiae* sp. nov. can be distinguished from other species of *Novibipalium* by its small size (preserved, 26 mm), rotundate head, and uniformly dark to blackish brown dorsal surface being devoid of stripes. Anatomically, the species is characterized by the following features : large, spheroidal penis bulb; penis papilla with turbinate base and long, pointed tip; penis lumen consisting of a T-shaped seminal vesicle, a middle section constituting a spacious bulbar cavity with many plicae, and a proximal section forming a tubular ejaculatory duct. The middle and posterior sections of

the male antrum form a well-developed penis sheath provided with a long, wide and bellows-shaped copulatory canal that is surrounded by a thick muscle coat. Relatively large, ellipsoidal female organ housing a spacious, irregular female genital duct that opens through a narrow, tubular part into the common antrum.

Ecology and distribution

Known only from the type locality, where it was collected from the garden of Dr. Munakata's residence, Kajichô, Hakodate.

Etymology

The specific epithet is based on the name of Kawakatsu's daughter, whose technical assistance throughout the years has been invaluable for the turbellarian studies of the senior author.

Description

A small and rather slender species. The dimensions of the preserved holotype specimen were as follows : TL : 26 mm; HML : 16 mm; HGL : 20 mm : WM : 3 mm. The contracted head was acorn-shaped with short, bluntly pointed auricles. Behind the head the body narrows slightly to form a "neck", after which it gradually widens again towards the regions of the pharynx and the copulatory apparatus; tail bluntly pointed. Denticulate lateral margins are conspicuous in the preserved specimen (Figs 30-33).



Figs 30-33. – *Novibipalium miyukiae*. ZMA V.Pl. 988.1. 30, dorsal view of preserved specimen; 31, ventral view of the anterior end; 32, dorsal view of the head; 33, ventral view.



Figs 34-36. *Novibipalium miyukiae*. ZMA V.Pl. 988.1. Sagittal sections of the prepharyngeal part of the animal.

The head plate is dark reddish brown and the dorsal body surface is uniform dark to blackish brown, without stripes. The ventral surface is uniformly greyish brown, except for the wide creeping sole. Numerous small eyes are present along the margin of the head plate, arranged in several rows.

The musculature in the dorsal part of the body is made up of a subepithelial muscle system consisting of a thin layer of circular muscle directly underneath the basement membrane, followed by a thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. A submuscular nerve net and a relatively thick layer of longitudinal muscle fibres are located below the subepithelial muscle layers. The body musculature on the ventral surface consists of a thin subepithelial layer of circular muscle, an equally thin layer of longitudinal fibres, a submuscular nerve net, and a thick layer of intermingled circular and longitudinal muscle fibres.

The ventral, prepharyngeal testes are small and rounded (Figs 34-36), the follicles being arranged in two longitudinal rows. Yolk glands lie dispersed in the parenchyma. The ovaries are small and rounded. Judging from the histological condition of ovaries and testes, the holotype specimen is probably not fully mature.

The penis is provided with a spheroidal bulb and a penial papilla consisting of a turbinate basal part and a long, pointed tip (Figs. 39, 40). The muscular bulb houses the narrow, "T-shaped", anterior part of the seminal vesicle, receiving the separate openings of the sperm ducts at its anteroventral portion, while its posterodorsal part communicates with the irregularly shaped cavity in the base of the penial papilla. This plicate cavity in the turbinate part of the penis receives the numerous openings of penis glands and narrows abruptly to give rise to the narrow ejaculatory duct. The penis lumen is lined with a nucleated epithelium, underlain with a layer of circular muscle fibres.

The penis papilla is lined with a flat, nucleated epithelium and projects into the tubular canal of the penis sheath, or pseudophallus, the latter arising from the anterior section of the male genital antrum (Fig. 40). The canal of the penis sheath is lined with a nucleated epithelium and is surrounded by a thick, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by a thin layer of longitudinal muscle. The penis sheath is covered with a relatively thick, nucleated epithelium that is underlain with a well developed, subepithelial layer of circular muscle and a layer of longitudinal muscle fibres. Furthermore, loosely arranged muscles fibres traverse the parenchyma of the free portion of the pseudophallus. In addition, a conspicuous annular zone of circular muscle extends from the base of the penis sheath well into the parenchyma of the body. Abundant erythrophilic penis glands open into the middle part of the male antrum.

The female copulatory apparatus is a large, spheroidal, moderately muscular organ provided with a female genital duct, receiving the openings of numerous erythrophilic glands. Many erythrophilic glands open into the beginning and especially into the posterior wall of the female genital duct. This female genital duct has many plicae and receives the separate openings of the ovovitelline ducts at its anterodorsal portion. The female genital duct is lined with a thick, nucleated epithelium and is surrounded by a thick coat of muscle : a thin, subepithelial layer of longitudinal muscle, a relatively thick layer of intermingled circular and longitudinal fibres, and a third thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres.







Figs 37-39. – *Novibipalium miyukiae*. ZMA V.Pl. 988.1. Sagittal sections of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the right.

Discussion

In addition to the two new species of *Novibipalium* described in this paper three other species have been reported from Japan, viz. *N. falsifuscatum* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998, *N. trifuscostriatum* (Kaburaki, 1922), and *N. venosum* (Kaburaki, 1922) (cf. KAWAKATSU, 1991b; KAWAKATSU et al., 1998; KAWAKATSU & SASAKI, 2001; see also Table 2).

On the basis of its external appearance, with blackish brown colouration on the dorsal body surface and without stripes on both dorsal and ventral surface, *N. miyukiae*

can easily be distinguished from *N. falsifuscatum* and *N. trifuscostriatum*.

N. venosum is a moderately sized species (2 specimens examined by the original author were 90 x 5 mm and 50 x 2.5 mm) with a lunate head with well-developed auricles, dark brown dorsal body surface, and without stripes on dorsal or ventral body surface. Both externally and anatomically, *N. miyukiae* and *N. venosum* are rather similar. As already pointed out by KAWAKATSU et al. (1991b), reidentification of KABURAKI'S (1922a) species presents serious difficulties. This is due to KABURAKI'S classical descriptions and his rather simplified drawings of the copulatory apparatus. Muscle layers of the copulatory apparatus and details of glandular ducts are usually not detailed in his figures. Unfortunately, all of his original specimens were lost (cf. KAWAKATSU & SASAKI, 2004).

N. miyukiae is much smaller than *N. venosum*. Furthermore, the genital anatomy of the former differs from the latter in the following features : presence of a large, spherical penis bulb; penis papilla with turbinate base and long, pointed tip; penis lumen consisting of a T-shaped seminal vesicle, a middle section constituting a spacious bulbar cavity with many plicae, and a proximal section forming a tubular ejaculatory duct; the middle and posterior sections of the male antrum form a well-developed penis sheath provided with a long, wide and bellows-shaped copulatory canal that is surrounded by a thick muscle coat. Furthermore, in *N. miyukiae* abundant ery-throphilic glands open into the posterior section of the penis lumen, while the female genital duct and the copulatory canal are very conspicuous.

The distance between the type localities of *N. miyukiae* and *N. venosum* is about 1000 km and crosses the Tsugaru Straits. The latter are also known as Blakiston's Line, representing one of the biogeographical boundaries of both plants and animals in Japan; the Strait opened some time during the Late Pleistocene, about 1 My ago (see KAWAKATSU et al., 1990). There is no indication that the Hakodate population of *N. miyukiae* is the result of an artificial introduction from Honshû.

In view of the arguments presented above, we conclude that *N. miyukiae* from southern Hokkaidô in northern Japan, represents a new species.

Novibipalium murayamai sp. nov.

Material : Holotype, ZMA V.Pl. 989.1, 3-6 June 1987, Sanjô City, Nîgata Prefecture, Chûbu Region, Honshû, sagittal sections on 46 slides (G).

Paratypes : ZMA V.Pl. 989.2, ibid., sagittal sections on 54 slides (G); V.Pl. 989.2, ibid., sagittal sections on 73 slides (PH); V.Pl. 989.2, ibid., sagittal sections on 66 slides (H); V.Pl. 989.2, ibid., transverse sections on 33 slides (PRE); NSMT 5419, ibid., sagittal sections on 60 slides (G); ZMA V.Pl. 989.3, ibid., whole mount of front end.

Other material examined : ZMA V.Pl. 990.1, 21 July 1987, Sanjô City, Nîgata Prefecture, Chûbu Region, Honshû, sagittal sections on 38 slides (PRE); V.Pl. 990.1, ibid., transverse sections on 30 slides (PRE); V.Pl. 990.1, ibid., sagittal sections on 42 slides (PG); V.Pl. 990.1, sagittal sections on 25 slides (T).



Fig. 40. - Novibipalium miyukiae. Holotype. ZMA V.Pl. 988.1. Sagittal reconstruction of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the right.

Diagnosis

On external features Novibipalium murayamai sp. nov. can be distinguished from its congeners by the following features : moderate size (50 - 60 mm long), semilunar head with protruding, recurved auricles; head plate and auricles with yellowish brown border and crescentshaped spots; uniform yellowish brown to ochre-coloured on the dorsal body surface, with a pair of brownish lateral stripes. The ventral surface is devoid of stripes. Anatomically the species is characterized by the following features : large, spherical penis bulb; short, conical penis papilla; sperm ducts opening into the mid-ventral portion of the intrabulbar, plicate seminal vesicle; male antrum giving rise to a highly muscular penis sheath, or pseudophallus; female genital duct with an obovoid dorsal section, receiving the separate openings of the ovovitelline ducts, and a bellows-shaped ventral part.

Ecology and distribution

Known only from the type locality, where it was collected from the garden of Mr. Kozakai's residence.

Etymology

The specific epithet is based on the family name of Mr. Hitoshi Murayama, whose cooperation for over 30 years has been invaluable for the turbellarian studies of the senior author.

Description

According to observations made by the collectors, the largest living, sexually mature specimen in elongated condition measured approximately 100 mm in length, with a body width of about 6 mm. Dimensions taken from

three preserved specimens are as follows : TL : 56-60 mm; HML :27-32 mm; HGL : 35-40 mm; WM : 6-7 mm.



Figs 41-42. – *Novibipalium murayamai*. ZMA V.Pl. 989. Ventral (41) and dorsal (42) view of preserved specimen.

The wide, semilunate head provided with protruding and recurved auricles (Figs 41-42). The body is rather flat and broad, with only a slightly narrower "neck" region and bluntly pointed tail.



Fig. 43. – *Novibipalium murayamai*. ZMA V.Pl. 989.2. Sagittal section of the prepharyngeal region; anterior to the left; notice testes.

The dorsal surface is pale yellowish brown or ochre coloured, with the margins of the head plate and auricles being yellowish brown. The head pattern is very characteristic, consisting of several crescent-shaped spots arranged as follows : the outer, yellowish brown edge of the head plate, a crescent-shaped dark brown submarginal mark, a third, and crescent-shaped yellowish brown spot, followed lastly by a dark brown reniform spot on the "neck" or the basal part of the head plate. Two longitudinal brownish lateral stripes run from the "neck" region to the tail. The ventral surface is uniform greyish brown with relatively narrow creeping sole.

Numerous small eyes are located along the margin of the head and on the basal parts of the "neck".

The testes are located ventrally, extending from behind the ovaries to just posterior of the pharyngeal pouch (Fig. 43).

The penis consists of a large, spherical bulb and a conical papilla. The bulb houses a plicate cavity, receiving the separate openings of the sperm ducts at its mid-ventral portion. This intrabulbar cavity continues in the penial papilla as an undulating ejaculatory duct, opening at the tip of the papilla. The papilla is covered with a flat, nucleated epithelium, underlain with a relatively thick, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by a thin layer of longitudinal fibres. The entire penis lumen (i.e. cavity and duct) is lined with a flat, nucleated epithelium, underlain with a thin, subepithelial layer of circular muscle and an equally thin layer of longitudinal muscle fibres.

The male genital antrum shows three sections : (a) an anterior, bowl-shaped cavity housing the penial papilla, (b) a middle, fusiform cavity, and (c) a posterior, wine glass-shaped part, opening into the male genital pore. The middle and posterior parts of the antrum form the lumen

of a well-developed penis sheath, or pseudophallus. The lining epithelium of the anterior and middle sections of the antrum consists of relatively tall, nucleated, and highly glandular cells. The musculature around these parts consists of a thick, subepithelial layer of circular muscle and a much thinner layer of longitudinal muscle fibres; on the middle section the musculature becomes somewhat thicker than on the other sections. Middle and posterior section of the antrum are well separated by a conspicuous diaphragm; the posterior part is lined with a flat, nucleate and glandular epithelium that is underlain with thin layers of circular and longitudinal muscles (Fig. 44).

The penis lumen and the anterior and middle portions of the male antrum receive the abundant secretion of erythrophilic penis glands.

The free portion of the penis sheath is covered with a flat, nucleated and glandular epithelium, underlain with thin layers of circular and longitudinal muscle. Loosely arranged muscles lie dispersed in the parenchyma of the penis sheath (Fig. 45).

The female genital duct comprises two parts, viz. an obovoid dorsal section receiving the separate openings of the ovovitelline ducts, and a ventral, bellows-shaped section opening into the anteroventral part of the common genital antrum. The female genital duct is lined with a thick, nucleated epithelium that is pierced by the openings of numerous eythrophilic glands. The dorsal part of the duct is surrounded by a thick, subepithelial layer of circular muscle, followed by a thin layer of longitudinal fibres. The muscle coat around the ventral part of the female genital duct is much thinner.

The common genital antrum is lined with a flat, glandular and nucleated epithelium.



Fig. 44. – *Novibipalium murayamai*. NSMT 5419. Sagittal section of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the left.



Fig. 45. - Novibipalium murayamai. Holotype. ZMA V.Pl. 989.1. Sagittal reconstruction of the copulatory apparatus; anterior to the left.

Karyology

Chromosome complement : 2x = 10, with a karyotype of 2m + 2sm + 2sm + 2sm + 2m (cf. KAWAKATSU et al., 1990, figs 15C, 16 : *Bipalium* sp. 2; OKI et al., 1991, fig. 3 : *Bipalium* sp. 2).

Discussion

N. murayamai can be distinguished from the other four Japanese species of *Novibipalium* by its characteristic

external features : lunate or semilunate head with moderately protruding, recurved auricles; head plate and auricles provided with a conspicuous crescent-shaped mark; a pair of brownish and rather broad longitudinal stripes on a yellowish brown dorsal surface; lack of stripes on the ventral body surface.

Among the known species of *Novibipalium*, the midventral openings of the sperm ducts into the bulbar cavity are conspicuous only *N. murayamai*. Another unique character of *N. murayamai* is the presence of a welldeveloped, highly muscular penis sheath, with its middle and posterior sections being separated by a conspicuous diaphragm. With respect to the female reproductive apparatus *N. murayamai* can be distinguished by its large female genital duct consisting of a wide cavity, followed by a bellows-shaped section that communicates with the anteroventral part of the common genital antrum.



Fig. 46. – Distributional records of bipaliid species from the Far East. Each symbol on the map generally represents a separate record. Arrows with the numbers 1 - 5 point to the type localities of the five new Japanese species described in this paper; numbers 6 - 7 point to the localities of the two new Chinese species. N.B. The locality of *N. falsifuscatum* is only known as Central Japan.
BIOGEOGRAPHIC OVERVIEW OF FAR EASTERN SPECIES, WITH TAXONOMIC NOTES

Japan

A total of 18 bipaliid species has been reported from Japan (Tables 1-3, Fig. 46) : nine *Bipalium* species, three *Novibipalium* species, and six species of the collective group *Diversibipalium*. Additonally, six unidentified species, tentatively considered *Diversibipalium* species, are known from the vicinity of Nagasaki City, Kyûshû, in South Japan (KAWAKATSU et al., 2000; YAMAMOTO et al., 2001, 2003). Furthermore, two *Diversibipalium* species to these species, the following unresolved taxonomic problems remain.

1. Of the nine species of *Bipalium*, four have not yet been redescribed from a modern taxonomic point of

view : *B. fuscolineatum* Kaburaki, 1922; *B. glaucum* (Kaburaki, 1922); *B. kisoense* Kaburaki, 1922; *B. ochroleucum* Kaburaki, 1922. There is a possibility that some of these four nominal species constitute synonyms.

2. A comparative taxonomic study, based on new material, of *Novibipalium falsifuscatum* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998 and *N. venosum* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998 is necessary since KABURAKI (1922a) gave a mixed description of the two species under the name of a single species, viz. *"Placocephalus fuscatus* Stimpson". Later, this species was separated into two species, viz. *Bipalium fuscatum* Stimpson, 1857 and *Novibipalium falsifuscatum* Kawakatsu, Ogren & Froehlich, 1998, with the latter being classified only on the basis of KABURAKI'S (1922a) description with illustrations of the copulatory apparatus (cf. KAWAKATSU, OGREN & FROEH-LICH, 1998).

TABLE 1

Comparative morphological and anatomical data for Japanese species of *Bipalium*. Dimensions of the animals shown as length x width. Abbreviations and conventions for stripes : md, mid-dorsal stripe; la, lateral stripes; mg, marginal stripes (occurring only on the prepharyngeal region of the body). Chromosome data : [1] 2x=18. KAWAKATSU et al. (1990, 2000); OKI et al. (1991, 1995); YAMAMOTO et al. (2001, 2003); [2] 2x=10. KAWAKATSU et al. (1990, 2000); OKI et al. (1991, 1995); YAMAMOTO et al. 2001, 2003); [3] 2x=10. KAWAKATSU et al. (1990; *Bipalium* sp. 3); OKI et al. (1991 : *Bipalium* sp. 3).

SPE	CIES	B. fuscatum	B. fuscolineatum	B. glaucum	B. hilgendorfi	B. kewense	B. kisoense	B. monolineatum	B. nobile	B. ochroleucum	B. tetsuyai	B. glandiantrum	B. muninense
BODY	Size (in mm)	80-120 x 7-8	50 x 3	120-200 x 3.5-4	60-80 x 5	120-200 x 5	30-35 x 2	35 x 5	300-1000 x 5-7	50 x 3.5	60 x 2.5	30-50 x 5	50 x 3-4
HEAD	Plate Auricle	lunate large	lunate large	rotundate short	rotundate short	rotundate short	lunate moderate	lunate well devel- oped recurved	rotundate short	rotundate short	lunate moderate	semilunate moderate	lunate moderate
DORSAL SIDE	Ground colour	black	dark olive	greenish grey	reddsh brown	yellowish brown	dark olive brown	dark brownish	yellowish brown	dark yellow	brown	yellowish brown	dark brown
	Stripes	-	1md	-	1md	1md + 2la + 2mg	1md	orange 1md		1md	1md	1md + 2la	1md + 2la + 2mg
	Patterns	_	-	-	-	wide patch (neck)	-	-	- 2111g-pre	-	h.p. with dark edge	-	– 2111g
VENTRAL SIDE	Ground colour	dark grey	grey	pale	pale	pale	pale brown	pale	pale	pale	pale	pale brown	pale
SIDE	Stripes Patterns	-	-	_	_	2la wide patch (neck)	_	-	2la _	-	narrow patch (neck)	2la dark colour (neck)	
PENIS	Penis bulb Penis papilla Bulbar cavity	large small narrow	moderate moderate moderate	large large, long narrow	moderate moderate wide	large moderate wide	moderate large, long narrow	moderate large, long narrow	large moderate wide	moderate large, long moderate	large moderate wide	moderate large, long narrow, tubular	moderate large wide
		short, tubular	short, tubular	short, tubular	moderate, tubular	long, tubular	moderate, tubular	long, tubular	long, tubular	narrow, tubular	wide	long, tubular	wide
MALE ANTRUM	Antrum	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	wide	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	wide	moderate	wide, tubular
ANTKOM	Penis sheath	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	-	- -
FEMALE COP. APP.	Organ	moderate, muscular	small	small	moderate	large	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate	moderate
COF. APP.	Female genital canal	narrow,	narrow	narrow, tubular	wide	wide, tubular	narrow, tubular	narrow, tubular	moderate, tubular	moderate, tubular	moderate	wide	wide
COMMON ANTRUM	GENITAL	moderate	narrow	narrow	wide, glandular	wide, glandular	moderate	moderate	moderate	wide	moderate	moderate, glandular	moderate
CHROMOS NUMBER (?	?	?	?	18 [1]	?	?	10 [2]	?	?	?	10[3]

TABLE 2

Comparative morphological and anatomical data for Japanese species of *Novibipalium*. For further explanation, see Table 1. [4] 2x = 10. KAWAKATSU et al. (1987 : *Bipalium* sp. TFS type); OKI et al. (1988 : *Bipalium* sp. TFS type); [5] 2x = 10. KAWAKATSU et al. (1990 : *Bipalium* sp. 2); OKI et al. (1991 : *Bipalium* sp. 2).

SPE	CIES	N. falsifuscatum	N. trifusco- striatum	N. venosum	N. miyukiae	N. murayamai
BODY	Size (in mm)	120 x 4	55 x 6-8	50-90 x 2.5	20-26 x 3	50-60 x 6-7
HEAD	Plate	lunate	lunate	lunate	rotundate	lunate (crescent mark)
	Auricle	well developed	short	well developed	moderate	moderate
DORSAL SIDE	Ground colour Stripes Patterns	black – –	dark brown 1md + 2la –	dark brown – –	blackish brown 1md –	yellowish brown 2la h.p. with brown edge
VENTRAL SIDE	Ground colour Stripes Patterns	dark grey – –	pale _ _	pale 	greyish brown – –	greyish brown 21a –
PENIS	Penis bulb	large	large	small	large	large
	Penis papilla Bulbar cavity Ejaculatory duct	short narrow, tubular short, wide	short wide short, tubular	moderate moderate short, wide	moderate wide long, tubular	large wide long, tubular
MALE ANTRUM	Antrum Penis sheath	moderate well developed	moderate well developed	moderate well developed	moderate well developed	moderate well developed
FEMALE COP. APP.	Organ	large	large	small	moderate	large
	Female genital canal	wide	wide	wide, tubular	wide	wide, tubular
COMMON GENIT	TAL ANTRUM	shallow	shallow	wide	shallow	moderate
CHROMOSOME	NUMBER (2 x)	?	10 [4]	?	?	10 [5]

3. Proper reidentification of STIMPSON's species *Diversibipalium maculatum* (Stimpson, 1857), *D. trilin-eatum* (Stimpson, 1857), and *D. virgatum* (Stimpson, 1857) is not possible, due to their very superficial original descriptions that lack any illustrations. Therefore, these three species can be classified only as "species inquirendae."

4. The descriptions of *Diversibipalium fulvum* (Kaburaki, 1922) and *D. fuscocephalum* (Kaburaki, 1922) are based on non-sexual specimens, albeit supplied with colour sketches of the external appearance of the animals. Therefore, these species can be identified properly only after new material of sexual specimens has become available. Thus, both species must be considered as a "species incertae sedis."

5. Although sexual specimens of *Diversibipalium multilineatum* (Makino & Shirasawa, 1983) have not yet been obtained, the external features of the species seem to be sufficiently different from other Japanese bipaliids to consider it as a separate "species incertae sedis."

Korea

Only a single species has been reported from Quelpart Island, viz. *Bipalium koreense* Frieb, 1923 (Table 4, Fig. 47). This moderately large species (77-81 mm in length, with a width of 9 mm, in preserved condition) has been described with yellowish brown to greyish yellow dorsal surface, devoid of stripes; ventral side pale and also devoid of stripes (cf. FRIEB, 1923, pl. 15, fig. 1). The species shows a large penis bulb with a narrow cavity, and a very long, pointed penis papilla (being coiled in Frieb's figure) with a tubular ejaculatory duct. The female genital

duct is small and tubular (cf. FRIEB, 1923, T. 15, figs 2-3; Fig. 47).

B. koreense shows some resemblance, both externally and anatomically, to *B. glaucum* (Kaburaki, 1922) from Japan (cf. KABURAKI, 1922a, figs 20-21, pl. 1, fig. 17). Both species are known only from their original descriptions.

According to notes made by RS in October 1989, the catalogue of the Natural History Museum, London, lists spirit specimens as types.

Taiwan

Two species have been reported from Taipei and its surroundings (Table 4, Fig. 40) : *Bipalium kewense* Moseley, 1878 (synonym "*Placocephalus virgatus* (Stimpson)" sensu Kaburaki, 1922; cf. WINSOR, 1983; KAWAKATSU & SASAKI, 2001), and *Diversibipalium ruteofulvum* (Kaburaki, 1922). A colour sketch of the last-mentioned species was given by KABURAKI (1922a, Pl. I, fig. 10) and it is here considered to be a "species incertae sedis".

For the latest taxonomic and distribution data of land planarians from Taiwan, see KAWAKATSU et al. (2005) and WU et al. (2005).

China

Taxonomic reviews of the bipaliids from eastern and south-eastern China can be found in KAWAKATSU & LUE (1984), LUE & KAWAKATSU (1986), OGREN & KAWAKATSU (1987, 1988), and KAWAKATSU (1991b). Discussions on the occurrence of *Bipalium nobile* Kawakatsu & Makino, 1982 and *Bipalium kewense*

TABLE 3

Comparative morphological and anatomical data for Japanese species of *Diversibipalium*. * : species inquirenda. For further explanation, see Table 1. [6] 2x=10. KAWAKATSU et al. (2000); KUBOTA et al. (2001); YAMAMOTO et al. (2001, 2003); [7], [8], [9], [10] 2x=10. KAWAKATSU et al. (2000); YAMAMOTO et al. (2001, 2003); [11] 2x=12. KAWAKATSU et al. (2000); KUBOTA et al. (2001); YAMAMOTO et al. (2001, 2003); [12] 2x=10. YAMAMOTO et al. (2003).

SPECIES		D. fulvum	D. fuscocephalum	D. multilineatum	D. maculatum *	D. trilineatum *	D. virgatum *	D. sp. Nagasaki-1 (Isahaya)	D. sp. Nagasaki-2 (Shimabara)	D. sp. Nagasaki-3 (Shimabara)	D. sp. Nagasaki-4 (Nagasaki)	D. sp. Nagasaki-5 (Shimbara)	D. sp. Kumamoto-1 (Kuamoto)	D. sp. Chiba City-1	D. sp. Chiba City-2
BODY	Size (in mm)	20 x 7.5	35 x 3	100-200 x 5	75 x 5	40 x 5.5	50 x 4	70 x 4	70 x 6	80 x 5-7	30x 2-4	200 x 10-15	30 x 3	96 x 5	160 x 5
HEAD	Plate	rotundate	lunate	rotundate	lunate	lunate	lunate	lunate	lunate	semilu- nate	lunate	lunate	lunate	lunate	lunate
	Auricle	inconspi- cuous	moder- ate, recurved	short	large	moderate	large, recurved	moderate	well devel- oped	well devel- oped	moderate	moderate	moderate	short	moderate
DORSAL SIDE	Ground colour	pale red- dish yel- low	dark brown	yellow- ish brown	dark brown	pale yel- lowish brown	pale orange	dark brown	dark greyish brown	light yel- lowish brown	dark brown	blackish brown	dark blackish brown	dark yel- lowish brown	dark yel- lowish brown
	Stripes	-	1md	1md + 2la	-	3 lines	5 lines	1md + 2la		1md + 2mg	1md	-	-	1md + 2la	-
	Patterns	-	-	-	-?	-	-?	-	- -		-	pig- mented	-	-	-
VENTRAL SIDE	Ground colour	pale	pale	pale	?	?	?	pale	pale	pale	pale	pale	blackish brown	pale	pale
	Stripes	-?	-?	1md + 2la	?	?	?	2la	2la	2la	-	-	-	-	-
	Patterns	-?	-?	-	?	?	?	-	-	-	-	pig- mented	-	-	-
PENIS	Penis bulb	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
	Penis papilla	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
	Bulbar cavity	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
	Ejaculatory duct	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
MALE ANTRUM	Antrum	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
	Penis sheath	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
FEMALE COP. APP.	Organ	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
	Female gen- ital canal	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
COMMON GEN ANTRUM	JITAL	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?	?
CHROMOSOM (2 x)	E NUMBER	?	?	10 [6]	?	?	?	10[7]	10 [8]	10 [9]	10 [10]	12 [11]	10 [12]	?	?

Moseley, 1878 can be found in KAWAKATSU et al. (2001); see also SASAKI et al. (2001). Following up on these studies, OGREN et al. (1997) listed three species for NE China: *Bipalium cantori* (Wright, 1860), *B. grayi* (Wright, 1860), *B. kewense*.

We have made a careful re-examination of the descriptions and published records for China and came to the conclusion that (1) two species should be placed in the collective group *Diversibipalium*, (2) presumed "*B. cantori*" from Shanxi Province (cf. KATÔ, 1950) represents a new species (see above), and (3) presumed "*B. cantori*" from Chiangsu Province (cf. KABURAKI, 1922b) also represents a new species (see above). Our arguments concerning *B. grayi* and *B. cantori* are detailed below.

Diversibipalium grayi (Wright, 1860) comb. nov. Species inquirenda

WRIGHT (1860) described this species under the name of *Dunlopea Grayia*. His figure of the animal is based on a "coloured drawing by Dr. Cantor (the collector of the animal) in the collection of the British Museum". Judging by both textual description and figure (for a reproduction of Wright's text and figure, see KAWAKATSU et al., 2001), the species is characterized by a triangular head with pointed, recurved auricles, brownish yellow ground colour, dark stripe along the margin of the head, and two broad, dark longitudinal stripes, perhaps flanked by a thin stripe on either side (Table 4). Since the genital anatomy of the species is not known, it is here classified under *Diversibipalium*. *Diversibipalium cantori* (Wright, 1860) comb. nov. (Figs 27-29)

The species was described by WRIGHT (1860) and VON GRAFF (1899, T. XIII, figs 1-2), the last-mentioned worker basing his description on the original specimens, as a large species (140 - 200 mm in length with a width of 6 - 8 mm, in preserved condition) showing the following features : an "expanded hammer-head-like" with recurved auricles; a dark brown edge surrounding the head plate; a dirty yellow dorsal surface showing many small, dark spots; a thin, dark mid-dorsal stripe; two dark lateral stripes that expand on the head to form very clear beak-shaped spots; two dark marginal stripes; devoid of stripes in the tail region; ventral surface of the head provided with pale brown edge and body surface showing two dark marginal stripes (Table 4).

Since the genital anatomy of the species is not known, we do here tentatively place the species in the collective group *Diversibipalium;* it is considered to be a "species incertae sedis." The animal was reported from Ningpo (29°45' N 121°33'E), Chekiang (=Zhèjiang) Province, SE China.

According to notes made by RS in October 1989, the catalogue of the Natural History Museum, London, lists the presence of the preserved type specimen.

Primorskiy (Russia)

A single, non-sexual specimen was described as *Bipal-ium* sp. from Vladivostok. Details on the external features of this specimen can be found in KAWAKATSU et al. (2000) and SASAKI et al. (2001). In this paper we classify this animal as *Diversibipalium* sp. of Vladivostok (Table 4); it is a "species incertae sedis."

TABLE 4	1
---------	---

Comparative morphological and anatomical data for *Novibipalium, Bipalium*, and *Diversibipalium* species from SE Asia. * : species inquirenda. For further explanation, see Table 1.

COUNTRIES		INDO- NESIA	KOREA	TAIWAN			CH	IINA		RUSSIA	
SPH	ECIES	N. alteri- fuscatum	B. koreense	B. kewense	D. ruteo- fulvum	B. kaburaki	i B. katoi	D. cantori	D. grayi *	D. sp. Vladivostok	
BODY	Size (in mm)	120 x 4	77-81 x 9	60 x 3	45 x 6	165 x 5	70 x 4	140-200 x 6-8	?	20 x 4.8	
HEAD	Plate Auricle	lunate well devel- oped, recurved	lunate moderate	rotundate short	lunate moderate	semilunate moderate?	rotundate short	lunate moderate	lunate recurved	lunate short?	
DORSAL SIDE	Ground colour	black	yellowish- greenish brown	pale yellow	dark reddish brown	dark brown	blackish brown	yellowish brown	yellowish brown	pale greyish	
	Stripes	-	-	1md + 2la + 2mg		1md + 2la + 2mg	1 md + 2 la + 2mg	1 md + 2 la + 2 mg	1md? + 2la ?	-	
	Patterns	_	-	wide patch (neck)	_	_	head with arched dark edge	2 beak- shaped pat- terns	2	_	
	Ground colour	dark grey	pale	pale?	pale	pale	pale?	pale	?	pale	
SIDE	Stripes Patterns	_	-	2la? wide patch (neck)?	_	_	_	_	? ?	_	
PENIS	Penis bulb	moderate	globose, large	large?	?	moderate	ellipsoidal, large	?	?	?	
	Penis papilla	small	very long (coiled)	moderate?	?	moderate	short	?	?	?	
		moderate	narrow	wide?	?	moderate	wide	?	?	?	
	Ejacula-tory duct	wide	long, tubular	long, tubular?	?	moderate, tubular	wide	?	?	?	
MALE	Antrum	moderate	moderate	wide?	?	moderate	moderate	?	?	?	
ANTRUM	Penis sheath	well devel- oped	-	-	?	-	-	?	?	?	
FEMALE	Organ	moderate	small	large?	?	small	small	?	?	?	
COP. APP.	Female genital canal	wide	moderate, muscular	wide, tubukar?	?	moderate	moderate	?	?	?	
COMMON ANTRUM	GENITAL	wide	moderate	wide, glandular?	?	narrow	narrow	?	?	?	
CHROMOS NUMBER (2		?	?	18?	?	?	?	?	?	?	



Fig. 47. – *Bipalium koreense*. Sagittal reconstruction of the copulatory apparatus (after Frieb, 1923; retouched and labels adapted according to current terminology); anterior to the left.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We are indebted to the following Japanese gentlemen for supplying the various samples of the species described as new in the present paper : Dr. Meiyô Munakata (Hakodate), Mr. Hitoshi Murayama (Nagaoka), Mr. Zôei Kozakai (Sanjô), Mr. Ken'ichi Kitagawa (Kôbe Plant Protection Station, Kôbe), Mr. Kenji Totani (Ôsaka Office of the Kôbe Plant Protection Station, Ôsaka). Mr. Kiyohiko Yamamoto (Nagasaki) is thanked for supplying many comparative samples and invaluable data on the chromosomes of various bipaliid species. Prof. Dr. Teiji Kifune (Fukuoka) is thanked for his expert advice on Greek and Latin grammatical problems. Dr. Leigh Winsor (James Cook University, Townsville, Australia) and Dr. Eudoxia M. Froehlich (Universidade de São Paulo, São Paulo, Brazil) are thanked for their advice on anatomical terminology.

REFERENCES

- BALL, I.R. & R. SLUYS (1990). Turbellaria : Tricladida : Terricola. In : D.L. DINDAL (ed.), Soil Biology Guide, John Wiley & Sons, New York : 137-153.
- FRIEB, K. (1923). Beiträge zur Kenntnis der Genera *Bipalium* und *Rhynchodemus. Zool. Jb. Syst.*, 46 : 489-516 + Taf. 15.
- HALLEZ, P. (1892). Catalogue des Turbellariés (Rhabdocoelides, Triclades et Dendrocoelides) du Nord de la France & de la Côte Boulonnaise. *Rev. Biol. Nord France, Lille*, IV, (8): 304-326.
- KABURAKI, T. (1922a). On the terrestrial planarians from Japanese territories. J. Coll. Sci. Imp. Univ. Tôkyô, 44 : 1-54 + pl. I.
- KABURAKI, T. (1922b). Notes on some terrestrial planarians. Annot. Zool. Japon., 10: 155-159.
- KATÔ, K. (1950). On some Turbellarians from Sanshi, North China. Zool. Mag., Tôkyô, 59 : 188-190. [in Japanese]
- KAWAKATSU, M. (1985). A note on the morphology of *Bipalium* kewense Moseley, 1878, and *Bipalium adventitium Hyman*,

1943 (Turbellaria, Tricladida, Terricola). *Bull. Fuji Women's Coll.*, 23 (II) : 85-100.

- KAWAKATSU, M. (1991a). History of the study of Turbellaria in Japan. *Hydrobiologia*, 227 : 389-398.
- KAWAKATSU, M. (1991b). Redescription of *Bipalium trifuscos-triatum* Kaburaki, 1922, a land planarian from the Kinki Region, Honshû, Japan (Turbellaria; Tricladida; Terricola). *Bull. Biogeogr. Soc. Japan*, 46 : 39-52.
- KAWAKATSU, M., A.V. CHERNYSHEV, R.E. OGREN & H. MURAYAMA (2000). The first record of the bipaliid land planarian from Vladivostok in Russia (Turbellaria, Seriata, Tricladida, Terricola). *Shibukitsubo*, 21: 37-40. [in Japanese, with English abstract]
- KAWAKATSU, M. & T. KAWAKATSU (1991). Redescription of *Bipalium hilgendorfi* von Graff, 1899 (Turbellaria : Tricladida : Terricola), a land planarian from Sapporo, Hokkaidô, Japan. *Proc. Jap. Soc. Syst. Zool.*, 45 : 7-23.
- KAWAKATSU, M., Y. KISHIDA & E. ASAI (1981). A new tissue embedding medium, "Paraplast Plus". Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 5 : 1-4. [in Japanese, with English abstract]
- KAWAKATSU, M. & K.-Y. LUE (1984). History of the study of Turbellaria in China. Part 2. Age of studies by Japanese and Chinese turbellariologists. *Bull. Fuji Women's Coll.*, 22 (II) : 105-117.
- KAWAKATSU, M., N. MAKINO & Y. SHIRASAWA (1982). Bipalium nobile sp. nov. (Turbellaria, Tricladida, Terricola), a new land planarian from Tokyo. Annot. Zool. Japon., 55 : 236-262.
- KAWAKATSU, M. & R.E. OGREN (1998a). Preprint of paper given at OECD Workshop on Terrestrial Planarians, Christchurch, New Zealand, February 16-20, 1998. Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 30: 1-8.
- KAWAKATSU, M. & R.E. OGREN (1998b). The Asian land planarian fauna Tricladida : Terricola. *Pedobiologia* 42 : 452-456.
- KAWAKATSU, M., R.E. OGREN & E.M. FROEHLICH (1998). The taxonomic revision of several homonyms in the genus *Bipal*-

ium, family Bipaliidae (Turbellaria, Seriata, Tricladida, Terricola). *Bull. Fuji Women's Coll.*, 36 (II) : 83-93.

- KAWAKATSU, M., R.E. OGREN, E.M. FROEHLICH & H. MURAYAMA (2001). On the places of origin of three, very large bipaliid land planarians from Japan (Turbellaria, Seriata, Tricladida, Terricola). *Shibukitsubo*, 22 : 39-52.
- KAWAKATSU, M., R.E. OGREN, E.M. FROEHLICH & G.-Y. SASAKI (2002). Miscellaneous papers on Turbellarians. Article II. Additions and corrections of the previous land planarian indices of the world (Turbellaria, Seriata, Tricladida, Terricola). Additions and corrections of the previous land planarian indices of the world – 10. *Bull. Fuji Women's Univ.*, 40 (II): 157-177. Also available as web article : http://planarian.net/db/lpindex/ix2002.pdf.
- KAWAKATSU, M., I. OKI, S. TAMURA, K. SEKIGUCHI & R.E. OGREN (1987). Preprint of papers given at the Fifth International Symposium on the Turbellaria, Göttingen, Bundesrepublik Deutschland, August 9-14, 1987. Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 18: 1-24.
- KAWAKATSU, M., I. OKI, S. TAMURA, R.E. OGREN, T. YAMADA & H. MURAYAMA (1990). Preprint of papers given at the Sixth International Symposium on the Turbellaria, Hirosaki, Japan, August 7-12, 1990. Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 22 : 1-16.
- KAWAKATSU, M., I. OKOCHI, H. SATO, T. OHBAYASHI, K. KITA-GAWA & K. TOTANI (1999). A preliminary report on land planarians (Turbellaria, Seriata, Tricladida, Terricola) and land nemertine (Enopla, Hoplonemertea, Monostylifera) from the Ogasawara Islands. Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 32 : 1-8.
- KAWAKATSU, M. & G.-Y. SASAKI (2001). An electronic reproduction of the late Dr. T. Kaburaki's three colour plates attached to his 1922 papers on Japanese marine, freshwater and land planarians (Plathelminthes, "Turbellaria", Tricladida), with a taxonomic commentary. Web article : http:// planarian.net.kswp/36/kaburaki.pdf.
- KAWAKATSU, M. & G.-Y.SASAKI (2004). The foundation of turbellariology in Japan was consolidated by papers published in the 1880-1925 age of the Zoological Magazine, Annotationes Zoologicae Japonenses, and the Journal of the College of Science, Imperial University of Tokyo. Web article : http:// planarian.net.kswp/41/oldpaper.pdf [in Japanese, with English explanation of figures].
- KAWAKATSU, M., S.-K. WU, R. SLUYS & G.-Y. SASAKI (2005). An annotated bibliography of Taiwan land planarians, with lists of linked papers on this animal group. Web article : http://planarian.net/kswp/45/taiwan.pdf
- KAWAKATSU, M., K. YAMAMOTO, R.E. OGREN & M. TAKAI (2000). Figures of the poster presentation given at the Ninth International Symposium on the Biology of Turbellaria, Barcelona, Spain, June 27-July 1, 2000. Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 34 : 1-4.
- KUBOTA, S., K. YAMAMOTO & M. KAWAKATSU (2001). First distributional record of three bipaliid species (Plathelminthes, Turbellaria, Tricladida) in Wakayama Prefecture, Honshu, Japan. *Nankiseibutsu*, 43 : 6-10. [in Japanese, with English summary]
- LANG, A. (1884). Die Polycladen (Seeplanarien) des Golfes von Neapel und der angrenzenden Meeresabschnitte. Fauna und Flora des Golfes von Neapel, Monographie XI. Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig. 688 pp + i-ix, 39 pls.
- LUE, K.-Y. & M. KAWAKATSU (1986). History of the study of Turbellaria in China. Part 1 : Ages of Materia Medica and of early expeditions by westerners. *Hydrobiologia*, 132 : 317-322.
- MACK-FIRA, V. & M. KAWAKATSU (1972). The fauna of the lava caves around Mt. Fujisan. XII. Proseriata et Tricladida (Turbellaria). *Bull. Nat. Sci. Mus. Tokyo*, 15: 637-647+ pls. 1-2.

- MAKINO, N. & Y. SHIRASAWA (1983). Morphological and ecological comparison with two new species of elongated-slender land planarians have several stripes and their new scientific names [sic]. Bull. Tokyo Med. Coll., 9: 69-83. [in Japanese, with English summary]
- MOSELEY, H.N. (1878). Description of a new species of landplanarian from the hothouses at Kew Gardens. *Ann. Mag. Nat. Hist.*, 5 (1) : 237-239.
- OGREN, R.E. & M. KAWAKATSU (1987). Index to the species of the genus *Bipalium (Turbellaria, Tricladida, Terricola)*. *Bull. Fuji Women's Coll.*, 25 (II): 79-119.
- OGREN, R.E. & M. KAWAKATSU (1988). Index to the species of the genus *Bipalium (Turbellaria, Tricladida, Terricola)*: Additions and corrections. Occ. Publ., Biol. Lab. Fuji Women's Coll., Sapporo (Hokkaidô), Japan, 19: 1-16.
- OGREN, R.E., M. KAWAKATSU & E.M. FROEHLICH (1992). Additions and corrections of the previous land planarian indices of the world (Turbellaria, Tricladida, Terricola). *Bull. Fuji Women's Coll.*, 30 (II) : 59-103.
- OGREN, R.E., M. KAWAKATSU & E.M. FROEHLICH (1997). Additions and corrections of the previous land planarian indices of the world (Turbellaria, Seriata, Tricladida, Terricola). Addendum IV. Geographic locus index : Bipaliidae; Rhynchodemidae (Rhynchodeminae; Microplaninae) : Geoplanidae (Geoplaninae; Caenoplaninae; Pelmatoplaninae). Bull. Fuji Women's Coll., 35 (II) : 63-103.
- OGREN, R.E. & R. SLUYS (2001). The genus *Humbertium* gen. nov., a new taxon of the land planarian family Bipaliidae (Tricladida, Terricola). *Belg. J. Zool.*, 131 (Suppl. 1) : 201-204.
- OKI, I., S. TAMURA, R.E. OGREN & M. KAWAKATSU (1988). Karyological and taxonomic studies of three species of the genus *Bipalium* from Japan and the United States and *Platydemus manokwari* from the Philippines. *Fortschr. Zool.*, 36 : 139-143.
- OKI, I., S. TAMURA, R.E. OGREN & M. KAWAKATSU (1991). Karyology of four land planarian species of the genus *Bipalium* from Japan. *Hydrobiologia*, 227 : 163-167.
- OKI, I., S. TAMURA, M. TAKAI & M. KAWAKATSU (1995). Chromosomes of *Temnocephala minor*, an ectosymbiotic turbellarian on Australian crayfish found in Kagoshima Prefecture, with karyological notes on exotic turbellarians found in Japan. *Hydrobiologia*, 305 : 71-77.
- SASAKI, G.-Y., H. MURAYAMA & M. KAWAKATSU (2001). A reprint edition of four English abstracts and a single text of land planarian papers published in the Shibukitsubo (1998-2001). Web article : http://www.ct.sakura.ne.jp/~gen-yu/lp/ shibukitsubo/lp.html; http://www.ct.sakura.ne.jp/~gen-yu/lp/ shibukitsubo/lp.pdf.
- SLUYS, R. (1989). A Monograph of the Marine Triclads. A.A. Balkema, Rotterdam & Brookfield : 463 pp + i-xii.
- STIMPSON, W. (1857). Prodromus descriptiones animalium evertebratorum quae in Expeditione ad Oceanum, Pacificum Septentrionalem a Republica Federata missa, Johnne Rodgers Duce, observavit et descripsit. Proc. Acad. Nat. Sci. Philad., 9 : 19-31.

URL's. For information on the Land Planarian Indices Series, see the following URL's : http://www.ct.sakura.ne.jp/~gen-yu/pla/lpindex/ixintro.html http://planarian.net/db/lpindex/ix2001.pdf http://planarian.net/db/lpindex/ix2002.pdf http://planarian.net/db/lpindex/ix2003.pdf http://planarian.net/db/lpindex/ix2004.pdf von GRAFF, L. (1896). Über das System und die geographische

- Von GRAFF, L. (1896). Ober das System und die geographische Verbreitung der Landplanarien. Verhandl. Deutsch. Zool. Ges., 6 : 75-93.
- VON GRAFF, L. (1899). Monographie der Turbellarien. II. Tricladida Terricola (Landplanarien). 574 pp + i-ixv. Atlas von

Achtundfunfzig Tafeln zur Monographie der Turbellarien. II. Tricladida Terricola (Landplanarien). Pls. I-LVIII. Wilhelm Engelmann, Leipzig.

- WINSOR, L. (1983). A revision of the cosmopolitan land planarian *Bipalium kewense* Moseley, 1878 (Turbellaria : Tricladida : Terricola). *Zool. J. Linn. Soc.*, 79 : 61-100.
- WRIGHT, E.P. (1860). Notes on *Dunlopea. Ann. Mag. Nat. Hist.*, 6 (3) : 54-56.
- WU, S.-K., M. KAWAKATSU, K.-Y. LUE, J.-D. LEE, C.-L. TSAI, H.-H. LIN, R. SLUYS & G.-Y. SASAKI (2005). Preliminary

study of Taiwan land planarians. *Endemic Species Res.* (Cichi, Taiwan), 7: 23-40.

- YAMAMOTO, K., M. KAWAKATSU & G-Y. SASAKI (2003). Bipaliid land planarians from Nagasaki Prefecture and the vicinity, Kyûshû, Japan : colour photographs of living specimens and the karyotypes. Web article : http://planarian.net/kswp/ 40/nagasaki.pdf.
- YAMAMOTO, K., M. TAKAI, R.E. OGREN & M. KAWAKATSU (2001). Chromosomes of bipaliid land planarians from the vicinity of Nagasaki in Kyûshû, Japan (Platyhelminthes, Tricladida, Terricola). *Belg. J. Zool.*, 131 (Suppl. 1): 221-222.

Received: July 29, 2004 Accepted: January 18, 2005

SHORT NOTES

B chromosomes and asymmetry of eye lenses in the yellow-necked mouse, *Apodemus flavicollis* (Rodentia, Mammalia)

Jelena Blagojević¹, Olivera Vukićević-Radić² and Mladen Vujošević¹

¹ Department of Genetics

² Department of Ecology, Institute for Biological Research, 29 novembra 142, 11060 Belgrade, Serbia and Montenegro

Corresponding author: Jelena Blagojević, e-mail : jelenabl@ibiss.bg.ac.yu

KEY WORDS : *Apodemus flavicollis*, B chromosomes, eye lens, asymmetry.

Dry eye lens weight, estimated by method of LORD (1), is one of the best parameters for assessing the age of specimens of rodent species. Due to the absence of blood vessels in the lens, variations caused by physiological and environmental changes are less pronounced than in other (phenotypic) traits. Another important feature is that the weights of the eye lens proceed to increase after attainment of sexual maturity (2). According to DAPSON & IRLAND (3) the accumulation of the soluble fraction of tyrosine in the lens is representative of growth, whereas the conversion of the soluble to the insoluble fraction is regarded as aging. The pace of growth matches the logarithm of age. By measuring the dry lens weight of animals of known age, a growth curve that can be used to estimate the age of specimens can be easily obtained. Such a curve can be of great use in population studies of rodents.

All populations of the yellow-necked mouse, *Apode-mus flavicollis*, studied so far are characterized by different B chromosome frequencies. B chromosomes are dispensable supernumerary chromosomes that do not recombine with A chromosomes. B chromosome evolve independently of the standard chromosome complement (4). The effects of B chromosomes are numerous but it is difficult, with minor exceptions, to follow them at the phenotype level. They differ from one species to another. Developmental effects of B chromosomes are not rare in plants and are occasionally observed in animals. A good example is the grasshopper, *Myrmeleotettix maculatus* (5, 6). In *A. flavicollis* relationships between some morphometric characteristics are changed in the presence of Bs (7).

Measurement of asymmetry of morphometric characteristics is frequently used to study the effects of environmental and genetic factors (8). In this study variations of lens asymmetry relative to the mass of the lenses (i.e. the age of the specimen) were studied in the context of the presence of B chromosomes in populations of *A. flavicollis* with the aim to establish do the presence of Bs influences that relation.

Samples of the yellow-necked mouse Apodemus flavicollis were collected from three localities in Yugoslavia. These were Mt. Cer (CQ84), Mt. Avala (DQ64) and Mt. Fruška Gora (DR00) from 1993-1995, and from 1997-2000 (UTM coordinates are in brackets). A total of 133 animals were collected (Cer n=54, Avala n=48, Fruška Gora n=31). Chromosomes were prepared from bone marrow according to the standard procedure (9). The number of chromosomes was defined by scoring 30 metaphases per animal. The number of animals with B chromosomes per population was expressed as a frequency designated as fB. Eyeballs were removed and stored in 10% formaldehyde. After two weeks the lenses were dissected from the eyeballs, cleaned, rinsed with distillated water and dried in an oven at 80°C for 48 h (10). Immediately after removal from the oven, they were weighed to an accuracy of 0.01 mg using a Mettler laboratory scale. Each lens (11, 12) of an individual specimen was weighed separately, but without knowledge about left or right origin. The mass of a pair of lenses was used as an age indicator. Weighing of the lenses was performed by the same person (M.V.), with double-checking, without any prior knowledge of the results of chromosome analyses. The differences between pairs of lenses (asymmetry) were calculated as abs(11-12). Correlation analysis and Student ttest were performed using Stat 5.0 software.

The frequencies of animals with Bs were similar at the Cer and Avala (0.37 and 0.35) localities, while at Fruška Gora the frequency was higher (0.45), with average frequency 0.38. Dry eye lens weight measurements revealed that the population of specimens from Fruška Gora was the youngest, whereas the population from Avala was the oldest (Table 1). Samples from all three localities were pooled in order to analyze the effects of B chromosomes. Sample of animals with Bs was mostly made of animals with 1B (68.6%) and the rest was made of animals with 2B (19.6%), 3B (9.8%) and 4B (2%). Due to the small number of animals with more than one B we analyzed only the effects of presence of Bs. In pooled samples the ratio of males to females was 1:1.38. Absolute differences in lens masses ranged from 0.1 to 3.1 mg, representing 0.29-21.65% of the weight of the lens. Estimated measurement error does not exceed significantly the mean value of asymmetry. Taking into consideration these variations of lens mass, the correlation coefficients between the total weight of both lenses (age) and the absolute asymmetry were calculated for animals with and without B chromosomes (Fig. 1).

TABLE 1.

Weights of dry eye lenses (in mg) \pm SE in males (M) and females (F) without (B0) and with (B+) B chromosomes (n – number of animals, fB – frequency of animals with Bs).

Locality		B0					
Locanty	F	М	n	F	М	n	fB
Mt. Cer	23.9	24.7	34	24.3	20.9	20	0.37
	±1.17	±1.58		±1.56	±2.19		
Mt. Avala	22.7	25.5	31	24.4	26.6	17	0.35
	± 1.80	± 2.40		±1.73	± 2.69		
Mt. Fruška Gora	20.4	22.1	17	20.7	20.4	14	0.45
	±2.39	± 2.91		±2.36	±1.47		
Total	23	3.5		22	2.4		
	± 0	.80	82	± 0	.80	51	0.38



Fig. 1. - Correlation between dry eye lens mass (in mg) and lens asymmetry (abs(11-12)) in the group of animals without (B0) and with (B+) B chromosomes

The aim was to see whether the level of asymmetry of the lens was age-dependent in these two groups. It appears that in the group of animals without Bs (B0), the age and asymmetry of eye lenses were not dependent (r=0.08), while in the group of animals with Bs (B+) the correlation was significant and with a negative sign (r=-0.38). Results of t-test (t=-2.88, p=0.006) approve that the correlation coefficient differs significantly from zero. Therefore, in the last group the asymmetry decreased with age. It is possible that B chromosome carriers with a high degree of asymmetry were eliminated from populations at a higher rate. Previously it was shown that the presence of Bs had an effect of prolonging the mitotic cycle in the plant Lolium perenne (11). It is possible that the presence of Bs affected early embryonic and postnatal development. GLIWICZ & JANCEWICZ (12) proposed that significant differences in weight between left and right lenses in specimens of Sorex minutus are the consequence of illness. It is possible that weight differences between left and right lenses could be ascribed to different diseases and developmental disturbances. If differences in the weights of the lenses lead to anomalies in vision (which is very important for A. flavicollis as they are mostly nocturnal animals), it can be expected that selection pressure will be very high in animals that have such disorders. But

differences in dry weight between lenses could be also produced by differences in developmental stability between groups of animals with and without Bs.

In the population from Mt. Jastrebac, BLAGOJEVIĆ & VUJOŠEVIĆ (13) found that under conditions of stress due to overcrowding, young animals with Bs were preferentially eliminated. Furthermore, it was found that B chromosomes in this species were characterized by the presence of specific molecular marker sequences (14). The results of this study imply that the presence of B chromosomes influences relation between lens asymmetry and age, although the causative role of Bs remains to be established.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

Supported by Ministry of Science and Technology of Serbia, contract No. 1693.

REFERENCES

 LORD, R.D.JR. (1959). The lens as an indicator of age in cottontail rabbits. *The Journal of Wildlife Management*, 23: 358-360.

- ZHOU, G. & R.W. WILLIAMS (1999). Mouse models for the analysis of myopia : an analysis of variation in eye size of adult mice. *Optometry and Vision Science*, 76 : 408-418.
- DAPSON, W.R. & M.J. IRLAND (1972). An accurate method of determining age in small mammals. *Journal of Mammology*, 53 : 100-106.
- CAMACHO, J.P.M., T.F. SHARBEL & L.W. BEUKEBOOM (2000). B chromosome evolution. *Philosophical Transactions of the Royal Society*, 355 : 163-178.
- HEWITT, G.M. & T.M. EAST (1978). Effects of B chromosomes on development in grasshopper embryos. *Heredity*, 41: 347-356.
- HARVEY, A.W. & G.M. HEWITT (1979). B-chromosomes slow development in a grasshopper. *Heredity*, 42 : 397-401.
- BLAGOJEVIĆ, J. & M. VUJOŠEVIĆ (2000). Do B chromosomes affect morphometric characters in yellow-necked mice *Apodemus flavicollis* (Rodentia, Mammalia). *Acta Theriologica*, 45: 129-138.
- MøLLER, A.P. & J.P. SWADDLE (1997). Asymmetry, developmental stability, and evolution. Oxford University Press: 1-271.

- HSU, T.C. & J.L. PATTON (1969). Bone marrow preparations for chromosome studies. In : K. Benirschke (ed), *Comparative Mammalian Cytogenetics*, Berlin, Heidelberg, New York : Springer-Verlag : 454-460.
- 10. NABAGLO, L. & K. PACHINGER (1979). Eye lens weight as an age indicator in yellow-necked mice. *Acta Theriologica*, 24 : 119-122.
- 11. EVANS, G.M., H. REES, C.L. SNELL & S. SUN (1972). The relationship between nuclear DNA amount and the duration of the mitotic cycle. *Chromosome Today*, 3 : 24-31.
- 12. GLIWICZ, J. & E. JANCEWICZ (2001). Aging and cohort dynamics in *Sorex* shrews. *Acta Theriologica*, 46 : 225-234.
- BLAGOJEVIĆ, J. & M. VUJOŠEVIĆ (1995). The role of B-chromosomes population dynamics of yellow-necked mice *Apodemus flavicollis* (Rodentia, Mammalia). *Genome*, 38: 472-478.
- 14. TANIĆ, N., N. DEDOVIĆ, M. VUJOŠEVIĆ & B. DIMITRIJEVIĆ (2000). DNA profiling of B-chromosomes from the yellownecked mouse *Apodemus flavicollis* (Rodentia, Mammalia). *Genome Research*, 10 : 55-61.

Received: August 3, 2003 Accepted: December 10, 2004

Leptosynapta minuta (Becher, 1906) (Echinodermata, Holothuroidea), a new record for Belgian marine waters

Claude Massin¹, Ward Appeltans², Gert Van Hoey³, Magda Vincx³ and Steven Degraer³

¹ I.R.Sc.N.B., Section Malacologie, Rue Vautier 29, B-1000 Brussels, Belgium

² Flanders Marine Institute, Pakhuizen 45-52, B-8400 Ostend, Belgium

³ Ghent University, Marine Biology Section, Campus De Sterre, s8, Krijgslaan 281, B-9000 Ghent, Belgium

Corresponding author : C. Massin : claude.massin@naturalsciences.be

ABSTRACT. *Leptosynapta minuta* Becher, 1906 is described for the first time from Belgian marine waters. This brings a new order (Apodida), family (Synaptidae), subfamily (Leptosynaptinae) and genus (*Leptosynapta*) to the Belgian holothuroid fauna. A morphological description of the specimens, the habitat characteristics and all literature records with a distribution map of *L. minuta* is given.

KEY WORDS : Apodida, *Leptosynapta minuta*, new record, Belgium, distribution.

INTRODUCTION

Until now only four holothuroid species were known from Belgian marine waters (MASSIN, 1988; MASSIN & DE RIDDER, 1989), all belonging to the order Dendrochirotida. The holothuroid fauna in adjacent countries is much richer (VANDEN BERGHE & APPELTANS, 2003), including seven apodid species in France of which at least five also occur in the North Sea (MADSEN & HANSEN, 1994; HANSSON, 2001), at times very close to the Belgian border (VAN DAMME & HEIP, 1976). This supposed absence of apodids from Belgian marine waters is surprising because European apodids are known to live in sandy sea beds (KOEHLER, 1924; MORTENSEN, 1927; CHERBON-NIER, 1953; PICTON, 1993), the dominant biotope along our coast. The present record fills this gap.

MATERIAL AND METHODS

The sampling station where *Leptosynapta minuta* was found is situated on the northern side of the Kwintebank (51° 18,65; 2° 40,75 (WGS84)), in the Flemish bank area. This station was investigated during a sampling expedition on 13 February 2003, using the research vessel 'Zeeleeuw'. The sample was taken with a Van Veen grab (sampling surface area : 0.1026 m²) and sieved after fixation (with 8% formaldehyde-seawater solution) through a sieve of 1mm mesh. For granulometric analyses the dried sediment was first sieved through a 1 mm mesh-size sieve. The mass percentage relative to the total sediment sample was determined for the sediment fractions larger than 1 mm. The sediment samples smaller than 1 mm were further analysed using a LS Coulter particle size analyser and sediment fractions were expressed as volume percentage of the 0-1 mm fraction. Median grainsize was determined based on the 0-1 mm fraction.

Five pieces of holothuroid origin were found and examined. These are now held in the collections of the Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences under code IG 30055.

> Order Apodida Brandt, 1835 Family Synaptidae Burmeister, 1837 Subfamily Leptosynaptinae Smirnov, 1989 Genus *Leptosynapta* Verrill, 1867 *Leptosynapta minuta* Becher, 1906 Figs 1 A-C; Map 1



Fig. 1. – *Leptosynapta minuta* Becher, 1906. A : anchors from body wall; B : anchor plates from body wall; C : rods from tentacles.

Synapta minuta BECHER, 1906 : 507, text-Figs 1-3.

Leptosynapta minuta; H.L. CLARK, 1907: 93; MORTENSEN, 1924: 251; KOEHLER, 1924: 272, pl. 15, Fig. 15; MORTENSEN, 1927: 431, Fig. 262(4); MORTENSEN & LIEBERKIND, 1928: 32, Fig. 62; HEDING, 1928 : 207; CHERBONNIER, 1951 : 13; CHERBONNIER, 1953 : 165, pl. 1, Figs A(a-l); CHERBONNIER, 1960 : 122, Figs 2(k-l); Fize, 1960 : 505; MONNIOT, 1962 : 294, Figs 25(a-d); SWEDMARK, 1964: 33; SWEDMARK, 1965: 94; TORTONESE, 1965 : 103; CHERBONNIER & GUILLE, 1967 : 328; MONCHARMONT, 1968: 513; SWEDMARK, 1971: 45; SALVINI-PLAWEN, 1972: 464, Figs 5 & 7; WILLIAMS, 1972 : 636; VAN DAMME & HEIP, 1976 : 44; TORTONESE, 1977: 341; SALVINI-PLAWEN, 1977: 75; TORTONESE, 1980: 146; O'Connor, 1981: 248; Besteiro & URGORRI, 1987: 94; PÉREZ-RUZAFA et al., 1992: 176; PICTON, 1993: 84, textfig. (a); MADSEN & HANSEN, 1994 : 108, Figs 69-70, map 29; PANCUCCI, 1994 : 31; PANCUCCI, 1996: 47, map 21; MCKENZIE, 1997: 275; HANSSON, 2001 : 350; PICTON & MORROW, 2002 : http:// www.ulstermuseum.org.uk/marinelife/echinode/lepmin.htm.

1. Morphology

The five pieces represent at least three adult specimens (three pieces have a tentacle crown). Specimens are in poor condition, whitish grey in colour and with adhering sand grains. The largest of the pieces with a tentacle crown is 2.9 mm long and 0.9 mm across. It has ten digitiform tentacles without lateral digits. The two other specimens with a tentacle crown (6 and 4 visible tentacles) are respectively 2.4 mm long x 0.6 mm across and 2.2 mm long x 0.6 mm across. The two remaining pieces are both 1.1 mm long x 0.4 mm across. Due to the very small size of the specimens no observation of internal anatomy was possible without destroying them. Hence, the presence or absence of juveniles in the coelomic cavity could not be ascertained.

In the body wall there are anchors and anchor plates. Anchors (Fig. 1A) are $69.2 \pm 3.4 \ \mu m \ x \ 37.5 \pm 2.5 \ \mu m$ (n=12). The arms and vertex are smooth and the stock is finely dentate. The axis presents a small swelling close to the stock. The anchor plates (Fig. 1B) are oval, $62.3 \pm 2.9 \ \mu m \ x \ 44.2 \pm 2.8 \ \mu m$ (n=12), perforated by about 12 holes, and without a posterior bridge. The two central holes are generally smooth. The peripheral ones are smooth or serrated. If serrated they have between 1 and 5 very large teeth. There are three posterior holes, the central one very often reduced to a slit (Fig. 1B). Within the tentacles are small rods (Fig. 1C), 40-60 \ \mu m \ long, straight or slightly curved with forked extremities. Miliary granules are absent in body wall and tentacles.

2. Habitat characteristic

Coarse sandy sediment, with a median grain-size of 569 μ m, characterise the sampling station. The dominant sand fraction (62.5%) is the coarse fraction (500-850 μ m), followed by the medium fraction (250-500 μ m) with 33.4%. The gravel fraction (>2000 μ m) takes up 39.91% of the total mass, while the very coarse sand fraction (1000-2000 μ m) takes up 31.18%. The sample was taken at a depth of 14 meters.

3. Distribution (map 1)

Germany (Helgoland : type locality), the Netherlands, Belgium, France (Roscoff, Banyuls, Marseille, Sète), Ireland (Galway), UK (Menai Bridge), Spain (Galicia), Italy (Leghorn, Napoli), Greece (N Evvoikos),? Northwest Africa.

This is the first record of *Leptosynapta minuta* in Belgian waters. It brings not only a new species record to the Belgian fauna but also that of the genus *Leptosynapta*, subfamily Leptosynaptinae, family Synaptidae and the new order Apodida.

DISCUSSION

The very small size (body length less than 1 cm) of the specimens, their digitiform tentacles without lateral digits, and their small anchors (50-75 μ m long) and anchor plates (60-68 μ m long), are all characteristic of the species *Leptosynapta minuta* Becher, 1906. The shape and size of the ossicles are similar to that described by MORTENSEN (1927) for specimens from Helgoland, by CHERBONNIER (1953) for specimens from Roscoff, by O'CONNOR (1981) for specimens from Banyuls. All the other species belonging to the genus *Leptosynapta* have larger ossicles : longer than 120 μ m and very often reaching 200-250 μ m (HEDING, 1928).

Leptosynapta minuta is found amongst maerl (marine sediment made of branched calcareous red algae) and coarse gravel in areas dominated by strong currents (PIC-TON, 1993; PICTON & MORROW, 2002). In addition the species is often associated with "Amphioxus sand", coarse sand present in the Mediterranean (FIZE, 1960; MONNIOT, 1962; CHERBONNIER & GUILLE, 1967) as well as along the European Atlantic coast (BESTEIRO & URGORRI, 1987). These habitat characteristics can also be found on the northern side of the Kwintebank (BONNE, 2003), the Belgian location. The depth at which the present specimens originated (14 m) is consistent with most of the data available in the literature : 2-20 m depth (MORTENSEN, 1927; Fize, 1960; Cherbonnier, 1960; Cherbonnier & GUILLE, 1967; MONCHARMONT, 1968; SALVINI-PLAWEN, 1972, 1977; O'CONNOR, 1981). Only VAN DAMME & HEIP (1976) and PANCUCCI (1994) recorded specimens at a greater depth (35 and 60 m, respectively).

Leptosynapta minuta has an extensive distribution pattern (see map1) and is often regarded as a locally abundant species (CHERBONNIER & GUILLE, 1967; SWEDMARK, 1971). The locality "Northwest Africa", recorded by MADSEN & HANSEN (1994), could not be traced and is therefore dubious. It is surprising that *L. minuta*, a species with a reduced dispersal capacity (no planktonic stage due to brooding) has such a wide distribution.

It is surprising that *L. minuta* had not previously been reported from Belgian waters despite the huge sampling efforts over the last 30 years, both by macrobenthic (Van Veen grab) and meiobenthic (Reineck) sampling techniques. Probably, the post-sampling treatments used for macro- and meiobenthic samples caused the loss of *L. minuta* since, during sieving (alive) of macrobenthic samples, the species (width< 1mm) can easily pass through



Distribution of Leptosynapta minuta Becher, 1906.

the 1 mm sieve. Perhaps the species can only be found in samples which are fixed before sieving, a procedure not followed for samples taken in coarse sandy areas (VAN HOEY et al., 2004). Meiobenthic samples, on the other hand, are treated with Ludox and centrifuged in order to separate the organisms and the sediment, as described in GIERE (1993). Specimens of *L. minuta* are probably overlooked with such sampling techniques (except for a single specimen in the study of VAN DAMME & HEIP, 1976) because they (1) cling to the sand grains or (2) have a different specific gravity compared to other meiobenthic taxa (e.g. Nematoda, Copepoda).

DE RYCKE (1982) and DENECKER (1983) did report on the presence of holothuroid juveniles in Belgian marine waters but it was not possible to check whether these juveniles represented *L. minuta* as their material is no longer extant.

Data on the behaviour of *L. minuta* is scarce and somewhat contradictory. Everyone agrees that it is a brooding species, but opinions are divided regarding its position within the sand. According to CHERBONNIER (1953 : 167) it does not crawl on the trivium as other synaptids but is positioned vertically in the sediment with the anus up. On the contrary, O'CONNOR (1981 : 248) reported "the animal lies on or within the sediment in a horizontal position. The calcareous ring is set in an oblique angle, allowing the tentacles to move over the substrate". Similarly, PIC-TON (1993 : 84) mentioned that "the animal moves among the coarse particles in which it lives by crawling and wrapping its arms around the pieces of gravel or maerl". According to SWEDMARK (1964 : 33) the tentacles are strongly adhesive and help to move in the interstices.

These observations were most probably made using dredged specimens and not *in situ*. If this is the case it is not surprising to observe contradictory behaviours, which can be attributed to activities of disturbed animals.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

The authors want to thank I. Moulaert for the analysis of the macrobenthos samples within the framework of the MSc Marine and Lacustrine Sciences thesis "Macrobenthos sampling accuracy: On board-sample"; the crew of the research vessel 'Zeeleeuw' for their help during the sampling campaign; D. Schram for the analysis of the sedimentological samples; E. Vanden Berghe from the Flanders Marine Data and Information Centre for plotting the map; V. Galloway for improving the English and two anonymous reviewers for their constructive comments.

REFERENCES

- BECHER, S. (1906). Eine brutpflegende Synaptide der Nordsee. Zool. Anz., 30: 505-509, Figs 1-3.
- BESTEIRO, C. & V. URGORRI (1987). Contribucion al conocimiento de la fauna mesopsammia de las 'Arenas de Amphioxus' en Galicia. Thalassas, 5(1): 91-95.

- BONNE, W. (2003). Benthic copepod communities in relation to natural and anthropogenic influences in the North Sea. PhD-thesis, University of Ghent.
- 4. CHERBONNIER, G. (1951). Inventaires de la faune marine de Roscoff. Echinodermes. *Trav. Stat. Biol. Roscoff, N.S.* 2 suppl. 4 : 1-15.
- 5. CHERBONNIER, G. (1953). Recherches sur les synaptes (holothuries apodes) de Roscoff. *Trav. Stat. Biol. Roscoff*, 90 : 163-186.
- CHERBONNIER, G. (1960). Complément à la faune échinodermique des Pyrénées-Orientales. Vie Millieu, 11(1): 118-123.
- 7. CHERBONNIER, G. & A. GUILLE (1967). Complément à la faune des échinodermes de la mer de Banyuls. *Vie Millieu*, 18(2) : 317-330.
- 8. CLARK, H.L. (1907). The Apodous Holothurians : a Monograph of the Synaptidae and Molpadiidae, Including a Report on the Representatives of these Families in the Collections of the United States National Museum. *Smithson. Contr. Knowl.*, XXXV (1723) : 1-231 + 13 pls.
- DENECKER, J. (1983). Echinodermata van de Zuidelijke Bocht van de Noordzee. Onderzoek naar soortensamenstelling en verspreiding. Maandwerk 2e Licentie Dierkunde, R.U.G.
- 10. DE RYCKE, R. (1982). Macrofauna en interstitiële anneliden van vijf zandbanken in de Belgische Kustwateren. Licentiaatverhandeling, R.U.G.
- FIZE, A. (1960). Sur les fonds à *Amphioxus* de la plage de Sète. *Vie Millieu*, 11 : 505-506.
- 12. GIERE, O. (1993). Meiobenthology: the microscopic fauna in aquatic sediments. Springer Verlag, Berlin: 273.
- 13. HANSSON, H.G. (2001). Echinodermata. In : COSTELLO, M.J., C. EMBLOW & R. WHITE (eds), European Register of Marine Species. A check-list of the marine species in Europe and a bibliography of guides to their identification. Patrimoines naturels, Vol 50 : 336-351, Publ. Sci. Mus. Natn. Hist. Nat. Paris
- 14. HEDING, S.G. (1928). Synaptidae. Vidensk. Meddl. Dansk nat. For. Kobenhavn, 85 : 1-323 + Pls II & III.
- KOEHLER, R. (1924). Les Echinodermes des mers d'Europe. In : G. DON (ed.), *Encyclopédie Scientifique, Bibliothèque de Zoologie*, DOUIN, Paris, 2 vols.
- MADSEN, F.J. & B. HANSEN (1994). Echinodermata Holothuroidea. Marine Invertebrates of Scandinavia. 9, Scandinavian University Press, Norway : 143.
- 17. MASSIN, C. (1988). Note sur deux holothuries nouvelles pour la faune belge. *Bull. Inst. r. Sci. Nat. Belgique, Biologie*, 58 : 71-74.
- 18. MASSIN, C. & C. DE RIDDER (1989). Les échinodermes de Belgique. In : WOUTERS, K. & L. BAERT (eds), *Invertebraten* van België, Invertébrés de Belgique : Verhandelingen van het Symposium "Invertebraten van België" = Comptes rendus du Symposium "Invertébrés de Belgique" = Proceedings of the Symposium "Invertebrates of Belgium". Brussel, 25-26 november 1988. Koninklijk Belgisch Instituut voor Natuurwetenschappen, Brussel : 395-402.
- MCKENZIE, J.D. (1997). Echinodermata. In : HOWSON, C.M. & B.E. PICTON (eds), *The species directory of the marine fauna and flora of the British Isles and surrounding seas*. Ulster Museum Publication, 276 : 287-295. The Ulster Museum, Belfast, UK.
- 20. MONCHARMONT, U. (1968). Rinvenimento di due oloturoidi (Apoda) rari : Leptosynapta minuta (BECHER, 1906) e Trochodota venusta (SEMON, 1887) nel Golfo di Napoli. Pubbl. Staz. Zool. Napoli, 36(3) : 513-514.
- MONNIOT, F. (1962). Recherches sur les graviers à Amphioxus de la région de Banyuls-sur-Mer. Vie Millieu, 13 : 231-322.
- 22. MORTENSEN, Th. (1924). *Pighude (Echinodermer)*. Danmark's Fauna 27, Kobenhaven : 274.

- 23. MORTENSEN, Th. (1927). Handbook of the echinoderms of the British Isles. Oxford University Press, London : viii + 471.
- 24. MORTENSEN, T. & I. LIEBERKIND (1928). Echinodermata. In : GRIMPE, G. & E. WAGLER (eds), *Tierwelt der Nord- und Ost-see*, 12(8), G. GRIMPE, Leipzig : 128.
- 25. O'CONNOR, B. (1981). Some echinoderms from the west coast new to the Irish fauna. *Ir. Nat. J.* 20(6) : 247-249.
- PANCUCCI, M.A. (1994). New records of echinoderm species in Greek waters. *BIOS (Macedonia, Greece)*, 2 : 31-33.
- PANCUCCI, M.A. (1996). Faunae Graeciae. VI. The Echinodermata of Greece. Hellenic Zoological Society, Athens : vi + 162.
- PÉREZ-RUZAFA, A., C. MARCOS & J.J. BALLADO (1992). Holothurias (Echinodermata, Holothuroidea) de las islas Canarias. II. Ordenes Dendrochirotida, Elasipodida, Apodida y Molpadida. *Rev. Acad. Canar. Cienc.*, IV(3 & 4): 163-185.
- 29. PICTON, B.E. (1993). A Field Guide to the Shallow-water Echinoderms of the British Isles. Immel Publishing, London : 96.
- PICTON, B.E. & C.C. MORROW (2002). In : Encyclopedia of Marine Life of Britain and Ireland - http://www.ulstermuseum.org.uk/marinelife/echinode/lepmin.htm
- SALVINI-PLAWEN, L.V. (1972). Zur Taxonomie und Ökologie mediterranen Holothuroidea-Apoda. *Helgoländer wiss*. *Meeresunters.*, 23(4): 459-466.
- 32. SALVINI-PLAWEN, L.V. (1977). Caudofoveata (Mollusca), Priapulida und apode Holothurien (*Labidoplax, Myriotrochus*) bei Banyuls und im Mittelmeer allgemein. *Vie Millieu*, 27(1) sér. A : 55-81.
- SWEDMARK, B. (1964). The interstitial fauna of marine sand. *Biol. Rev.*, 39 : 1-42.
- 34. SWEDMARK, B. (1965). Etude de la microfaune des sables marins de la région de Marseille. Arch. Zool. exp. gén., 93 : 70-95.
- 35. SWEDMARK, B. (1971). A Review of Gastropoda, Brachiopoda, and Echinodermata in Marine Meiobenthos. In : HUL-INGS, N.C. (ed.), Proceedings of the First International Conference on Meiofauna. *Smithsonian Contr. Zool.*, 76 : 41-45.
- 36. TORTONESE, E. (1965). Fauna d'Italia. Echinodermata. CAL-DERINI, Bologna, 422.
- 37. TORTONESE, E. (1977). Recenti acquisizioni e rettifiche intorno ai crinoidi, oloturoidi, ofiuroidi ed echinoidi del Mediterraneo, con particolare riguardo alla fauna italiana. *Atti. Soc. Ital. Sci. nat. Museo civ. Stor. Nat. Milano*, 118(3-4): 333-352.
- 38. TORTONESE, E. (1980). Review of present status of knowledge of the Mediterranean Echinoderms. In : JANGOUX, M. (ed.), *Echinoderms Present and Past*, Proc. Europ. Coll. Echinoderms, Brussels, 3-8 Sept. 1979, A.A. BALKEMA, Rotterdam : 141-149.
- 39. VAN DAMME, D. & C. HEIP (1976). Het meiobenthos in de zuidelijke Noordzee. In : NIHOUL, J.C. & L. DE CONINCK (eds), Projekt Zee eindverslag, 7. Inventaris van de fauna en flora, Diensten van de Eerste Minister. Programmatie van het Wetenschapsbeleid, Brussel : 1-133.
- 40. VANDEN BERGHE, E. & W. APPELTANS (2003). Data from TISBE, Taxonomic Information System for the Belgian coastal area, provided by Flanders Marine Institute (VLIZ)-http://www.vliz.be/vmdcdata/tisbe/index.htm
- VAN HOEY, G., S. DEGRAER & M. VINCX. (2004). Macrobenthic community structure of soft-bottom sediments at the Belgian Continental Shelf. *Estuar. cst. Shelf Sci.* 59: 599-613.
- 42. WILLIAMS, R. (1972). The abundance and biomass of the interstitial fauna of a graded series of shell-gravels in relation to the available space. *J. Anim. Ecol.*, 42(3): 623-646.

Received: November 27, 2003 Accepted: December 10, 2004

First record and morphometry of the non-indigenous fathead minnow *Pimephales promelas* (Rafinesque, 1820) (Teleostei, Cyprinidae) in Flanders (Belgium)

Dieter Anseeuw¹, Thierry Gaethofs² and Gerald Louette³

¹ Institute for Forestry and Game Management, Duboislaan 14, B-1560 Hoeilaart

Current address : Interdisciplinary Research Center, KULAK, E. Sabbelaan 53, B-8500 Kortrijk

² Royal Museum for Central Africa, Laboratory of Ichthyology, Leuvensesteenweg 13, B-3080 Tervuren

³ Laboratory of Aquatic Ecology, KULeuven, Ch. De Béroitstraat 32, B-3000 Leuven

Corresponding author : T. Gaethofs, e-mail : thgaethofs@belgacom.net

KEY WORDS : *Pimephales promelas*, Flanders, first record, exotic species, morphometrics.

Pimephales promelas is widely distributed across North America. Its home area ranges from southern Chihuahua, Mexico, north to the Maritime Provinces and Great Slave Lake District of Mackenzie (Canada) and from the Rocky Mountains eastwards to the Appalachians. It has been introduced to both Atlantic and Pacific coastal drainage basins in the United States (1, 2). In Europe, reproducing populations of this non-native species have only been documented from the River Chiers in the Meuse basin in France (3).

The fathead minnow (*P. promelas*) is a robust, somewhat laterally compressed, cylindrical cyprinid with a maximal length of 100 mm. Its overall coloration is dark olive-green or brown above with a straw-coloured to whitish belly. At the base of the caudal fin, often a narrow dark vertical bar is present. A diagnostic feature is the shortened first ray in the dorsal fin. Males generally grow larger than females and have a typical swollen black head (4, 5, 6).

In 1995, the Institute for Forestry and Game Management (IBW) has made the first wild record of *Pimephales promelas* for Flanders (Belgium). Fish were collected using a pulsed-DC DEKA 7000 electrofishing unit with a ring anode. Three individuals were recorded in two small tributaries of the River Demer (Scheldt basin). Two specimens were captured in the Munsterbeek and a single specimen in the Zutendaalbeek. In 2001, ichthyological exploration of the Demer subbasin revealed 36 specimens of *P. promelas* from 7 localities in 3 different waters : Grote Gete, Melsterbeek and Cicindria (Fig. 1). The presence of *P. promelas* has never been recorded in other basins of Flanders, despite the numerous fish stock inventories by various research groups within the last 10 years.



Fig. 1. – Map of the hydrogeographical network of Flanders (Belgium). The records of *Pimephales promelas* in the tributaries of the Demer subbasin are marked with spots.

A morphometric study was performed on different populations of this minnow species in North America (1). However, merely five morphological characters and three meristic variables were investigated. No data on the morphometry of introduced specimens of this alien fish in European countries are available by which a comparison can be made. We present here the results of a morphometric analysis exerted on 30 specimens from two different watercourses (Melsterbeek and Cicindria) of the Demer subbasin, which can serve as a base reference for future research. Thirty-seven morphometric variables were measured on the head and body of each fish specimen (Fig. 2). Measurements were taken point to point to 0.1 millimeter. The investigated specimens of *P. promelas* are housed in the fish collection of the Royal Museum for Central Africa in Tervuren (A1053-P-693-702; A1053-P-703-723).



Fig. 2. - Location of the mensural measurements taken on the left side of the body and head and on the dorsal surface of the head of a *Pimephales promelas* specimen.

1 = standard length (ST), 2 = total length (TL), 3 = fork length (FL), 4 = maximum body depth (Mbd), 5 = minimum body depth (mbd), 6 = depth dorsal fin (DD), 7 = length caudal fin (LC), 8 = length pectoral fin (LPc), 9 = length ventral fin (LV), 10 = depth anal fin (DA), 11 = distance between anal fin and ventral fin (AV), 12 = distance between anal fin and pectoral fin (Apc), 13 = distance between ventral fin and pectoral fin (VPc), 14 = distance pectoral fin (AD), 17 = distance between ventral fin and dorsal fin (VD), 16 = distance between anal fin and dorsal fin (AD), 17 = distance between ventral fin and dorsal fin (VD), 16 = distance between anal fin and dorsal fin (AD), 17 = distance between dorsal and caudal fin (DC), 18 = preventral length (PrV), 19 = prepectoral length (PrPc), 20 = predorsal length (PrD), 21 = pre-anal length (PrA), 22 = length caudal peduncle (LPC), 23 = length dorsal fin (LD), 24 = length of dorsal spine (Ldsp), 25 = maximum head length (MHL), 26 = frontal head length (frHL), 27 = head depth (HD), 28 = head width (HW), 29 = internasal length (ina), 30 = length snouth (LSn), 31 = postorbital length (Po), 32 = eye diameter (ed), 33 = distance between nose and operculum (nop), 34 = distance between eye and head-body transition (ehb), 35 = interorbital distance (io), 36 = distance between eye and mouth angle (ema).

TABEL 1-3

Morphological characters of male and female specimens of *Pimephales promelas* collected in two brooklets of the River Demer (Melsterbeek and Cicindria).

n = 10 Character Mean Stdev Min Max Var ST 53,95 5,17 44,2 61,7 26,81 TL 66,13 5,52 56,08 75,12 30,48 FL 61,53 5,55 51,04 69,95 30,9 in % SL Mbd 23,93 2,03 20,18 27,01 4,13 mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
TL 66,13 5,52 56,08 75,12 30,48 FL 61,53 5,55 51,04 69,95 30,9 in % SL Mbd 23,93 2,03 20,18 27,01 4,13 mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
TL 66,13 5,52 56,08 75,12 30,48 FL 61,53 5,55 51,04 69,95 30,9 in % SL Mbd 23,93 2,03 20,18 27,01 4,13 mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
in % SL Mbd 23,93 2,03 20,18 27,01 4,13 mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
Mbd 23,93 2,03 20,18 27,01 4,13 mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
mbd 11,71 0,93 9,49 13,03 0,87
Ldsp 14,94 0,88 13,21 16,17 0,77
LC 23,36 2,32 18,96 26,85 5,42
LPc 18,64 0,94 17,37 20,70 0,88
LV 15,02 1,06 13,58 16,92 1,14
DA 14,24 2,30 10,67 17,13 5,31
AV 16,24 1,15 14,98 18,63 1,32
VPc 27,88 1,59 24,50 29,79 2,54
APc 43,76 2,35 39,52 47,27 5,52
PcD 33,64 1,54 31,13 35,50 2,39
VD 22,19 1,85 18,28 24,98 3,44
AD 25,63 1,37 22,91 27,78 1,88
DC 49,55 1,42 47,84 52,05 2,03
PrV 52,30 1,33 50,08 54,05 1,79
PrPc 25,46 0,50 24,71 26,15 0,25
PrD 52,54 1,40 50,01 54,09 1,98
PrA 67,42 1,86 65,22 70,89 3,46
LCP 33,89 1,27 31,78 36,24 1,61
LD 12,92 0,84 11,65 14,17 0,70
LA 7,72 0,95 6,38 9,260 0,90
DD 22,25 1,38 20,11 23,96 1,90
MHL 24,45 1,02 22,34 25,92 1,04
in % MHL
HW 60,81 3,29 57,62 67,50 10,84
HD 75,38 3,28 71,79 81,92 10,81
io 41,47 2,17 38,09 45,48 4,71
LSn 32,48 2,11 28,70 35,63 4,45
Po 49,52 2,70 43,31 52,04 7,30
ed 21,85 1,39 20,15 24,39 1,95
frHL 82,15 3,15 77,21 87,15 9,93
ema 22,55 2,28 20,35 26,54 5,22
ina 16,40 1,55 14,83 19,61 2,40
nop 75,75 2,18 72,19 79,34 4,76
lvl 23,41 1,09 21,65 25,22 1,19
ehb 41,84 1,59 38,38 43,46 2,55

Cicindria					
n = 10 Character	male fish Mean	Stdev	Min	Max	Var
ST	57,09	7,98	45,03	66,15	63,77
TL	68,18	8,64	55,60	77,85	74,67
FL	64,33	8,60	51,89	73,66	73,99
in % SL					
Mbd	26,57	2,00	23,45	29,55	4,00
mbd	12,63	0,57	11,75	13,61	0,32
Ldsp	13,65	0,93	12,57	15,01	0,87
LC	23,02	1,60	20,92	26,98	2,56
LPc	19,43	0,81	18,23	20,83	0,67
LV	16,08	1,00	14,67	17,48	1,00
DA	15,79	0,96	14,11	17,10	0,93
AV	15,56	1,18	13,39	17,32	1,39
VPc	44,44	3,15	38,55	48,21	9,92
APc	29,10	2,38	24,86	32,09	5,70
PcD	34,63	1,61	32,20	37,10	2,61
VD	24,48	1,68	22,40	26,98	2,85

Cicindria					
n = 10 Character	male fish Mean	Stdev	Min	Max	Var
AD	26,95	1,34	25,52	29,18	1,82
DC	49,56	1,17	47,62	51,43	1,38
PrV	53,63	1,83	50,82	55,43	3,37
PrPc	25,75	0,94	23,75	27,42	0,90
PrD	52,37	0,83	51,31	53,55	0,70
PrA	67,91	1,87	64,60	70,14	3,51
LCP	34,31	0,93	32,84	35,58	0,88
LD	13,64	0,39	12,80	14,08	0,15
LA	8,24	0,52	7,27	9,08	0,27
DD	23,17	0,78	21,96	24,07	0,60
MHL	25,28	0,81	23,96	26,63	0,67
in % MHL					
HW	65,24	4,14	60,44	73,58	17,14
HD	83,05	6,27	73,35	93,82	39,32
io	46,34	5,04	41,03	53,80	25,46
LSn	34,68	3,51	28,70	40,30	12,33
Ро	50,12	1,76	47,14	52,89	3,10
ed	20,30	1,61	17,82	22,71	2,59
frHL	83,81	2,58	80,09	87,95	6,68
ema	24,11	3,79	19,12	29,85	14,41
ina	17,77	1,22	14,64	18,77	1,51
nop	75,97	2,77	71,73	80,84	7,72
lvĺ	25,83	2,27	21,31	28,81	5,18
ehb	44,59	3,18	39,47	49,71	10,16

Cicindria					
n = 10 fema Character	le fish Mean	Stdev	Min	Max	Var
ST	48,57	3,95	44,26	55,2	15,64
TL	59,63	4,55	55,35	68,22	20,72
FL	55,29	4,46	50,64	63,14	19,93
in % SL					
Mbd	27,45	1,18	25,19	29,01	1,41
mbd	11,69	0,62	10,46	12,67	0,38
Ldsp	14,10	1,28	10,84	15,31	1,64
LC	24,23	1,06	22,38	25,59	1,14
LPc	18,01	0,93	16,55	19,50	0,87
LV	14,33	0,86	13,20	15,47	0,74
DA	10,59	0,51	9,94	11,64	0,26
AV	17,32	0,97	15,58	18,58	0,94
VPc	47,83	2,34	44,68	51,87	5,47
APc	31,13	2,14	28,35	35,59	4,60
PcD	36,11	1,53	32,78	38,67	2,36
VD	26,08	1,49	22,84	27,59	2,23
AD	26,04	0,96	24,71	27,42	0,93
DC	50,35	1,01	48,61	52,08	1,03
PrV	53,49	1,37	51,78	56,45	1,88
PrPc	24,08	0,77	23,08	25,41	0,60
PrD	52,45	1,08	50,12	53,75	1,18
PrA	70,98	6,66	67,60	89,69	44,43
LCP	32,19	0,81	31,10	33,41	0,66
LD	13,06	0,72	11,94	14,14	0,53
LA	6,14	0,57	5,25	7,21	0,32
DD	20,22	1,85	16,03	22,61	3,45
MHL	24,08	0,60	23,17	24,89	0,36
in % MHL					
HW	64,79	2,93	59,90	68,53	8,64
HD	78,50	2,72	74,61	82,90	7,41
io	42,27	2,40	39,89	47,16	5,76
LSn	31,64	1,69	29,31	34,04	2,85
Po	47,65	1,09	45,64	49,16	1,46
ed	24,07	1,21	21,29	26,95	3,28
frHL	24,07 86,67	2,80	82,40	20,95 91,86	5,28 7,87
ema	20,18	2,80	16,85	23,97	4,02
ina	16,28	2,00	12,82	18,71	2,77
nop	75,81	2,37	71,87	78,22	5,61
lvl	24,75	1,44	23,26	27,91	2,09
ehb	44,29	2,11	41,79	47,46	2,09 4,47
eno	44,29	2,11	41,/9	47,40	4,47

Sexual dimorphism is particularly manifested by means of larger anal fin length and larger body size in male fish. All biometric data are summarised in Table 1-3. Yet, no wild-caught *P. promelas* juveniles have been reported from Flanders. As both genders were in breeding condition, and regarding its expanding distribution, the species seems to be established.

The fathead minnow has attracted much attention to man as forage fish, suitable for pond culture, and as baitfish for trout angling (7, 8). In Belgium and adjacent countries, a xanthoric form of this species is being sold for ornamental purposes. Non-indigenous species have often been found to out-compete, prey upon, or bring diseases to economically or ecologically valuable native species (9, 10). With respect to the potential harm involved with the introduction of non-indigenous species and the possible invasivity of the fathead minnow, one should be aware of, and follow up the development of this nonnative fish species.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We would like to express our thanks to Guy Teugels[†], Claude Belpaire and Hugo Verreycken for their scientific support and Gerlinde Van Thuyne for creating the distribution map of the *P. promelas* in Flanders. This work was supported by the Ministry of the Flemish Community.

REFERENCES

- 1. VANDERMEER, J.H. (1966). Statistical analysis of geographic variation of the fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas*. *Copeia*, 3 : 457-466.
- 2. DUFFY, W.G. (1998). Population dynamics, production, and prey consumption of fathead minnows (*Pimephales promelas*) in prairie wetlands : a bioenergetics approach. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 55 : 15-27.
- KEITH, P. (2001). Le Tête de boule. In : KEITH, P. & J. ALLARDI (2001). Atlas des poissons d'eau douce de France. Muséum National d'Histoire Naturelle, Service du Patrimoine Naturel, Paris : 194-195.
- 4. TRAUTMAN, M.B. (1957). *The fishes of Ohio with illustrated keys*. The Ohio State University Press, Ohio : 401-403.
- MCPHAIL, J.D. & C.C. LINDSAY (1970). Fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas* Rafinesque. Freshwater Fishes of Northwestern Canada and Alaska. *Fisheries Research Board* of Canada, Bulletin 173: 271-273.
- 6. PAGE, L.M. & P.A. CEAS (1989). Egg attachment in *Pimephales* (Pisces : Cyprinidae). *Copeia*, 4 : 1074-1077.
- SCOTT, W.B. & E.J. CROSSMAN (1973). Fathead minnow, *Pimephales promelas,* Rafinesque. *Freshwater Fishes of Canada*, Bulletin 184 : 480-484.
- WELCOMME, R.L. (1988). International introduction of inland aquatic species. FAO Fisheries Department, Rome.
- 9. ALLENDORF, F.W. (1991). Ecological and genetic effects of fish introductions : synthesis and recommendations. *Can. J. Fish. Aquat. Sci.*, 48 (1) : 178-181.
- MOYLE, P.B. & T. LIGHT (1996). Biological invasions of fresh water : empirical rules and assembly theory. *Biological Conservation*, 78 : 149-161.

Received: December 9, 2003 Accepted: January 20, 2005

Seasonal variability of *Mytilopsis leucophaeata* larvae in the harbour of Antwerp : implications for ecologically and economically sound biofouling control

Annick Verween¹, Magda Vincx¹, Jan Mees² and Steven Degraer¹

¹ Ghent University, Biology Department, Marine Biology Section, Krijgslaan 281/S8, 9000 Gent, Belgium

² Flanders Marine Institute (VLIZ), Vismijn, Pakhuizen 45-52, 8400 Oostende, Belgium

Corresponding author: Annick Verween, e-mail: Annick.Verween@UGent.be

KEY WORDS : *Mytilopsis leucophaeata*, biofouling control, ecology.

Mytilopsis leucophaeata Conrad, 1831, the Brackish Water Mussel, is a mytiliform bivalve (Mollusca, Bivalvia, Veneroida, Dreissenidae), which produces strong byssus to attach to hard substrates. *Mytilopsis leucophaeata* is a typical estuarine species, and thus resistant to a wide range of oligo- to mesohaline conditions (1). The species originates from the southern coast of the U.S. to Tampico, Mexico (2).

In 1835, it was first detected in Europe, in the harbour of Antwerp (3). After a period of apparent absence, M. leucophaeata is currently found along the coast of the North Sea from Germany into France and recently in Great Britain (4). Ballast water discharges from ships were identified as a major vector in the transfer of nuisance aquatic species, such as *M. leucophaeata*, from one area of the world to another. The fact that the species was not detected in Belgian waters over more than 50 years does not necessarily indicate the absence of M. leucophaeata along the European coast. Because of the morphological resemblance with the closely related Dreissena polymorpha, the Zebra Mussel, species-confusion may have arisen. When M. leucophaeata became an economic problem in the nineties as an important industrial fouler, attention was brought back to this relatively unknown species.

Any surface exposed to untreated water provides an opportunity for the settlement and subsequent growth of organisms. Because of the high temperature and the constant supply of food and oxygen, cooling water systems are an ideal habitat for *M. leucophaeata*. Given these perfect conditions, settlement occurs readily and growth can be rapid until it causes fouling at the heat exchangers and the tubes in the conduits and finally leads to the failure of the operational systems. This phenomenon is known as biofouling (5). Of all organisms causing fouling in cooling systems, mussels are known to cause the most serious problems (6).

The freshwater Zebra Mussel *D. polymorpha* causes major fouling problems in freshwater lakes and great riv-

ers in the U.S.. Hence, the biology and possible control methods of the species are well examined throughout the years. Brackish water species, on the other hand, are far more resistant to environmental changes, which makes them particularly robust fouling species. The most effective and cheap control measure is the use of chlorination. It was only when the legislation on biocide draining became stricter (VLAREM II, 4.2.4., VLAREM II, annex 2.3.1.), that the magnitude of the biofouling problem by *M. leucophaeata* in the harbour of Antwerp became clear. In the near future, specific research on cooling water draining will be conducted and standard concentrations will be lowered. When the legislation on biocide draining in Belgium will get stricter, the use of merely chlorine will no longer be effective against biofouling. Other, (more expensive) methods have to be searched for to prevent fouling problems, caused by *M. leucophaeata*.

Adult mussels can shut their protective shell valves and stop byssus production to isolate their body from changes in the external environment (7), such as biocide-passage. The planctonic larvae and plantigrades are the most vulnerable life stages, and thus susceptible to the biocides. Hence, knowledge on the cyclic presence of *M. leucophaeata* larvae provides a basis for an ecologically and economically proper use of these detrimental chemicals (8).

The occurrence of D-shaped larvae of *M. leucophaeata* in relation to temperature (°C) and salinity (PSU) was investigated in the cooling system of BASF, Antwerp in the period 2000 - 2003. As such, the recruitment period(s) of *M. leucophaeata* were determined.

Three replicate quantitative plankton samples were taken by sieving 50 l water over a 63 μ m mesh sieve. From 4 February 2000 until 20 December 2000, veliger densities were monitored on a weekly basis. From March 2001 on densities were monitored weekly from spring untill late autumn, but in wintertime, in absence of larvae, a biweekly monitoring interval was chosen. Environmental variables were monitored weekly all year long. Plankton samples were preserved in 70% ethanol and veliger abundance was expressed as number larvae per cubic meter.



Fig. 1. – Seasonal variation in larval arrival of *M. leucophaeata* in the cooling water system at BASF, Antwerp (full line: temperature (°C), dashed line: salinity (PSU), grey shaded: larval density (ind./m³)).

Results indicated that in all years spawning began end of May - early June and lasted for about five months (Fig. 1). In 2000 larvae first appeared in the plankton at 3 June, in 2001 at 6 June, in 2002 at 21 May and in 2003 at 20 May. Temperature at first detection ranged between 16.2° C and 19.5° C, salinity ranged from 2.6 to 4.9 PSU. Annual and geographic variation in temperature has been identified as the primary factor triggering reproduction of D. polymorpha where veligers typically appear in the water at temperatures above 12° C. The intensity and duration of reproduction is believed to be controlled by an interaction of environmental factors (9), such as temperature, food availability and salinity. The variability in environmental factors indicates that for M. leucophaeata a threshold condition for spawning, like for D. polymorpha, does not seem to exist.

In all years, two or more distinct larval peaks could be observed. In 2000, 2002 and 2003 the highest peak occurred at the end of August-September (2000: 340 ind./m3 at 7/9 ; 2002 : 613 ind./m3 at 20/8 ; 2003 : 927 ind./m³ at 26/8) at an average temperature of 21.4 ° C \pm S.E. 0.4° C and salinity ranging from 5.1 PSU in 2000 to 10.3 PSU in 2003. In 2001, highest densities (580 ind./ m³) were recorded earlier, at 3 July, when the water was 21.6° C and 3.9 PSU. After this peak, two smaller but distinct peaks were detected. The last peak occurred at 4 September and coincides with the highest peaks in the other years. Dreissenidae are sequential spawners, and the duration of larval production in D. polymorpha can vary from 6 to 52 weeks (10). The seasonal flexibility in larval production patterns indicates that adults carry ripe gametes for a very long time. After initial spawning, the exposure to ripe eggs and sperm in the water column often triggers gamete release by other ripe mussels, as such creating variability in recruitment.

In 2000, 2002 and 2003 larval densities declined after the highest peak and no veligers were found later then 19 November with average temperature 13 °C \pm S.E. 0.4° C. Again, salinities were highly variable, ranging from 0.8 PSU in 2002 to 10.1 PSU in 2003. In 2001 last veliger densities were found on 20 November (13.7° C, 4.2 PSU). For *D. polymorpha*, 12 °C is the minimum temperature allowing gonad maturation and no veligers will appear in the water column at lower temperatures (11). Data show that for *M. leucophaeata*, this threshold temperature for gamete maturation may be 13° C \pm S.E. 1° C.

The densities of larvae showed a high year-to-year variability, with moderate values in 2000-2002 (yearly average densities 2169 ind./m³ \pm S.E. 78 ind./m³) and high values in 2003 (yearly densities 5273 ind./m3). This could indicate that the adult stock in the dock of BASF, Antwerp is still expanding. But although major differences in densities between months and years were found, the period of larval occurrence was markedly similar. The strict timing of larval presence of M. leucophaeata is a first indication that knowledge of the bivalve's life cycle can be an important tool in the combat against biofouling. To prevent new biofouling, a pointed dosage of biocides during the period of larval presence would be as effective as a continuous dosage throughout the year. A pointed dosage will decrease the amount of biocides needed, allowing to (1) meet the VLAREM II criteria on the use of biocides and (2) explore the use of ecologically less harmful, but more expensive biocides.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

We especially appreciate the logistic and financial support of BASF, Antwerp, and Nalco (contract d.d. 21/10/2001)

REFERENCES

- 1. SIDDALL, S.E. (1980). Early development of *Mytilopsis leucophaeata* (Bivalvia, Dreissenacea). *Veliger*, 22 : 378-379.
- MARELLI, D.C. & S. GRAY (1983). Conchological redescriptions of *Mytilopsis sallei* and *Mytilopsis leucophaeata* of the Brackish Western Atlantic (Bivalvia : Dreissenidae). *Veliger*, 25 : 185-193.
- 3. NYST, H.J.P. (1835). Mollusques. Bulletin de l'Académie royal de Sciences de Bruxelles, 2 : 235-236.
- 4. OLIVER, P.G., A.H. HOLMES & C. METTAM (1998). *Mytilopsis leucophaeata*, (Conrad, 1831) (Bivalvia : Dreissenoidae) A species new to the British fauna. *J. of Conchol.*, 36 : 13-18.
- JENNER, H.A., J.W. WHITEHOUSE, C.J.L. TAYLOR & M. KHA-LANSKI (1998). Cooling water management in European power stations : Biology and control of fouling. Hydroécologie Appliquée, Paris.
- 6. RAJAGOPAL, S., K.V.K. NAIR, G. VAN DER VELDE & H.A. JENNER (1996). Chlorination and mussel control in the cooling

conduits of a tropical coastal power station. *Mar. Environ. Res.*, 41 : 201-220.

- KHALANSKI, M. & F. BORDET (1981). Impact de la chlorination sur la qualité de l'eau et le plancton. Bilan des études réalisées sur le site de Gravelines de 1979 à 1983. Report EDF DER HE/31-85.09.
- 8. RELINI, G. (1984). Three years investigation on macrofouling of a Tyrrhenian power station, Italy. In : *Proceedings of Sixth International Congress on Marine Corrosion and Fouling*, Athens : 159-170.
- KAUTSKY, N. (1982). Quantitative studies on gonad cycle, fecundity, reproductive output and recruitment in a Baltic *Mytilus edulis* population. *Mar. Biol.*, 68 : 143-160.
- 10. SPRUNG, M. (1993). The other life : An account of present knowledge of the larval phase of *Dreissena polymorpha*. In : *The zebra mussel Dreissena polymorpha : Ecology, biological monitoring and first applications in water quality management*. VCH Publishers, Deerfield Beach, Florida : 19-28.
- RAM, J.L., P.P. FONG & D.W. GARTON (1996). Physiological aspects of Zebra Mussel reproduction : maturation, spawning and fertilisation. *Amer. Zool.*, 36 : 326-338.

Received: January 26, 2004 Accepted: December 10, 2004

January 2005

A wingless intertidal ground beetle, new to the Belgian fauna, in the river IJzer estuary nature restoration site : *Bembidion nigropiceum Marsham*, 1802

Konjev Desender

Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Dept. Entomology, Vautierstraat 29, B-1000 Brussels Corresponding author: Konjev Desender, e-mail : Konjev.Desender@naturalsciences.be

KEY WORDS : *Bembidion nigropiceum*, Coleoptera, Carabidae, intertidal beetle, first occurrence, expansion, river IJzer estuary.

At two occasions during the spring of 2003, we collected (by pitfall trapping) a brachypterous female of a small carabid beetle, Bembidion (subgenus Lymnaeum) nigropiceum Marsham, 1802, hitherto unknown from Belgium, in the river IJzer estuary at Nieuwpoort. The two sampling sites $(2^{\circ}43'58'' E - 51^{\circ}09'00'' N;$ $2^{\circ}44'05'' E - 51^{\circ}08'56'' N$) are situated very near to each other within the area of a recent salt marsh nature development project (Fig. 1). The main digging and dike remodelling activities had been finished some months earlier only. A first specimen of B. nigropiceum was caught between 9 and 22 May, the second between 22 May and 6 June 2003. Both sampling sites are situated at the basis of a newly created artificial dike near the high tide water line, in an area with sand and some rubble. At both sites we regularly observed freshwater seeping out the dikes, but it is unclear whether the occurrence of the beetle is related to this phenomenon. During the same sampling periods, some 30 other sites were sampled with three pitfall traps each, within the context of a multidisciplinary monitoring project, along transects distributed over the entire study area, both in the newly created and already existing dune and salt marsh habitats. These sites have continuously been sampled for ground beetles for more than 15 years (9).

The geographic distribution of *B. nigropiceum* (Fig. 2, based on all data compiled from the literature, including unpublished data of Jeanne, in litt.) shows it is strictly confined to the tidal zone along parts of the Atlantic coasts, the Mediterranean and the Black Sea/Azov Sea. The closely related species B. abeillei Bedel, 1879 is known from other parts of the Mediterranean coast (France, Corsica and Spain), where it appears to replace its congener. A third species, B. eichleri Marggi & Wrase, 2002, has been recently described from the coast of Tunisia (2). In the UK, B. nigropiceum is confined to coastal localities (seven recent ones only) in southern England from Kent to Pembrokeshire, with a single recent record from south Wales (4), and is classified as nationally scarce (5). Because of its sporadic occurrence in the south it has been given special attention within the UK Biodiversity Action Plan. Little is know of the ecology of this beetle and it is probably constantly wingless, as opposed

to the two other species of the subgenus Lymnaeum, which are winged. Until now, the beetle was also mentioned in Atlantic Europe from France only, from the Gulf of Morbihan northernmost up to Dieppe (north of the Seine estuary) (6, 7). In France, it has mainly been found under stones and in crevasses on rocky shores, which are submerged during high tide. In UK also, B. nigropiceum is found mainly in shingle and coarse sand, as well as among rubble at the base of cliffs, where it appears to have a partly interstitial way of life. The beetle has been found to 75 cm deep in the soil, especially where there is some detritus (8). It is supposed to have an annual life cycle, most probably breeding in spring with summer larvae (8). Both adults and larvae are supposed to be predatory on small invertebrates and may usually be subterranean. B. nigropiceum may be vulnerable to certain types of coastal development, but, on the other hand, can also temporarily appear on disturbed coastal sites between debris and stones in the intertidal (8). This could very well fit our own observations of the species in Belgium. Near Venice, a temporary but rather large population was observed in an artificial habitat near the harbour (8). The species probably disappeared again rather quickly because the habitat changed towards a much more finegrained sandy beach. In that area also, the species lived at the basis of an artificial cliff protecting the narrow shore against sea-storms.

B. nigropiceum (Fig. 2) measures about 3,5 to 4 mm but does not at all look like a typical *Bembidion* species. Instead, it has a relatively large head with small and flattened eyes, a possible adaptation to an interstitial and partly subterranean way of life. It also lacks strong shoulders on the flattened elytra, possibly related to its constant brachyptery (as observed in other wingless beetles). Its coloration is unusual reddish-brown, as in other subterranean or cave ground beetle species.

The ecology, diversity and population dynamics of terrestrial invertebrates have been studied for many years along the river IJzer estuary, including the beachfront, coastal dunes and salt marshes. Ground beetles and spiders have been sampled and studied continuously since the early nineties. These long-term studies take place in the existing dune and salt marsh habitats and micro-habitats and even included sampling of available ecotones (gradients between habitats) and dikes (9). It is therefore very unlikely that even a small population of *B. nigropiceum* would have been overlooked earlier in this area. Whether a population of this beetle has been established in this estuary remains uncertain, but will be monitored during forthcoming years. In view of its suggested habitat preference for coarse-sand to rocky shores this 'newcomer' might not be expected to be able to persist a long time in the area, in view of the fine-sand and silt soils that are expected in due time at these disturbed salt marsh restoration sites.



Fig. 1. – Detailed location of two sampling sites (white dots) in the river IJzer estuary where *Bembidion nigropiceum* was discovered in 2003; nature restoration area in grey.



Fig. 2. – Geographic distribution of *Bembidion nigropiceum* (added figure; total length 4 mm) with more or less continuous areas in black, scattered sites (O) and new findings (O).

Possible sites of origin for these founding beetles only are known at large distance, both at the other side of the Channel (nearest sites with the species at about 100 km) and in France (at about 200 km). We cannot entirely exclude that the species might have been overlooked at somewhat closer sites, especially in the north of France. B. nigropiceum seems to be highly adapted to marine conditions, surely must support saline conditions and supposedly can survive longer periods of submersion by seawater. In view of its wingless state (brachyptery) and its special ecology, it is therefore hypothesised to have been washed ashore with floating debris originating from the south of England or the north of France. These recent captures add a new and peculiar ground beetle to the Belgian fauna and at the same time suggest that this carabid beetle is extending its range further north, a phenomenon recently observed for other terrestrial invertebrates in our region, e.g. the Mediterranean dwarf spider Diplocephalus graecus (10).

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Dr. L. Baert, Prof. Dr. JP. Maelfait and R. Claus are acknowledged for their continued help in long-term field sampling of the IJzer estuary area. These studies are financially supported by the 'MONAY'-project and the RBINSc. C. Jeanne kindly informed me on recent and unpublished records of this beetle.

REFERENCES

- 1. TRAUTNER, J. (2000). The distribution of *Bembidion (Lym-naeum) nigropiceum* Marsham, 1802 including the first recordings from Greece (Coleoptera : Carabidae). *Mitt. internat. entomol. Ver. Frankfurt a.M.*, 25 : 35-40.
- MARGGI, W., D.W. WRASE & C. HUBER (2002). Bembidion eichleri, eine neue Laufkäfer-Art der Untergattung Lymnaeum Stephens, 1828 aus Tunesien (Coleoptera, Carabidae, Bembidiini). Ent. Bl., 98: 81-87.
- NETOLITZKY, F. (1942). Bestimmungs-Tabellen europäischer Käfer. II. Fam. Carabidae. Subfam. Bembidiinae; 66. Gattung : *Bembidion* Latr. Bestimmungstabelle der *Bembidion*-Arten des paläarktischen Gebietes. *Koleopt. Rdsch.*, 28 : 29-166.
- 4. LUFF, M.L. (1998). Provisional atlas of the ground beetles (Coleoptera, Carabidae) of Britain, Huntingdon : 194 pp.
- 5. HYMAN, P.S. & M.S. PARSONS (1992). A review of the scarce and threatened Coleoptera of Great Britain, Peterborough : 484 pp.
- 6. JEANNEL, R. (1941). Coléoptères carabiques. Paris, Faune de France, Première partie, 39 : 1-571.
- BONADONA, P. (1971). Catalogue des Coléoptères Carabiques de France. Toulouse, Nouv. Revue ent., Suppl: 177 pp.
- 8. DE MARTIN, P. & E. RATTI (1994). *Limnaeum nigropiceum* Marsham, 1802 al Lido di Venezia : un effimero avventiziato (Coleoptera : Carabidae). *Boll. Mus. civ. St. nat. Venezia*, 43 : 117-122.
- 9. DESENDER, K. 1996. Diversity and dynamics of coastal dune carabids. *Ann. Zool. Fennici*, 33 : 65-76.
- BONTE, D., P. CRIEL, L. BAERT & D. DE BAKKER (2002). The invasive occurrence of the Mediterranean dwarfspider *Diplocephalus graecus* (O.-P. Cambridge, 1872) in Belgium (Araneae : Linyphiidae). *Belg. J. Zool.*, 132 : 171-173.

Received: February 29, 2004 Accepted: January 20, 2005

Atypical mating behaviour in the empidine dance fly *Rhamphomyia* (*Lundstroemiella*) *magellensis* (Diptera : Empididae : Empidinae)

Christophe Daugeron^{1, 2} and Patrick Grootaert²

² Royal Belgian Institute of Natural Sciences, Department of Entomology, Rue Vautier, 29, Brussels, Belgium

Corresponding author : C. Daugeron, e-mail : daugeron@mnhn.fr

KEY WORDS : Empididae, Empidinae, *Rhamphomyia (Lund-stroemiella) magellensis*, mating and feeding behaviour.

Empidine dance flies are well known for exhibiting a large variety of mating and feeding behaviours especially mating swarms, transfer of nuptial gifts by males to females, production of silk cocoons as nuptial gifts, alternation between predation and flower visiting habit in correlation with mating and feeding periods respectively. These mating and feeding behaviours are well documented for a number of species belonging to various species groups (e.g. 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8), and now considered as autapomorphic for subfamily Empidinae (9). Some authors already suggested that this typical behaviour is absent and seems to have reversed in some species groups, such as the subgenera Lissempis Bezzi, 1909 (Empis L., 1758) and Lundstroemiella Frey, 1922 (Rhamphomyia Meigen, 1822) (10, 11, 12). However their suggestion was based only on morphological characters which seem to be incompatible with the typical behavioural traits (13); e.g. the presence of dichoptic eyes in the male suggests the absence of mating swarms. Detailed studies on such hypothesed reversed behaviour are not available.

Recently we succintly reported the atypical behaviour of a species of the subgenus *Lundstroemiella*, namely *R*. (*L.*) magellensis Frey, 1922 (14), for which swarming and nuptial gift are absent. The aim of this note is to give a complete description of the mating and feeding habits, including a detailed illustration of all the stages of the mating behaviour, as well as some hypotheses related to the evolution of the mating system of this species.

The behaviour of R. (L.) magellensis was observed for the first time in 1999 when one of us (C.D.) found the species in the French Pyrenees. Since the species was only known from mountainous regions of central Europe before (12, 15) and also because the endemism rate is rather high in Pyrenees (e.g. see 16), collected specimens were compared with specimens of the type series (Zoological Museum, Helsinki) to confirm their identity. Two successive field trips were subsequently organised in 2001 and 2002 in order to complete our previous observations. All field studies were performed in two different localities near the "Parc National des Pyrénées" (PNP), namely "Gavarnie, Plateau de Bellevue, limite du PNP, environ 1500 m" and "Gèdres, Granges de Bué, environ 1500 m" in June and July. The successive steps of the feeding and mating behaviour were photographed and videotaped with a digital video camera recorder. Pictures were then recovered and studied on a PC.

R. (*L.*) magellensis Frey is a typical mountain species of small size (3-4 mm), which is here recorded for the first time in the Pyrenees. Males and females are exclusively flower visitors, observed sucking nectar of Valeriana (Fig. 1A) and Geranium all day long. Many small flowers are to be found at the tip of each stalk of Valeriana, forming a rather large bearing surface on which individuals can easily move and meet. The mating behaviour as a whole takes place on this solid substrate and can be divided into three main successive stages.

In a first stage, when two males meet, and especially in the presence of a female close by, they often stop moving and face each other for impressing (Fig. 1B); a male can attack the other by jumping, this very quick fight generally ends with one of them taking flight. In this way, a male can stay on a same place trying to beat off competitors until a female comes or accepts the male for mating (Fig. 1C).

In a second stage, when the female allows the male to mount, competitors generally reappear quickly trying to evict and replace the mating male (Figs 1C, D). Consequently the competition between males is going on during mating and the female can support several males (Fig. 1D), moving from one flower to another to suck the nectar (Fig. 1E); this stage can last several tens of minutes.

In a third stage, the mating female leaves the dorsal surface of the plant to reach a sheltered place such as a blade of grass (Fig. 1F). At this place the male is generally no longer confronted to competitors and the mating pair is rarely disturbed by predators; the male grabs the thorax and abdomen of the female with its mid and hind legs respectively, whereas the fore legs are moved up and down (Figs 1G, H). Generally this stage lasts a very long time (until more than thirty minutes); mating always ends at an unpredictable moment.

From these field observations and in the light of the sexual selection theory (17), it is possible to formulate the following tentative hypotheses for the evolution of the mating system of R. (L.) magellensis.

¹ Muséum national d'Histoire naturelle, Département Systématique et Evolution, USM 601 – & CNRS, UMR 5202, 45 rue Buffon, 75005 Paris, France

There is a strong competition between males, including impressing and fighting, on the place where the individuals find their food resource, which therefore is also the place where they have a chance to meet females. We consider that this behaviour has something in common with the protection of a territory, and may be interpreted as a kind of selection ensuring females to get the best mates. During the first phase of mating, females continue to move on the surface of the flowers so that males are still in competition. It is hypothesised that this female behaviour plays the role of a second selection, although the male firstly selected is generally not evicted by competitors during this stage. Consequently females put males through a double selection : before and at the beginning of mating; after this selection stage and in all observed cases, they end up moving to a protected area where there are no longer potential competitors or predators.

There are three main differences in the mating behaviour of Lundstroemiella on the one hand and most of the remaining Empidinae on the other hand : first, the courtship behaviour takes place on a solid substrate in Lundstroemiella, not in swarms as it is usually observed in the subfamily. Second, the place where the courtship takes place is also there where males and females of Lundstroemiella find their food resource only consisting of nectar, whereas the remaining empidine species are generally flower visitors with males only becoming predator during the mating period. Third, there is no nuptial gift collected by males and offered to females in Lundstroemiella this protein-poor diet therefore implies uncommon physiological mechanisms for maturation of eggs (e.g. autogeny?) such as already hypothesised for other empidine dance flies for which silk cocoons used as nuptial gifts are empty or only contain a prey of very small size (18).

This descriptive work on the behaviour of R. (L.) magellensis should be considered as a preliminary and basic study for future investigations. However the mating behaviour of this species appears atypical within the Empidinae and, considering the rather derived phylogenetic position of Lundstroemiella within the subfamily (9), it is viewed as the result of a reversal from the traditional behaviour (mating swarms with nuptial gifts) usually observed. Such a mating behaviour is suspected for other empidine subgenera. Consequently, subject to discover this kind of behaviour in species belonging to these subgenera and to propose an extensive phylogeny of the empidine dance flies, such species groups, in addition to Lundstroemiella, could be relevant models to test evolutionary hypotheses such as the irreversibility of matingsystems evolution.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

This work was partially supported by an European Marie Curie Fellowship (grant HPMF-CT-2000-00718) and a Research Project Action 1 (Belgian Federal Office for Scientific, Technical and Cultural Affairs) (C.D.). We are very grateful to Dr. P. Vilkamaa (Zoological Museum, Helsinki) for the loan of the type series of R. (L.) magellensis, and J. De Crozefon and J.P. Besson for delivering the licences of collections in the PNP.

Many thanks to E. Méjean-Daugeron for taking some pictures. We thank the two anonymous referees for comments on the manuscript.

REFERENCES

- HAMM, A.H. (1908). Observations on *Empis livida*, L. *Entomol. Mon. Mag.*, 44: 181-184.
- HAMM, A.H. (1909). Further observations on the Empidinae. Entomol. Mon. Mag., 45 : 157-162.
- TRÉHEN, P. (1971). Contribution à une étude d'intérêt phylogénétique chez les Diptères Empididae : recherches morphologiques, écologiques et éthologiques chez les espèces à larves édaphiques. *Thèse de l'Université de Rennes* : 1-280.
- 4. SVENSSON, B.G. & E. PETERSSON (1987). Sex-role reversed courtship behavior, sexual dimorphism and nuptial gifts in the dance fly, *Empis borealis* (L.). *Ann. Zool. Fenn.*, 24 : 323-334.
- CHVÁLA, M. (1994). The Empidoidea (Diptera) of Fennoscandia and Denmark. III. Genus *Empis. Fauna Entomol. Scand.*, 29 : 1-192.
- GROOTAERT, P. (1994). Biodiversity in insects, speciation and behaviour in Diptera. In : HOFFMANN, M. & P. VAN DER VEKEN (eds.), Proceedings of the symposium on *Biodiversity : study, exploration, conservation*, Ghent, 18 November 1992 : 121-141.
- CHVÁLA, M. (1996). Evolution of epigamic behaviours in Empis (Diptera, Empididae) in the Palaearctic region. Dipterol. Bohemoslov., 7: 37-40.
- DAUGERON, C. (1997). Systématique phylogénétique et évolution du comportement chez les Empidides (Diptera : Empidoidea). PhD Thesis, Muséum national d'Hisoire naturelle, Paris.
- DAUGERON, C., P. GROOTAERT & I. SHAMSHEV (2002). Phylogenetic relationships within the Empidinae (Empididae). In : *Abstracts of the 5th International Congress of Dipterology*, Brisbane : 47.
- CHVÁLA, M. (1976). Swarming, mating and feeding habits in Empididae (Diptera) and their significance in evolution of the family. *Acta entomol. Bohemoslov.*, 73: 353-366.
- BARTÁK, M. (1982). The Czechoslovak species of *Rhamphomyia* (Diptera, Empididae), with description of a new species from central Europe. *Acta Universitatis Carolinae Biologica*, 1980 : 381-461.
- BARTÁK, M. (1985). A revision of the *Rhamphomyia* subgenus *Lundstroemiella* (Diptera, Empididae), with description of a new species. *Acta Universitatis Carolinae Biologica*, 1982-1984 : 9-46.
- CHVÁLA, M. (2002). Two new *Empis* subgenus *Lissempis* species (Diptera, Empididae) from the Mediterranean. *Studia Dipterol.*, 9 : 605-611.
- 14. DAUGERON, C. & P. GROOTAERT (2002). The feeding and mating behaviour of *Rhamphomyia* (Lundstroemiella) magellensis Frey (Empididae : Empidinae). In : Abstracts of the 5th International Congress of Dipterology, Brisbane : 49.
- CHVÁLA, M. & R. WAGNER (1989). Empididae. In : Soós & PAPP (eds), Catalogue of Palaearctic Diptera 6, Therevidae-Empididae, Elsevier, Amsterdam : 228-336.
- COX, C.B. & P.D. MOORE (2000). Biogeography, an ecological and evolutionary approach. Blackwell Science.
- 17. ALCOCK, J. (1997). Animal behavior, sixth edition. Sinauer.
- CUMMING, J.M. (1994). Sexual selection and the evolution of dance fly mating systems (Diptera : Empididae; Empidinae). *Can. Entomol.*, 124 : 951-998.

Received: April 13, 2004 Accepted: December 10, 2004



Fig. 1. – Sucessive stages of the mating and feeding behaviour of R. (L.) magellensis. A. – Male sucking the nectar of a flower of Valeriana sp. B. – Two males facing and impressing each other. C, D. – As soon as the mating is starting unpaired males reappear (C) and try to evict the mated male (D). E. – Although in copula, the female continues to move from flower to flower to suck the nectar during the first phase of mating. F, G, H. – Mating pairs on sheltered places during the second phase of mating.

Juvenile *Hippocampus guttulatus* from a neuston tow at the French-Belgian border

Sofie Vandendriessche, Marlies Messiaen, Magda Vincx and Steven Degraer

Marine Biology Section, Biology Department, Ghent University, Krijgslaan 281-S8, 9000 Ghent, Belgium E-mail corresponding author : Sofie.Vandendriessche@UGent.be

KEY WORDS : Seahorse, neuston, floating debris.

The long-snouted seahorse *Hippocampus guttulatus* Cuvier, 1829 occurs mostly in shallow inshore waters among algae and eel grass (*Zostera* or *Posidonia*) and also in littoral lagoons (1). The species can be found in the Eastern Atlantic from the British Isles to Morocco, including the Canary Islands, Madeira and the Azores (2). The presence of the long-snouted seahorse in Belgian waters was already suspected (see CITES appendix II) but never confirmed. *Hippocampus ramulosus* Leach, 1814 is regarded as an invalid synonym of this species, although this name is still widely used for what is now *H. guttulatus* (2).



Fig. 1. – Sampling station *Hippocampus guttulatus* (black cross) and fishermen's catches of *Hippocampus hippocampus* (grey areas) in Belgian marine waters (border represented by black lines)

The sampling station where *Hippocampus guttulatus* was found is situated between the sandbanks Buiten Ratel en Oost Dyck (UTM 5674450 - 460236.7), on the French-Belgian border (Fig. 1). This station was investigated during a sampling campaign on August 20th (2003) with the research vessel 'Zeeleeuw'. The sample was taken with a rectangular neuston net ($2m \times 1m$, 1mm mesh) from which only the lower 50cm is immersed, thereby sampling the upper 50cm of the water column. Identifications

of the specimens, which were preserved in a 10% formaldehyde-seawater solution, are based on characteristics described by LOURIE et al. (2).



Fig. 2. – Photograph of specimen 2

The neuston sample contained two well-preserved juveniles (approximately 3 to 4 weeks old) of the species *Hippocampus guttulatus*. Most of the examined characteristics (Table 1) are within the range for both *Hippocampus guttulatus* and *H. hippocampus* (i.e. number of trunk rings, number of tail rings, number of pectoral fin rays, number of dorsal fin rays). However, the ratio of snout length to head length (> 1/3) certainly suggests that these specimens are *H. guttulatus* or the European long-snouted seahorse, and the number of pectoral fins on one of the specimens lack a mane of thick skin fronds on neck and head, usually seen in adults (Fig. 2).

TABLE 1

Examined identification characteristics for both specimens

	Specimen 1	Specimen 2	
Overall height	2.93 cm	3.51 cm	
Number of trunk rings	11	11	
Number of tail rings	36	37	
Snout length / head length	0.42	0.42	
Coronet	Rounded knobs		
Spine development	Blunt and we	ll-developed	
Pectoral fin rays	15	16	
Dorsal fin rays	18	18	
Cheek spine	Low and blunt		
Eye spine	Prominent	, rounded	

TABLE 2

Recent seahorse catches (Hippocampus hippocampus) by local fishermen in Belgian marine waters

Year	Date		-Method of capture / vessel	Capture site	Destination of sea horses	Remarks
1997	May	4	Coastal fisheries	-	Oostende North Sea Aquar- ium	alive
1998	14-20 March	1	-	3 nautical miles from Zee- brugge	-	-
1998	24 July	1	Shrimp fisheries / O.211	-	Died and was discarded	During night
1998	22 September	7	Gill net / N.95	Between 51 12.70 N- 02 29.70E and 51 15.43N – 02 32.99E	released	Associated with <i>Alcyonidium</i>
1998	23 September	14			Aquarium of skipper-ship owner	
1998	24 September	33			Oostende North Sea Aquar- ium	
1998	25 September	66			Sealife Blankenberge	
	24 June	1	Coastal fisheries / O.101	_		_
1999	10 July	1	Coastal fisheries / O.152	_	_	Dead but no signs of decay
1999	14 July	1	O.20	_	_	Pregnant male
1999	-	-	N.95	Between 51 12.70 N- 02 29.70E and 51 15.43N – 02 32.99E	_	Skipper is convinced of the presence of a local population
2000	28 September	1	O.190	Westpit fishing grounds	_	Dead
2001	17 February	1	Gill net / O.369	_	_	_
2001	18 August	1	Coastal fisheries / O.190	_	_	-
	25 September	1	Coastal fisheries / O.190	_	_	Male
2002	11 September	1	O.191	Fishing grounds near Oosten debank		-
2004	20 April	1	O.190	Wenduinebank	_	-
2004	21 May	1	O.20	3 nautical miles from Oost- ende	-	Alive

This is the first reported catch of Hippocampus guttulatus for the Belgian waters, and the origin of the specimens is unclear. Although there are numerous records for southern Britain, it is unlikely that specimens could reach the Belgian coast due to their poor swimming ability and the lack of assisting currents (3). On the other hand, the presence of a local population seems unlikely because from 1997 onwards, only Hippocampus hippocampus was occasionally caught by local fishermen (Table 2, Fig. 1). As the specimens were caught near the sea surface, it is likely that they were carried to the Belgian coastal zone through the English Channel in association with floating debris (the sample contained decaying duckweed, plant seeds and pieces of plastic). However, the presence of seahorses (and their fry) in the neuston is quite uncommon. Only Hippocampus erectus has already been reported from the neuston in association with floating debris and vegetation (4, 5, 6).

As the entire genus *Hippocampus* is listed in Appendix II of CITES (Convention on International Trade in Endangered Species of Wild Fauna and Flora) and both *H. guttulatus* and *H. hippocampus* are listed as Data Deficient by IUCN (World Conservation Union), it is most important to gather information on the presence and persistence of local populations of seahorse species to form the basis of legal protection and conservation. Hopefully, this note will be the starting point for a detailed record of Belgian seahorse catches.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

First, the authors would like to show their gratitude to Neil Garrick-Maidment, Sara Lourie and Janelle Curtis for their

assistance with the species identifications, and to Hans Hillewaert for editing the photograph. The list of seahorse catches by fishermen was composed by Eddy Eneman from the Oostende North Sea Aquarium. Special thanks go to André Cattrijsse of the Flanders Marine Institute (VLIZ), and to the crewmembers of the research vessel Zeeleeuw. The first author acknowledges a specialisation grant from the 'Flemish Institute for the Promotion of Scientific-Technological Research' (IWT).

REFERENCES

- LELONG, P. (1995). Hippocampe moucheté, *Hippocampus ramulosus*. *Océanorama* (Institut Océanographique Paul Ricard), 24 : 19-20.
- LOURIE, S.A., A.C.J. VINCENT & H.J. HALL (1999). Seahorses : an identification guide to the world's species and their conservation. Project Seahorse, London.
- 3. GARRICK-MAIDMENT, N. (1998). A note on the status of indigenous species of seahorse. J. Mar. Biol. Ass. UK, 78: 691-692.
- 4. POWELL, A.B., D.G. LINDQUIST & J.A. HARE (2000). Larval and pelagic juvenile fishes collected with three types of gear in Gulf Stream and shelf waters in Onslow Bay, North Carolina, and comments on ichthyoplankton and hydrography. *Fish. Bull.* 98 : 427-438.
- CASTRO, J.J., J.A. SANTIAGO & A.T. SANTANA-ORTEGA (2001). A general theory on fish aggregation to floating objects : an alternative to the meeting point hypothesis. *Reviews in fish biology and fisheries*, 11(3) : 255-277.
- 6. TEIXEIRA, R.L. & J.A. MUSICK (2001). Reproduction and food habits of the lined seahorse, *Hippocampus erectus* (Teleostei : Syngnathidae) of Chesapeake Bay, Virginia. *Brazilian Journal of Biology*, 61(1) : 79-90

Received: June 8, 2004 Accepted: December 10, 2004